
Cabinet
Date: Monday, 30 September 2019
Time: 10.00 a.m.

Venue: Committee Room 1 - Wallasey Town Hall

This meeting will be webcast at
https://wirral.public-i.tv/core/portal/home

Contact Officer: Andrew Mossop
Tel: 0151 691 8501
e-mail: andrewmossop@wirral.gov.uk
Website: http://www.wirral.gov.uk

AGENDA
1. MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members of the Cabinet are asked to consider whether they have any 
disclosable pecuniary and/or any other relevant interest, in connection 
with any item(s) on this agenda and, if so, to declare them and state 
the nature of the interest.

2. MINUTES 

The minutes of the last meeting have been printed and published.  Any 
matters called in will be reported at the meeting.

RECOMMENDATION:  That the minutes be approved and adopted.

LEADER'S UPDATE

3. EXECUTIVE KEY DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED 
POWERS (Pages 1 - 6)

Key Decisions – taken under delegated powers. Period 22 August 
2019 (date of publication of last Cabinet agenda) to date.

Wirral Growth Company

Decision Maker: Leader of the Council
Date of decision: 3 September, 2019
Effective from: 11 September, 2019

Public Document Pack



Highway Structural Maintenance Programme 2019/20 – Additional 
Key Route Network Allocation

Decision Maker: Cabinet Member for Community Services
Date of decision: 6 September, 2019
Effective from: 14 September, 2019

Acceptance of Tender and Award of Contract – Garden Waste 
Composting Service

Decision Maker: Cabinet Member for Community Services
Date of decision: 6 September, 2019
Effective from: 14 September, 2019

4. WIRRAL COUNCIL PLAN 2025 (Pages 7 - 30)

CABINET MEMBER REPORTS

5. PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019 – CREATIVE 
COMMUNITIES (Pages 31 - 60)

6. SCRUTINY REVIEW INTO STATUTORY CARE PLANS (Pages 61 - 
94)

The Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee at its 
meeting on 3 July, 2019 has referred the Scrutiny Review into 
Statutory Care Plans to Cabinet for consideration.

7. APPROVAL OF REVISED LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME FOR 
WIRRAL – JULY 2019 (Pages 95 - 126)

8. TRANMERE ROVERS PARTNERING AGREEMENT (Pages 127 - 
152)

9. NORTH WEST MUTUAL COMMUNITY BANK (Pages 153 - 166)

10. WIRRAL WATERS INVESTMENT FUND - APPLICATION FOR 
FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE (Pages 167 - 176)

11. TOWER ROAD SOUTH - OFFICE DEVELOPMENT: PUT/CALL 
OPTION (Pages 177 - 182)

12. TRANSPORT PROFESSIONAL SERVICES - CONTRACT AWARD 
AND APPOINTMENT OF SPECIALIST ADVISORS TO PROVIDE 
NETWORK MANAGEMENT SUPPORT (Pages 183 - 188)

13. CIVIL ENGINEERING PROFESSIONAL SERVICES - CONTRACT 
AWARD AND APPOINTMENT OF SPECIALIST ADVISORS TO 
PROVIDE CIVIL ENGINEERING SUPPORT - MARK SMITH (CALL 
OVER - 29/8 (Pages 189 - 192)

14. REQUEST FOR FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE (Pages 193 - 198)



15. EXEMPT INFORMATION - EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND 
PUBLIC 

The following items contain exempt information.

RECOMMENDATION:  That, under section 100 (A) (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined by 
the relevant paragraphs of Part I of Schedule 12A (as amended) to 
that Act. The Public Interest test has been applied and favours 
exclusion.

16. WIRRAL WATERS INVESTMENT FUND - EXEMPT APPENDICES 
(Pages 199 - 248)

Exempt appendices to agenda item 10.

17. TOWER ROAD SOUTH OFFICE DEVELOPMENT: PUT/CALL 
OPTION - EXEMPT APPENDIX (Pages 249 - 264)

Exempt appendix to agenda item 11.

18. REQUEST FOR FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE - EXEMPT APPENDIX 
(Pages 265 - 268)

Exempt appendix to agenda item 14.

Audio/Visual Recording of Meetings

Everyone is welcome to record meetings of the Council and its Committees 
using non-disruptive methods. For particular meetings we may identify a 
‘designated area’ for you to record from. If you have any questions about this 
please contact Committee and Civic Services (members of the press please 
contact the Press Office). Please note that the Chair of the meeting has the 
discretion to halt any recording for a number of reasons, including disruption 
caused by the filming or the nature of the business being conducted.

Persons making recordings are requested not to put undue restrictions on the 
material produced so that it can be reused and edited by all local people and 
organisations on a non-commercial basis.



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Page 2



Page 3



Page 4



Page 5



Page 6



CABINET

30 SEPTEMBER 2019

WIRRAL COUNCIL PLAN 2025

Councillor Pat Hackett said

This report presents the Wirral Council Plan for 2025. In it we set out our stall and 
commit to what we will deliver over the next five years. These are the things you 
have told us matter to you. 

Within this Plan you will see exactly what we will focus on for Wirral residents in the 
coming years, how we will do it and what we will achieve. Our ambition is for: 

 A prosperous, inclusive economy where local people can get good jobs and 
achieve their aspirations 

 A cleaner, greener borough which celebrates, protects and improves our 
environment and urgently tackles the environmental emergency

 Brighter futures for our young people and families – regardless of their 
background or where they live

 Safe, vibrant communities where people want to live and raise their families
 Services which help people live happy, healthy, independent and active lives, 

with public services there to support them when they need it

I am pleased we have been able to work together to develop this Plan for Wirral, and 
I am sure if we continue to work collectively, focussing on what unites us rather than 
divides, then we can achieve everything we want to for local people. There should 
and will be no limit to our ambition for Wirral. 

I encourage our residents, staff, businesses, and partners to read this report.

REPORT SUMMARY 

This report provides Cabinet with the Wirral Council Plan for 2025 for consideration 
and referral to Full Council on 14th October 2019. The Council Plan is:

 A high-level summary of the outcomes that we want to achieve by 2025;
 The key activity and priorities that our organisation will deliver this year 

2019/20;
 The start of our process for further engagement and consultation with staff, 

residents and partners on what we need to do collectively to achieve our 
ambitions for the Borough.

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



RECOMMENDATION/S 

Cabinet is requested to

Consider the contents of the Wirral Council Plan set out in Appendix 1 to this report 
and refer to Full Council on 14th October 2019. 

Page 8



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION

1.1 The Council Plan is a key policy document of the Council and articulates the 
ambition and key deliverables for the organisation. The Plan:

 is based on what people have told us is important to them. It reflects the new 
Leadership and Cabinet priorities as well as the Corporate organisational 
deliverables that we must get right this year;

 will be used to help staff understand their role in helping to deliver our 
corporate priorities;

 sets out our stall and commits us to some specific goals for the next year 
upon which local people can hold us to account;

 is an internal Council Plan but will be used as the basis for wider engagement 
and consultation with residents and partners to agree a joint Wirral Plan. It 
shows the Council’s role as Leaders of the Place.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
 
2.1 As outlined, the Council Plan is a key organisational policy document and is 

therefore vital for the Council’s development in the coming years. Therefore, no 
other options were considered.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 In recent years we have been working to deliver the Wirral 2020 Vision. The 
2020 Plan was about bringing public services together, integrating our efforts 
and scarce resources to help deliver a bigger impact for local people. We have 
made excellent progress against all the Pledges which were set back in 2015. 
But we know there is more to do. We are now making the transition into our 
next plan for the Borough. This new Wirral Council Plan 2025 sets out the 
Council’s ambition based on five key outcomes that we want to achieve by 
2025:

 A prosperous, inclusive economy where local people can get good jobs 
and achieve their aspirations 

 A cleaner, greener borough which defends and improves our environment
 Brighter futures for our young people and families – regardless of their 

background or where they live
 Safe, pleasant and clean communities where people want to live and raise 

their families
 Services which help people live happy, healthy, independent and active 

lifestyles, with public services there to support them when they need it

3.2 Deliverables and measures 
For each of the five outcomes, the Plan includes some key actions that we will 
deliver. It also sets out how we will show whether we are achieving them, in an 
open and honest way, so that we can be held to account.

Page 9



3.3 Delivery Plan for 2019/20
The Plan includes some Corporate commitments to be delivered this year, 
including: 
 Ensure the Council is financially sustainable, performs well, is efficient and 

provides value for money
 Deliver a stronger focus on the customer: providing Members, residents 

and other stakeholders with a better service
 Deliver Wirral’s Local Plan
 Bring children’s services out of intervention
 Support inclusive economic growth, increase community wealth through 

Wirral Growth Company, increased social housing and social value
 Increase Wirral’s role and profile in the Liverpool City Region; in strategic 

partnerships; and within the wider local government sector
 Lead local Brexit planning and preparedness

3.4 Principles and Values
The Plan also sets out the organisation principles and values that we are 
committed to as public servants. This will help ensure that staff and members 
know what their role is and how they are helping to deliver our organisational 
priorities.

4.0 FINANCIAL AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

4.1 The Council Plan is designed to inform the budget setting process for the next 
five years which is the lifetime of the plan.

5.0 LEGAL

5.1 Legal implications relating to the actions set out in the Council Plan will be 
addressed by directorates as appropriate.

6.0 RELEVANT RISKS

6.1 The Corporate Risk Register will be refreshed in line with the new Council Plan 
to ensure that any risks to delivery are understood and mitigating actions are 
put in place as appropriate.

7.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

The Wirral Plan 2025 aims to reduce inequalities and improve the quality of life 
for all our residents.

REPORT AUTHOR: Paul Satoor, Chief Executive

APPENDICES
Appendix 1 – Wirral Council Plan 2025

Page 10



Page 1 of 20

 

WIRRAL COUNCIL PLAN
2025

Page 11



Page 2 of 20

FOREWORD

We are going to make Wirral a place we can all be proud of. 

We care about this borough; we are ambitious for its future and we know that when we work 
together there is nothing we can’t achieve. 

Wirral’s public services – what we call the Wirral Partnership – have a simple, shared duty:  
we are responsible for improving the quality of life every resident gets to enjoy. 

We do this by delivering better outcomes for local people; by keeping the streets clean and 
improving the environment, making sure communities have good quality affordable housing, 
are safe and roads are kept in good condition. We protect the vulnerable, help people recover 
and stay healthy, and we create the conditions to help the economy grow so residents get 
more opportunities to secure good, well-paid jobs. 

Wirral Council touches almost every aspect of every residents’ life. That is a huge 
responsibility. We’re expected to do our job, do it well, and help people live better, happier 
and safer lives. We’re committed to reducing inequalities across the Borough. 

We will deliver on those expectations. Our residents deserve nothing less. 

This document is the Wirral Council Plan for 2025. In it we set out our stall and commit to 
what we will deliver over the next five years. These are the things you have told us matter to 
you. 

Within this document you will see exactly what we will focus on for Wirral residents in the 
coming years, how we will do it and what we will achieve. Our ambition is for: 

 A prosperous, inclusive economy where local people can get good jobs and achieve 
their aspirations 

 A cleaner, greener borough which celebrates, protects and improves our environment 
and urgently tackles the environmental emergency

 Brighter futures for our young people and families – regardless of their background 
or where they live

 Safe, vibrant communities where people want to live and raise their families
 Services which help people live happy, healthy, independent and active lives, with 

public services there to support them when they need it

The Plan also includes some things that we commit to do this year and that local people can 
hold us to account for. We promise to:  

 Ensure the Council is financially sustainable, performs well, is efficient and provides 
value for money

 Deliver a stronger focus on the customer: providing Councillors, residents, businesses 
and other stakeholders with a better service

 Continue to radically improve children’s services 
 Deliver Wirral’s Local Plan, based on brownfield first and within the timeframe set out 

to Government; shape vibrant Neighbourhoods

Page 12



Page 3 of 20

 Support inclusive economic growth and increase community wealth and increased 
social housing and social value

 Increase Wirral’s role and profile in the Liverpool City Region; in strategic 
partnerships; and within the wider local government sector

 Lead local Brexit planning and preparedness

Decisions will never be taken behind closed doors. We will never take any decision without 
first actively seeking out, and taking account of, the views of the people that decision affects. 
Public services in Wirral will be accountable, and they will equally be inclusive, open and 
transparent. 

The results in the 2018 Local Elections significantly changed the political make-up of Wirral 
Council. Every political party represented in the Council Chamber knows that if we are to 
deliver on our promises then we must work together, regardless of party, on behalf of the 
people who elected us. 

I am pleased we have been able to work together to develop this Plan for Wirral, and I am 
sure if we continue to work collectively, alongside local people, focussing on what unites us 
rather than divides, then we can achieve everything we want to for local people. There should 
and will be no limit to our ambition for Wirral. 

I encourage every resident to read this report. 

Cllr Pat Hackett
Leader of Wirral Council

Page 13



Page 4 of 20

VISION FOR WIRRAL 

We will secure the best possible future for our residents. This future is defined by the 
community prosperity we create and supported by our excellent people and services. 

Wirral in 2025

Wirral is a stunning place. It’s a place we can all be proud of, where people want to live, work 
and visit. It is creative, and confident – using its unique location on the banks of the River 
Mersey to be both quaint seaside town and vibrant entrepreneurial centre. 

It’s got everything you’d expect of a picturesque peninsula: miles of beautiful coastline, vast 
green open spaces, and a charming array of cultural and leisure opportunities. That’s why we 
are welcoming record numbers of visitors every year, and why our economy is growing and 
creating opportunities and prosperity for residents and businesses. 

Residents are part of a community; from the moment they are born. First-rate education and 
training are on our doorstep, so everyone who lives here can dream and achieve big for their 
futures. People here live happy and healthy lives. Services are designed based on what people 
need – who provides them or how they’re delivered is less important than the impact they 
make. 

Communities here are vibrant, close-knit, and have a real voice. Public services work in 
partnership with the people they are here to serve. In return, people care for each other and 
look out for their neighbours – especially those who are elderly or who need an extra helping 
hand. No-one goes lonely in Wirral. 

It’s a place which has got something for everyone. It’s a place we are all proud of. 

Page 14



Page 5 of 20

OUR PURPOSE

Public servants in Wirral are ambitious, accountable, customer-focussed and professional. We 
are committed to making Wirral a better place and enabling a better quality of life for every 
resident. 

To work for Wirral Council, you have to be an excellent public servant. We are here to serve 
our residents, to meet their needs, to protect them and to help them raise and achieve their 
aspirations.

This is the principle our organisation is built upon.

We have unrelenting focus on our residents. What they expect, what they need, and what 
they want underpins every decision we make. We do everything within our power, with the 
resources at our disposal, to make Wirral a better place for its residents. 

How We Work

Wirral Council staff work to a clear set of values. Regardless of what department or service 
people work in, we are ‘one council’, and we have high standards. The Council workforce is 
supported, developed and invested in, and in return they commit to meeting a specific 
customer service standard which governs how we go about our work.

Our values define how we work with each other, how we work with members and residents, 
and how we go about our daily business to give Wirral residents the best possible service.

The values have been developed with staff from across the council, who all show immense 
pride in what they do. Staff told us what matters to them, what motivates them and what 
inspires them to make Wirral a better place.  

(Embed Video and Visual in Final Draft)

We put the customer first. Always.

We are here to make Wirral a better place for its residents. 

We are the only democratic organisation in the borough. It is our job to support Members, 
and to deliver outcomes. Our Members set policy, then we deliver. 

A better quality of life for every Wirral resident is the ultimate goal of every Wirral Council 
employee. 

We are relentless in our pursuit of this goal.

Our Value What It Means

Page 15



Page 6 of 20

Our Value What It Means

Be Customer Focussed

Our residents are our customer. Make them feel like that. 
Treat residents as if they’re paying your wages. Because they are. 
Your colleagues are customers. Help them be the best they can 
be.
Help Elected Members do their jobs. They are the leaders in their 
communities.

Be Accountable

You’re a leader. Take personal responsibility. 
Solve problems. If something isn’t working, fix it.
When you say you are going to do something, do it. 
Never walk away. Never say ‘it’s not my job’. Never give up

Be Ambitious
Aim high, always. Don’t settle for second best.
Don’t make excuses. If you can do something better, do it.
Come up with ideas. The old way isn’t always the best way.

Be Professional

Treat everyone with respect. Colleagues, residents and Members 
deserve the same great service.
If someone asks a question, answer it – quickly and clearly.
If you’re talking to a resident, you’re talking to your boss. Act like 
it.

Page 16



Page 7 of 20

BY 2020

This is the final year of the Wirral Plan for 2020. The Wirral Plan was about bringing public 
services together, integrating our efforts and scarce resources to help deliver a bigger impact 
for local people. We have made excellent progress against all the Pledges which were set back 
in 2015. 

 70% children reaching ‘good’ level of development
 4045 jobs created
 250,000 visitors to Imagine Wirral events
 74% highest-ever employment rate
 1252 empty properties back in use
 32 national awards for parks

Now, we’ve got to finish the job. 

There are 6 months left until the end of this Wirral Plan, and the transition into our next plan 
for the borough. We must make those six months count. Between now and April 2020 we 
have many major projects to deliver. 

Page 17



Page 8 of 20

WIRRAL COUNCIL DELIVERY PLAN FOR 2019/20

WHAT WE’LL DO BY WHEN
Start the replacement programme for streetlights October 2019
Agree our new 5-Year Plan for Wirral October 2019
Propose our new Financial Strategy for Wirral December 2019
Launch Consultation on our Local Plan December 2019
Agree the Business Plan for Wirral Growth Company January 2020
Accelerate visible Wirral Waters delivery Ongoing 2019/20
Launch our Climate Emergency Action Plan Underway
Break ground on Wirral Waters residential schemes Underway
Tackle homelessness and launch our new strategy for social 
and affordable homes

2019

Take the regeneration of New Ferry to the next step Underway
Prioritise regeneration of our Town Centres & High Streets Underway
Develop plans for our new Community Bank and drive 
forward Community Wealth Building

Ongoing 2019/20

Drive forward the continued growth and regeneration of 
New Brighton as a vibrant tourism destination

Ongoing 2019/20

Finalise work to understand the needs of the creative 
enterprise sector and use this evidence to develop an 
action plan focused on enabling sector growth;
Launch Wirral’s Borough of Culture legacy plan and 2020 
events programme;
Deliver a Destination Marketing work programme and 
campaign strategy focused on increasing visitor numbers

March 2020

January 2020

December 2020

Drive forward our new Children’s Vision Ongoing 2019/20
Continue to drive improved outcomes for Wirral’s 
residents through joined up arrangements with the NHS 
that deliver the Right Care in the Right Place at the Right 
Time

Ongoing 2019/20

Launch our consultation with Wirral residents and 
stakeholder groups

Autumn 2019

Take forward our plans for accessible and popular 
community and leisure services, supporting our residents 
in their health and wellbeing goals  

Ongoing 2019/20

Page 18



Page 9 of 20

OUR PRIORITIES FOR 2025

Our priorities are clear: they are developed based on what people have told us in 
conversations, consultations, surveys and community events. 

This Wirral Council Plan is a set of goals and objectives, which every everyone involved in 
Wirral Council owns and will strive to achieve over these next five years.

They are a commitment to local people, a specific and clear set of priorities we will achieve 
together. The rest of this document describes those priorities – what we will achieve, and how 
we will do it.

These priorities are summarised overleaf in our ‘Plan on a Page’. 

Page 19



Page 10 of 20

Page 20



Page 11 of 20

Working for AN INCLUSIVE ECONOMY

OUTCOME: 
Wirral Residents have access to great jobs and good quality, affordable housing

PHOTOGRAPHY TO BE ADDED

We want to create ambitious and prosperous communities. Our plans for economic growth 
are about creating community wealth. They’re about encouraging inclusive growth, where the 
benefits are felt by every resident. They’re about creating opportunities for local people, and 
inspiring ambition. Prosperous communities are happier, healthier and better places to live. 

People want the chance to get a good job, and live in a nice home on a clean, safe street. A 
successful local economy – built on these inclusive principles – helps deliver that. Attracting 
investment to our borough creates good jobs for our residents. It helps people improve their 
skills, improve their prospects and raise the aspirations of their whole family. It’s about 
helping everyone in the borough to become better off and live more comfortably. 

The work we do helps support local employers to succeed, to win more business and grow – 
creating more jobs and opportunities for local people. We will help make sure our residents 
have the skills and education they need to secure their best possible futures. We work side-
by-side with the independent traders who keep our high-streets alive, helping them adapt to 
modern trends. 

We make sure people have a choice of attractive and safe homes – within their price range, 
suited to their needs, and built in the right places to protect the unique character and special 
charm of our borough. More and more people are discovering Wirral. It’s becoming a thriving 
tourist destination, supporting thousands of local jobs and putting money directly into 
hundreds of local businesses. 

What we’ll do How we’ll measure success
Focus on transformational & inclusive growth
Create jobs and support businesses
Attract ethical investment 

Set up a Community Bank
Create Community Wealth & Social Value 

Encourage quality, affordable homes 
Bring empty properties back into use
Improve private sector properties 

Maximise the potential of Wirral’s creative 
enterprise sector as a driver for economic 
regeneration and community wealth building

 Total investments secured in Wirral 
developments  

 Gross Value Added per head of 
population

 Number of jobs created and/or 
safeguarded

 Number of apprenticeship starts
 Increase the employment rate in Wirral
 Major planning decisions made within 

agreed timeframes

 Number of Council Contracts with 
social value commitments

 Increase in Council spending on local 
supply chains

Page 21



Page 12 of 20

Deliver an ambitious, high quality and inclusive 
culture events programme which impacts 
positively on civic pride and outcomes for 
residents as well as attracts visitors

Promote Wirral regionally, nationally and 
internationally as a world-class visitor 
destination which is rich in assets and 
experiences

 Increased visitor numbers 
 Increase the value of visitor economy

Page 22



Page 13 of 20

Working for A SUSTAINABLE ENVIRONMENT

OUTCOME: WIRRAL RESIDENTS LIVE IN A CLEANER, GREENER WIRRAL

PHOTOGRAPHY TO BE ADDED

The latest global scientific evidence about climate change paints a deeply worrying picture.  It 
makes clear we must eliminate all climate damaging pollution and do this fast.  Damage 
caused by past pollution is already with us.  

By taking responsibility now we can begin to protect ourselves and our families from the 
dangers we face. Locally much of what we hold dear is vulnerable to climate disruption: our 
lifestyles; the cherished places we love; and our precious wildlife and wild spaces. As a 
peninsula, sea level rise is a direct menace too.  
    
Transformation on an extraordinary scale is needed. Locally we must cut the main climate 
damaging pollutant, CO2, by three and a half times more each year than we have managed to 
do so far.  This is challenging, but it’s not impossible. By co-ordinating local action, we can 
have a greater impact.  

We know people in Wirral not only believe the climate is changing but want to do something 
about it.  To meet our fair share of the global burden to tackle climate change we need deep 
and fast cuts in climate damaging pollution with a major reduction in emissions.  We must 
eliminate all climate damaging pollution locally by 2041 at the latest.  

What we’ll do How will we measure success?
Urgently tackle the environment emergency 

Protect biodiversity

Improve street cleanliness

Take forward our ‘Cool Wirral’ approach 

Support active travel networks that work for all

 Increased recycling
 Reduce the overall collected general 

waste (non-recycling) per household 
 Increase energy efficiency in Council 

owned buildings
 Increase in the number of wildflower 

verges in Wirral
 Increase the number of people cycling
 Public satisfaction in transport
 Increase in Local Environment Quality
 Increase in electric charging points for 

cars in Wirral
 Increase in homes with energy efficient 

adaptions in Wirral

Page 23



Page 14 of 20

Working for BRIGHTER FUTURES

OUTCOME: WIRRAL FAMILIES HAVE A PROMISING FUTURE, WHATEVER THEIR 
START IN LIFE

PHOTOGRAPHY TO BE ADDED
There is no limit to our ambition for families in Wirral. We put the support in place so people 
can increase – and achieve – their aspirations. Children are the forefront of every decision we 
make. They are right at the top of our list of priorities, and they will stay there. 

A family’s history should not and will not impact on the ambition of the child. We are focussed 
on breaking the cycle of poor outcomes and low ambition, raising the aspirations of every 
child in Wirral – regardless of where they live or their background. Our job is to encourage, 
and inspire, and we are relentless in pursuit of that goal. We will enable families to bring up 
children in safe, happy and secure environments. 

Wirral will become a great place to grow up, and a great place to work. For children, 
particularly those experiencing poverty, living in care, or leaving care, we go the extra mile. 
They are given every possible helping hand to lead a successful, fulfilling life. Teams are 
supported, well-led, and are provided with the tools to do their jobs well. 

Our Children’s, Young People and Family Partnership Board drives forward our ambitious 
Vision for Children. Early intervention is a culture, which permeates through every public 
service in the borough. Keeping children safe is everyone’s responsibility – whether you work 
in a leisure centre, a library, a fire station or a social work team – and we take it seriously. We 
identify and tackle issues before they develop. 

Our work will make sure Wirral is a great place to grow up and succeed. 

What we’ll do How will we measure success?
Invest in our children and young people and 
their future by making sure they access a good 
education and are given the skills and 
opportunities to find employment and follow 
their chosen careers

Ensure that the children in our care are better 
off as a result of being in care

Enable families to access the support they need 
when they need it most and as early as possible

Help all children with special education needs or 
disabilities and their families to be and feel 
included 

 Increase in the percentage of children 
making expected progress 
educationally 

 A closing gap in educational 
achievement between disadvantaged 
children and their peers

 Increase in children ready for school
 Decrease children leaving care NEET 

rate
 Increase in adoption rates for Wirral 

children in care
 Decrease in rate of looked after 

children in Wirral
 Children in Need rate per 10,000 0-17 

population
 Increase success of the early 

intervention Team Around the Family 
programme

Page 24



Page 15 of 20

Working for ACTIVE & HEALTHY LIVES

OUTCOME: WIRRAL RESIDENTS LIVE IN A GREAT PLACE, ARE HEALTHIER AND 
HAPPIER FOR LONGER

PHOTOGRAPHY TO BE ADDED

In Wirral we want all our residents to have a good quality of life. Good health and wellbeing 
is key to this and achieving that is more than about health services. A good start in life, 
education, decent work and housing, the environment in which we live and strong and 
supportive relationships all play a part

We’re proud of our reputation that people tell their story once, to one healthcare 
professional, and they will design a personalised care package to meet those needs. Our 
system is easier to access, it is better value, and it provides better care. 

Wirral is a place where older people are treated with dignity and respect, and where having a 
disability is never a barrier to leading a full and fulfilling life. We are an accessible borough, 
which welcomes diversity and champions inclusion and social cohesion. 

We promote active lifestyles. We’re proud of our reputation as the leisure peninsula, and our 
residents benefit from first-class opportunities for leisure, sports and exercise – through our 
fitness centres or in our world-class parks and open spaces. Where people need extra help to 
stay healthy, we commission outstanding services to help people live more healthily. 

Vulnerable people are supported, protected and inspired. We embrace new technologies to 
help people to live independently, and we engage with communities who do invaluable work 
to keep their neighbours safe and happy. 

What we’ll do How will we measure success?

Improve wellbeing, reduce loneliness and social 
isolation through increased neighbourhood and 
voluntary support

Improve people’s experience through making 
safeguarding more personal

Help people live independently through 
investment in digital assisted technology

Support many more people to stay healthy and 
safe at home, preventing hospital admission

Work with partners to promote healthy active 
lives

 Older people feeling safe and well in 
their area (during the day and after 
dark)

 % safeguarding contacts completed 
within 24h

 % safeguarding investigations 
completed within 28 days

 Fewer people admitted to hospital or 
long term care by supporting people at 
home

 Number of home adaptations 
completed

Page 25



Page 16 of 20

Support more people with disabilities to live 
independent lives

Continue to address health focusing on our 
priorities to give children the best start in lives, 
having a secure job and living in a home and 
environment that supports health and connects 
people

Work with partners to promote wellbeing and 
improve positive mental health

Continue to deliver programmes of work to 
prevent ill health focusing on key local 
challenges such as obesity, alcohol, drugs and 
smoking

Develop Wirral as a place in which healthy 
choices are easy choices

 Proportion of residents over 50 living in 
housing that meets their needs 

 Adults with a learning disability who 
are living in stable and appropriate 
accommodation

 Employment rate for disabled people 
age 16-64

 Reduced levels of childhood and adult 
obesity

 Reduction in smoking rates 
 Reduction in hospital admission rates 

for alcohol abuse 
 Successful completion of drug and 

alcohol treatment programmes

 Increase number national quality 
awards for Wirral parks

 Increase levels public satisfaction with 
walking and cycling facilities

 Utilisation of outdoor space for 
exercise and health reasons

 Number of people using the Council’s 
leisure centres

Page 26



Page 17 of 20

Working for SAFE & PLEASANT COMMUNITIES

OUTCOME: WIRRAL RESIDENTS FEEL SAFE INSIDE AND OUTSIDE THEIR HOME

PHOTOGRAPHY TO BE ADDED

For many thousands of our residents, the thing which is most important to them is what they 
see when they open their front door. They want to see a clean street, which is well-maintained 
and attractive. They want to live in a place which is free of anti-social behaviour and crime, 
and to be able to take an active role in making their community a better place to live. 

Our job is to help make this happen. The everyday services people want the most – street 
cleaning, tackling dog-fouling, road maintenance, streetlights, grass-cutting – will be delivered 
to the best possible standard. Almost as importantly, we will be responsive: if a resident asks 
us something, we will answer – quickly, clearly and with empathy. 

We’ll also tackle the growing problem of rough sleeping and homelessness. In Wirral, people 
will never have to spend a second night outside. We will redouble our efforts in working with 
these vulnerable people and we will keep them safe. We will ensure people have a good 
standard of housing. 

Getting better at communication is a theme which will run throughout our new approach to 
doing business. Decisions made which affect people should be made in partnership with those 
people. Public servants do not always know best, we must be brave enough to ask for and 
listen to the alternative view. This new culture of collaboration and consultation will underpin 
everything we do. 

What we’ll do How will we measure success?
Tackle homelessness and rough sleeping 
including using the Housing First approach

Work with partner agencies to reduce crime 
and tackle anti-social behaviour

Replace streetlights in the borough 

Protect our most vulnerable

 Reduce homelessness 
 Reduce number of people sleeping 

rough
 Decrease in anti-social behaviour
 Reduction in the number of crimes 

reported to the police
 Reduction in the number of violent 

crimes reported to the police
 Reduce first time entrants into the 

Youth Justice System
 Reduce the incidents of repeat 

domestic abuse reporting
 Replace streetlights in Wirral with LED 

lights by 2021

Page 27



Page 18 of 20

WORKING FOR YOU: DELIVERING EXCELLENT SERVICES

PHOTOGRAPHY TO BE ADDED

People want to live in nice houses, on safe and clean streets. They want their children go to 
great schools and have things to do with the friends. They want their roads to be in good 
condition, with transport, which is safe, quick and convenient. They want all services to be 
available, where and when they’re needed. 

Often, these services we provide, commission or deliver with our partners provide a lifeline to 
the most vulnerable residents in the borough. Because these services are so important, we 
must never rest on our laurels, and never settle for anything less than outstanding. 

Our services should be focussed, entirely, on what the customer needs. They should be 
responsive, easy to access, and deliver what people need. Nothing else is acceptable. 

Organisational boundaries do not matter, all that matters is the outcome and meeting the 
needs of our residents. This customer focus – of being completely focussed on what local 
people want and need – is what sets Wirral apart and makes this such a great place to live. 

This is how we will deliver everything we have promised. 

What we’ll do How will we measure success?
Involve you, ask your opinion and act upon your 
feedback

Live our organisational values 

Ensure our staff and elected members have the 
necessary knowledge and skills to deliver 
excellent services 

Working in a joined up way with our partners 

Work with our communities to shape 
Neighbourhoods 

Work with residents and not get in the way

Ensuring council services are accessible to all 

Making the best use of technology 

Being transparent about our decisions and 
spending 

Promote and advertise the many examples of 
excellent services and our successes

 Resident satisfaction survey 

 Number of complaints 

 Deliver the People Strategy

 Deliver the Digital Strategy

 Deliver the Local Plan based on 
brownfield first

 Build our Wirral Partnership and agree 
a new 5 year Place Plan

Page 28



Page 19 of 20

HOW WE’LL DO IT

WE’LL BE FINANCIALLY SUSTAINABLE

We want Wirral to be self-sustaining, investing in making the place better through the money 
we have made ourselves. We cannot be reliant on Government support or additional grants 
in order to deliver on our objectives. 

We will develop a new, ambitious, 5-year financial strategy to make sure we have the 
resources we need to deliver our promises to local people. This strategy will focus on investing 
public money where it will deliver most impact. 

WE’LL BE OPEN AND INCLUSIVE

Decisions affecting local people should be made by local people. This principle will underpin 
every policy, project and new initiative we deliver this year. 

We will take steps to increase the opportunities for local people to get involved in decision-
making. We will encourage, enable and empower Wirral residents to take an active role in the 
decisions made in the Town Hall. 

WE’LL INVEST IN OUR PEOPLE

Our workforce is our most valuable asset. To deliver on what we have promised we need 
talented, dedicated and skilled employees – which Wirral is blessed with in abundance. We 
will support these public servants to be the best they can be. 

We will also expect a lot in return for this support. Residents and Members will be treated 
with the respect they deserve. Our staff will pride themselves on delivering the very best 
customer service. 

WE’LL CREATE A PARTNERSHIP WITH LOCAL PEOPLE

We will be more collaborative, and we will work in a new way with local people. Where they 
can get involved more, we will encourage and empower them – not stand in their way. 

We will help local communities to help themselves, and we will celebrate and champion those 
engaged, vibrant neighbourhood and community organisations who have taken it upon 
themselves to make their local area a better place to live. 

Page 29



Page 20 of 20

OUR PROMISE TO RESIDENTS

The ambitions described in this report are our promise to Wirral residents. These are the 
things we will deliver to make this borough a better, more prosperous place for everyone who 
lives here. 

They are about creating jobs, improving services and making public money work harder for 
public benefit. They’re about making sure Wirral residents can continue to live in a place which 
they are proud of, with modern public service there to support them. 

In 2025, when this Wirral Plan is complete and we reflect on our progress, I am keen to be 
held accountable for delivering the priorities set out in this document. 

Now it is time to deliver on our promises. 

Cllr Pat Hackett
Leader of Wirral Council

Page 30



CABINET
30 SEPTEMBER 2019

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019 – CREATIVE COMMUNITIES

Councillor Chris Jones, Cabinet Member for Adult Care, Health and Wellbeing, said:

“We want all of our residents to have a good quality of life however, we know some of our 
communities face multiple challenges.

It is our responsibility to lead the way and develop key relationships that will allow us, 
together with our partners, to work closely with local people to support them to take control 
over their health and wellbeing, and build environments in which healthy choices are the easy 
choices.

As an authority we must continue to demonstrate our commitment to encouraging healthier 
lives. One way of doing this is the production of a Public Health Annual Report. This year’s 
report focusses on the role of culture as a means of improving health and wellbeing, and was 
fully based on work with residents and partners within our communities.

This report sets out our initial plans and recommendations for ways in which the influence of 
creativity and culture can be embedded into health messages and interventions, so as to 
have a positive impact on both the physical and mental health of residents of all ages.”

REPORT SUMMARY

The Public Health Annual Report (PHAR) 2019 is the independent annual report of the 
Director of Public Health and is a statutory requirement. 

The 2019 Report, Creative Communities, explores the role of culture as a means of 
improving health and wellbeing, presents local examples of these benefits and calls for 
everyone in Wirral to be part of a Borough of Culture legacy that leaves us happier and 
healthier.

The Public Health Annual Report is an important vehicle to identify key issues, flag up 
problems, report progress and inform local inter agency action. The purpose of the PHAR is 
to draw attention to local issues of importance which have an impact on population health. 
Since the Council took back responsibility for Public Health in 2013 we have published five 
reports on:
 Social isolation
 Healthy schools and children
 Domestic violence
 The roles of the Council and NHS in promoting health and wellbeing 

Page 31

Agenda Item 5



 Problem gambling

These reports have led to action in the reduction of people smoking in the borough to levels 
below the national average; increased support for people who were feeling socially isolated 
plus significant activity across a range of partners to highlight and reduce the damage caused 
to our communities from alcohol abuse and gambling. 

The 2019 Report seeks to influence the developing narrative around social prescribing and 
how we engage and work with local people to support them to live healthier lives.

This matter affects all Wards within the Borough; it is not a key decision.

RECOMMENDATION/S

Cabinet is requested to endorse the recommendations of the Public Health Annual Report 
2019 and support its publication. 

Page 32



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 The 2019 Public Health Annual Report focuses on the role of cultural activities to 
improve health and wellbeing.

1.2 Engaging with cultural activities is good for everyone; it helps people to recover from 
illness, both physical and mental and protects against it; preventing illness and 
keeping us well no matter how young or old we are. 

 
2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 The publication of the Public Health Annual Report is a legal requirement, no other 
options have been considered. 

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 Wirral’s year as Borough of Culture has provided some unforgettable and spectacular 
arts and sporting events for locals and visitors to experience. It has brought 
communities together and provided opportunities for people of all ages to experience 
arts and culture in lots of different ways. 

3.2 According to National Alliance for Arts, Health and Wellbeing, “over recent years, there 
has been a growing understanding of the impact that taking part in the arts can have 
on health and wellbeing. By supplementing medicine and care, the arts can improve 
the health of people who experience mental and/or physical health problems. 
Engaging in the arts can promote prevention of disease and build wellbeing” 1 

3.3 This year’s Public Health Annual Report looks at what is known about what works to 
improve health through arts and cultural activities; the experiences of local people 
interacting with culture and its impact upon them and makes recommendations about 
how we can all use  cultural activities to improve our health and wellbeing.

3.4 A review of the evidence2 about what works to improve health through culture, 
identified a positive impact on both physical and mental health across the life course 
and identified those activities which are beneficial. The findings from this review 
informed the development of the PHAR recommendations.

3.5 Across Wirral there are lots of great examples of arts and cultural activities which are 
having a positive impact on the health and wellbeing of local people. In the report we 
showcase this work which is engaging with residents of all ages.

3.6 The Public Health Annual Report is aimed at lay audiences, a key feature of the report 
must be its accessibility to the public which offers an opportunity for the Director of 
Public Health to focus on the key impact messages they want to convey. This year we 

1 All-Party Parliamentary Group on Arts, Health and Wellbeing. Inquiry Report. Creative Health: The Arts for Health and Wellbeing. July 
2017
Singing in
2 Wirral Intelligence Service (2019) The impact of art and culture on health and wellbeing – a literature review. May 2019. 

Page 33



focused on using the PHAR as a way of engaging people to discuss their health and 
wellbeing actively employing arts and culture, not only as the topic for the report, but 
as a vehicle to engage local people in the development of the report. 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 There are no legal implications arising from this report. The Public Health Annual 
Report is a statutory duty on Directors of Public Health.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1 This report has been financed from within existing resource and the main inputs have 
been staff time of officers in Public Health, Culture, Communications and Graphics 
teams.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 To mitigate the potential lack of engagement with the report it has been co-produced 
with partners, through two workshops, and with residents through an extensive arts 
project (see 8.0 Engagement/Consultation).

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 To inform the PHAR we spent time listening to the stories and experiences of 
residents. An immersive community arts project, known as ‘The Sofa Sessions’, 
travelled across the borough inviting residents to rest, relax and discuss how their life 
has been influenced by culture and creativity whilst also taking part in cultural 
activities. Over 1000 people interacted with the travelling arts project during August 
2019, supported by Involve North West and local artists. Each ‘Sofa Session’ was 
attended by Community Connectors from Involve North West who were available to 
assist any residents looking for support; providing information about local services 
available to them in Wirral. The work, a large-scale tapestry, produced by residents 
through ‘The Sofa Sessions’ will be displayed in various places across Wirral including 
the Williamson Art Gallery and Birkenhead Central Library.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 An equality impact assessment has been undertaken on the report.

REPORT AUTHOR: Julie Webster
     Acting Director for Health and Wellbeing
     telephone: (0151 666 5142)
     email: juliewebster@wirral.gov.uk

Page 34

mailto:juliewebster@wirral.gov.uk


APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Creative Communities 2019 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health

BACKGROUND PAPERS

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



Creative Communities
Culture for Health and 
Wellbeing in Wirral 
2019 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 

Page 37



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        1

Foreword            2 

Introduction            3

The Impact of Culture           5 

Culture in Action           6

• The Open Door Centre          7

• The Williamson Art Gallery and Museum        9 

• Age UK Wirral         11

• Borough of Culture’s Animated Square      13

• The Sofa Sessions         15

Recommendations         17

    Contents

Page 38



Our year as the Liverpool City Region Borough of 
Culture provides a great opportunity for Wirral 
residents to engage with cultural activities and 
experience something new. It is a chance to 
maximise the health and wellbeing benefits of 
culture for individuals and communities through 
creative discovery and the exploring the world 
around us. I am proud and privileged therefore 
to share this year’s Director of Public Health 
Annual Report. It provides a strong evidence base 
for culture as a means to improving health and 
wellbeing, presents local examples of these benefits 
and calls for everyone in Wirral to be part of a 
Borough of Culture legacy that leaves us happier 
and healthier.

Regardless of the many individual ways in which we 
experience culture, it helps us to connect better 
to each other, enjoy and cope with life’s everyday 
challenges. There is strong evidence that arts and 
culture help to keep us well, recover from illness 
and support longer, better lives. Our case studies 
show how such initiatives improve health and 
wellbeing outcomes and are cost effective. This 
provides fresh thinking for health and care systems. 
However the benefits of investment in cultural 
activities for health and wellbeing are still not widely 
recognised. 

This report has three key recommendations which 
aim to optimise the amazing work happening 
across Wirral and identify new opportunities to 
improve health and wellbeing through cultural 
activities.

In producing this report, I’m grateful to local people 
who have shared their experiences and for the 
energy and commitment of all those who have 
supported its development; in particular more 
than 1,000 residents who participated in the Sofa 
Sessions, interacting with culture and creativity, 
to talk about health and wellbeing.  I hope that 
this report inspires and energises individuals and 
encourages increased collaboration between 
different disciplines and organisations. 
Wirral’s year of culture has been an amazing 
journey, showing off the creative and natural assets 
of our beautiful borough. By working together, we 
can create wonderful memories and a long lasting, 
positive impact on health and wellbeing.

Julie Webster
Acting Director for Health and Wellbeing

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        2

    Foreword

Page 39



Wirral’s year as Borough of Culture has 
provided some unforgettable and spectacular 
arts and sporting events for locals and visitors 
to experience. In 2019, culture has brought 
communities together and provided opportunities 
for people of all ages to experience arts and 
creativity in lots of different ways. Happiness and 
pride are the words that people have used to 
describe their experience at these events – events 
that have provided a chance people to share and 
celebrate together. These feelings are important 
indicators of our wellbeing, contributing to good 
health and reducing isolation. 

Engaging with cultural activities – regardless of 
how we do it – is good for everyone. It helps 
people to recover from illness, both physical and 
mental, and protects against it; preventing ill 
health and keeping us well no matter how young 
or old we are.

 

We must do things differently to ensure that 
health and care services are resilient now and in 
the future. This means focusing on keeping people 
well. Cultural experiences can provide ways to 
wellbeing where other interventions don’t quite 
reach. They can enrich our lives as individuals, 
helping us to better understand our place in the 
world. The case studies in this report are prime 
examples of how culture and creativity, often in 
conjunction with clinical methods of support, could 
be the logical next step in the journey toward a 
more well Wirral.

The Wirral Culture Strategy, which underpins 
the Wirral Plan 2015 – 2020, contains four 
priorities, one of which is focused on promoting 
the educational, social and wellbeing benefits 
of arts and culture, while also recognising the 
social impact within our communities. Whilst the 
role of cultural activities on health is increasingly 
understood, globally, we have yet to fully maximise 
these opportunities in health and care. This 

report looks at the current knowledge 
of ‘what works’ to improve health 

through arts and cultural activities, 
the experiences of local people 
interacting with culture and its 

impact upon them and finally makes 
recommendations about how we can all utilise 
cultural activities to improve health and wellbeing.

“The creative impulse 
is fundamental to the 
experience of being 
human” 1

1. Creative Health: The Arts for Health and Wellbeing,   
 2017. All-Party Parliamentary Group on Arts, Health  
 and Wellbeing. Inquiry Report

  Introduction

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        3

“The purpose of 
art is washing the 
dust of daily life 

off our souls” 

Pablo Picasso

Page 40

http://www.artshealthandwellbeing.org.uk/appg-inquiry/Publications/Creative_Health_Inquiry_Report_2017.pdf
http://www.artshealthandwellbeing.org.uk/appg-inquiry/Publications/Creative_Health_Inquiry_Report_2017.pdf
http://www.artshealthandwellbeing.org.uk/appg-inquiry/Publications/Creative_Health_Inquiry_Report_2017.pdf


“The effect in sickness of beautiful 
objects, of variety of objects, and 
especially of brilliance of colours is 
hardly at all appreciated. People say 
the effect is on the mind. It is no such 
thing. The effect is on the body, too. 
Little as we know about the way in 
which we are offered by form, colour, 
by light, we do know this, that they 
have a physical effect. Variety of form 
and brilliance of colour in the objects 
presented to patients are actual 
means of recovery.”

Florence Nightingale, Notes on Nursing, 1859

Page 41



Globally, there is increasing understanding and 
recognition of the impact that culture can have 
on the health and wellbeing of individuals and in 
turn, their communities.  

“More and more people now appreciate 
that arts and culture can play a valuable 
part in helping tackle some of the most 
challenging social and health conditions. Active 
participation in the visual and performing arts, 
music and dance can help people facing a lonely 
old age, depression or mental illness; it can help 
maintain levels of independence and curiosity 
and, let’s not forget, it can bring great joy and 
so improve the quality of life for those engaged”  
Lord Richards of Nailsworth, 2016

As part of the development of this report a review 
of the impact that culture can have on health and 
wellbeing found that:

1. Evidence for the positive impact of arts and 
cultural activities on health at every stage of life has 
grown considerably in recent years. The evidence 
base is now extensive and not only identifies those 
activities which are beneficial, but often indicates 
the scale of these health improvements.

2. Overall, there appears to be both more - and 
slightly higher quality - evidence for the positive 
impacts of participative singing, music, dance and 
literature (reading and story-telling) on health and 
wellbeing.

3. Although a large body of literature focuses on 
mental health (primarily anxiety and depression), 
positive impacts have also been noted on a range 
of physical conditions and social factors such as 
Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) , 
cystic fibrosis, blood pressure and Coronary Heart 
Disease (CHD), dementia, falls, hospital admissions 
and length of stay, GP consultations, medication 
levels, child development, anti-social behaviour, 
attainment at school and in preventing and 
postponing frailty.

4. The challenge inherent in many arts and cultural 
interventions is that they do not easily lend 
themselves to showing quantifiable improvements 
(especially in people approaching the end of life for 
example). Absence of (quantifiable) evidence, is not 
however evidence of absence.

5. Future arts and cultural activities organised 
locally here in Wirral should aim to add to the 
growing evidence base for this type of intervention 
by conducting robust evaluation. Evaluation should 
include quantifiable improvements alongside more 
qualitative information in order to better inform 
commissioners.

1.  Wirral Intelligence Service (2019)  
 The impact of art and culture on health and  
 wellbeing – a literature review. May 2019. 

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        5

“Wonder is  
the beginning  

of wisdom”

The Impact of Culture

Socrates

Page 42



Culture in Action

“When I look back, I am so impressed with the 
life-giving power of literature. If I were a young 
person today, trying to gain a sense of myself in 
the world, I would do that again by reading, just 
as I did when I was young.” Maya Angelou

Here we showcase some of the rich and varied  
work that local people, involved in arts and  
cultural activities, are doing across Wirral.

Page 43



The Open Door Centre is a Birkenhead based 
charity providing creative and therapeutic 
opportunities to young people accessing mental 
health support. Through music and technology, 
training and volunteering, the centre helps 
young people confront their stress, anxiety and 
depression, supporting them to develop effective 
ways to deal with these feelings. 

Having a team of volunteer mentors has been 
an integral part of the service delivery. It has also 
helped the charity promote the ideas of valued 
lived experience, compassion, informality and 
empathy to support people to overcome emotional 
challenges. 

Promoting good mental health is at the heart of 
what the charity does but it also sees its role to 
upskill and provide opportunities for local people 
to gain experience whilst improving their career 
and academic prospects. It is often difficult for 
people to gain practical experience in mental health 
roles and that is something the charity wanted to 
change. It was apparent that so many fantastic 
individuals were drawn to the sector for all the 
right reasons such as personal lived experience 
and wanting to help others. The charity is pleased 
it can offer training and practical opportunities 
to these individuals, but it also means that as an 
organisation with currently 35 volunteer mentors, 
they can adequately support a large number of 
people in a timely and cost-effective way – and with 
impressive outcomes. Members who work with  the 
charity like the fact that they are supported by a 
mentor through an 8-week Cognitive Behavioural 

Therapy (CBT) and mindfulness-based intervention, 
called Bazaar. The majority of mentors are young 
adults (early 20’s), dress casually and if you walked 
into the centre, you would not necessarily know 
who the mentor or member is. This helps break 
down the barriers and formalities that drive a lot of 
the stigma young people feel about mental health 
care. It is also common for a member to complete 
support with the charity and further down the line 
find themselves completing training and becoming 
mentors themselves. 

The Open Door Centre

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        7

Volunteer mentors

Page 44



“I am forever grateful for the 
sessions I took part in at 
the Open Door Centre. The 
staff are so attentive and 
compassionate and really 
reassured me when I first 
arrived, which was very difficult 
for me. From then on I knew I 
was in safe hands and found 
the distraction techniques, 
mindfulness, Thought Bully 
and thought tracking really 
useful and these are tools that 
I intend to use for life.”

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        8

The centre’s ‘Bazaar – A Marketplace for the Mind’ 
programme delivers one-to-one cognitive behavioural 
therapy sessions inside cosy therapy spaces (or, sheds). 

With nine in total, the spaces are used by members 
working alongside a mentor during this 8 week course to 
improve their mental health.

Page 45



The Williamson Art Gallery, based in Oxton, 
provides space to display masterpieces, ceramics, 
and sculptures. Housing the largest public 
collection of Della Robbia pottery in the UK and 
home to some internationally important paintings, 
exhibitions at the Williamson Art Gallery & Museum 
are always free. They also welcome educational, 
party and group visits. Pamela Sullivan is a 
freelance artist working at the Williamson 
Art Gallery and Museum. Teaching adult art 
classes in drawing, painting and printmaking, 
she works with vulnerable young people and 
families from a range of diverse backgrounds. 
Outside of the gallery setting she works in 
the wider Wirral community. Her work involves 
the re use and up cycling of found materials 
including plastics, paper and cardboard. With local 
communities in Wirral she has created large scale 
cardboard trees and ‘city scapes’ for projects at 
the New Ferry Butterfly Park as well as 80ft trees at 
the Bombed Out Church in Liverpool for the 2012 
Biennial Arts Festival. 

Being part of these projects, whether through 
simply creating a drawing or painting, has proven 
vitally important for the health and wellbeing 
of those communities involved. The Williamson 
provides a local hub where people from different 
backgrounds including those who feel isolated or 
excluded, can come together to participate in and 
enjoy the arts. Pamela’s work as an artist in this 
space helps to deliver wellbeing outcomes ranging 
from alleviating anxiety to developing confidence 
and resilience.

The Williamson Art  
Gallery & Museum

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        9

Pamela Sullivan  
and the Cityscape 
exhibition

Bidston Observatory  
Time and Tide exhibition

Page 46



“Attending the art class at the 
Williamson Art Gallery was a life saver 
for me and helped me through a very 
difficult time. I had no self confidence 

to start with so went with a friend. 
The benefits have been two fold, 
my confidence has grown and 
my self esteem has returned 

all of this as well as acquiring 
new skills and having a safe place 

to experiment with painting and 
drawing. The course has got me 
through cancer and the long draining 
illness that finally took my mum last 
year. The art class allowed me to 
escape into my imagination, having 
two hours just for me was a life saver.”

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        10

Wirral Eco Schools Plastics Project

Cardboard Trees exhibition

Page 47



Combining the promotion of health with celebrating 
arts, culture and heritage is at the heart of many 
of Age UK Wirral’s projects.  The Great Wirral 
Conversations have brought together people from 
different generations in events that have explored 
topics as diverse as motherhood, (through bringing 
together ‘experienced’ ladies with new mothers), 
and life in the forces, (by linking Wirral’s veterans 
with local secondary school history students). 

Health promotion projects such as Joining Forces, 
a Ministry of Defence funded initiative supporting 
local older veterans, and the Men’s Project at 
Maritime Park, supporting health promotion and 
tackling the social isolation of former seafarers, 
have used Wirral’s rich military and maritime 
heritage, and the range of stunning resources 
that the Borough has to offer. Utilising some of 
Wirral’s finest assets, including Lady Lever and 
Williamson Art Galleries, as a catalyst for bringing 
people together Age UK Wirral have fostered new 
friendships, diverse connections and created 
shared memories.

Celebration of arts, culture and heritage is also 
core to the organisation’s cognitive stimulation 
therapy work with people living with dementia. 
Members of Devonshire Days have been involved 
in a collaborative arts project that culminated in 
their work being displayed at a local art gallery, 
which was a massive boost to the confidence of 
all involved. Reminder Finders, the organisation’s 
group for people in the earlier stages of dementia, 
uses physical and online resources to stimulate 
reminiscence sessions by recalling changes in art, 
sport, music and local history over the generations.

Extending access to art and sport in its many 
forms is a powerful medium for tackling isolation 
and loneliness locally. The organisation’s Health 
& Activity Department facilitates more than 60 
different classes and activities a week, ranging from 
walking and cycling groups taking advantage of 
Wirral’s rich outdoor spaces through to building-
based classes including anything from Yoga, 
Zumba, creative writing through to playing the 
ukulele! A recent project saw one of the groups 
redecorate and restore the organisation’s very own 
Superlambanana, which now has pride of place 
in the courtyard at Age UK Wirral’s Care Home for 
people with dementia.

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        11

Age UK Wirral

“Celebration of arts, culture 
and heritage is core to the 

organisation’s cognitive 
stimulation therapy work.”

Page 48



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        12

Age UK Wirral’s very own Superlambanana

Age UK photography exhibition

The Great Wirral Conversations: 
Bringing together intergenerational 
groups

Page 49



In March 2019, Birkenhead Town Hall came alive 
for Animated Square, the first spectacular event of 
Wirral’s year as Borough of Culture. The Grade II 
listed building was transformed into the canvas for 
a large-scale projected light show.

Focus in the build-up to the light show was on 
some inspiring musical performances by four 
Wirral-based choir groups. The groups included 
school children from the local area, as well as adults 
of all ages, backgrounds and abilities. 

Curated on a non-audition basis, groups were 
accessible to anyone who had an interest in being 
part of the event. One of the groups, RiverSign, 
was a signing choir made up of adults across 
Merseyside who sign songs whilst performing and 
cater to audience members who are deaf, or hard 
of hearing. 

RiverSign being part of the event promoted 
inclusivity in music, irrespective of barriers to 
performing such as disabilities, deafness, being 
hard of hearing and learning difficulties. Rehearsal 
and performance spaces reflected this, offering 
adequate provision for those with mobility 
restrictions to enable them to take part with ease.

The legacy from the choir performances lies in the 
memories and career pathways of local children, 
as well as increased engagement and collaboration 
across local choirs, with RiverSign in particular 
reflecting their enjoyment of being part of a ‘live’ 
performance. They were able to work with other 
community groups during rehearsals and are 
looking to develop these relationships further to 
help raise their profile in the local area.

Borough of Culture  
Animated Square

The Wilfred Owen Choir and The Luminelles 
were made up of 44 students between the ages 
of 11-18. The performance was an empowering 
and educational opportunity to take part in a 
heritage-focused cultural event which told the 
story and celebrated the history of where they live. 

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        13Page 50



Above: Illuminated in 3D onto the building 
itself, the display was inspired by the history 
of Birkenhead, attracting thousands for the 
second consecutive year.

Below: Members of Riversign performing at 
Animated Square.

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        14

“A member of our choir 
said someone approached 
her after the performance 
in tears to say the whole 
performance was so 
emotional. It doesn’t get 
better than that.”  
Pete Martin,  
Director RiverSign Choir

Page 51



To inform this report we also spent time listening 
to the stories and experiences of local residents. 
Throughout August 2019 an immersive community 
arts project, known as ‘The Sofa Sessions’, travelled 
across the borough inviting residents to rest, relax 
and discuss how their life has been influenced by 
culture whilst also taking part in various creative 
activities.

Inspired by the Boroughof Culture’s Radio Local 
events in Liscard, which delivered innovative 
engagement with the local community through 
culture, more than 1000 people interacted with the 
travelling arts piece, supported by Involve North 
West and local artists, leaving their mark on it at  
events across Wirral including:

•   Ilchester Family Fun Day in North Birkenhead 

•   Wirral Evolutions’ Health & Wellbeing Art Project  
 in Eastham

•   Bee Wirral’s Annual Family Fun Day in    
 Birkenhead

•   Beechwood Festival Day (Beechwood Estate) 

•   Mencap’s One Wirral Festival in Birkenhead Park 

•   Carrbridge Centre, Woodchurch

•   Summer Park Event, The Walled Garden in   
 Central Park, Wallasey

•   Building Bridges Family Fun Day, Birkenhead

•   Summer Activities session at West Kirby Library

•   Drop-in art event at The Barn, Pye Road in   
 Heswall 

 Family Drop-In at Williamson Art Gallery, Oxton

Each ‘Sofa Session’ was attended by Community 
Connectors from Involve North West who were 
available to assist any residents looking for support; 
providing information about local services available 
to them in Wirral.
The work, which also included a large-scale tapestry 
known as ‘The Wellbeing Tree’, produced by local 
residents through ‘The Sofa Sessions’ will be 
displayed in various places across Wirral including 
the Williamson Art Gallery and Birkenhead Central 
Library.

The Sofa Sessions

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        15

The Wellbeing Tree tapestry; 
The Sofa designed by Pam Sullivan;
Members from Wirral Evolutions’ day 
centre in Eastham taking part in  
the Sofa Sessions

Page 52



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        16

“Reading and sewing  
makes me happy.”

“When I’m drawing I don’t think 
about the negative things in life.”

Artist Pam Sullivan with The 
Wellbeing Tree tapestry

Youngsters getting creative 
at the Sofa Sessions

Sessions offered people 
the chance to rest, 
relax and discuss how 
their lives had been 
influenced by culture 

Page 53



We have a unique opportunity to use Wirral’s year as Borough of Culture as a 
springboard for developing a deeper and shared understanding of how public 
engagement in arts and culture can contribute to physical and mental health, 
emotional wellbeing, community resilience, health maintenance and improvement.

This report demonstrates the contribution that arts and culture can make to a 
healthy and health-creating borough. The following recommendations, which have 
been developed in collaboration with networks of local people, focus on ensuring 
that we fully capitalise on the huge opportunity presented by Borough of Culture to 
make a lasting impact on the health and wellbeing of local people through culture 
and the arts.

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        17

Recommendations

Page 54



1 

1 

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        18

Seek out opportunities in our 
lives and communities for arts 
and culture – to help to keep 
us well and live longer, better 
lives.

Building on existing networks, bring together 
stakeholders from the arts and health and care 
sectors to support the delivery of health and 
wellbeing through arts and culture. For partners 
this should focus on disseminating good practice, 
co-ordinating funding opportunities and informing 
policy and commissioning. 

Improve awareness of the benefits that arts and 
culture can bring to health and wellbeing through 
the workforce, with current patients and with 
other local people.

Promote a Wirral wide focus on ‘wellness’, working 
with people before they become sick or develop 
illness in the first place by developing a positive 
relationship with arts and culture.

Encourage residents to reimagine new kinds 
of connected communities in order to develop 
their own strengths and abilities so they can live 
independent and fulfilling lives.

The Sofa Sessions (above) took inspiration 
from Radio Local, a one-off live hyperlocal 
radio station that was built around 
Wirral’s people and places as part of 
Borough of Culture.

Page 55



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        19

 

Ensure that the legacy of 
Wirral’s Borough of Culture 
year contributes to the 
development of a healthy and 
health-creating borough. 

2

The review of the Wirral Culture Strategy provides 
an opportunity to recognise the success achieved 
over the last five years whilst looking at new ways 
to improve outcomes. The recommendations 
contained within this report should inform the 
development of the refreshed Wirral Culture 
Strategy.

Explore the development of a local cultural 
legacy programme to mobilise action in local 
communities and advocate for health through arts 
and culture.

Incorporate arts and culture into the Healthy 
Wirral Plan, seeking opportunities to leverage 
change.

Building on methodologies which have been 
developed to evaluate the Borough of Culture, 
foster a common approach to research into  
the potential of culture to tackle some of the  
deep-rooted and complex challenges in Wirral.

Following the successful Borough of Culture 
volunteering programme, support volunteers 
who want to progress to further volunteering 
or employment. This will ensure that their 
enthusiasm, skills and expertise can be used to 
encourage volunteering activity and build capacity 
in the borough’s voluntary, community and faith 
sector.

The Witching Hour performances, live in 
Birkenhead Park with arts company Periplum. 
Birkenhead Town Hall’s Animated Square 
illuminations.

Page 56



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        20

 

Secure a commitment from 
health partners to work with 
arts and cultural organisations 
to ensure that culture for 
health and wellbeing becomes 
integral to organisational, and 
commissioning strategies.

3 

Healthy Wirral partners should seize any 
opportunity to spread messages that encourage 
public engagement in the creative arts as a route 
to achieving health and wellbeing goals.

Health and care partners review the evidence as 
to the efficacy of the arts and culture in benefiting 
health and integrate this into local plans, 
pathway redesign and asset development where 
appropriate.

Commissioners should give consideration as 
to how the Public Services (Social Value) Act 
can secure cultural benefits, e.g. public art or 
community cultural investment funds.

Cultural participation forms a vital part of 
social prescribing. Wirral Health and Care 
Commissioners should ensure that arts and 
culture is part of the developing social prescribing 
offer.

Establish a network of partners to support the 
delivery of the recommendations included within 
this report. 

Community Connectors from 
Involve Northwest
 

Page 57



Give us your feedback

Let me know what you think of this report.

Email:  
juliewebster@wirral.gov.uk

Write:  
Julie Webster 
Wirral Council
Marriss House
Hamilton Street
Wirral
CH41 5AL

For more information: 
Wirral Intelligence Service 
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/jsna/public-health-annual-reports/

Special thanks go to the following people who supported the production of this report:

Pam Sullivan, Michelle Daverin, Justine Molyneux, the Community Connector Team at 
Involve North West, Jamie Anderson, Gail Mooney, Kate Menear, Alison Bailey-Smith, Clare 
McColgon, Kathy Warren, Lee Pennington, Greg Edwards, Jane Morgan, Lucy Barrow,  
Nikki Boardman and all those who participated in the two stakeholder workshops.

Thanks also go to the PHAR editorial team:  
Nikki Jones, Tessa Woodhouse, Sarah Kinsella, Rachel Howey and Rachael Musgrave.

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        21Page 58

mailto:juliewebster@wirral.gov.uk
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/jsna/public-health-annual-reports/


Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
3 JULY, 2019

MINUTE EXTRACT

6 SCRUTINY REVIEW INTO STATUTORY CARE PLANS 

Councillor Tom Usher, who had been the Committee Chairman when the Scrutiny 
Review had been carried out, presented the report which provided the findings and 
recommendations emanating from the Statutory Care Plans Scrutiny Review. The 
Review had been arranged to consider criticisms about Care Plans in general, and 
had met with social workers, young people, partner agencies and housing providers. 

Members appreciated the depth of the review and supported the recommendations.

RESOLVED: That

1. the contents and recommendations of the Scrutiny Report, ‘Statutory Care 
Plans’ be supported; and

 
2. the report be referred to the next appropriate Cabinet meeting for 

consideration of the recommendations made.

Page 61

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Wednesday, 3 July 2019

REPORT TITLE: STATUTORY CARE PLANS

REPORT OF: HEAD OF INTELLIGENCE (SCRUTINY 
TEAM MANAGER)
BUSINESS SERVICES

REPORT SUMMARY
This report (included as Appendix 1) provides the findings and recommendations 
emanating from the Statutory Care Plans Scrutiny Review

Members of the Children and Families Overview & Scrutiny Committee are 
requested to consider the contents of this report and support the recommendations 
arising from this review.

RECOMMENDATION/S

1. Members of the Committee are requested to support the contents and 
recommendations of the Scrutiny Report, ‘Statutory Care Plans; 

2. The report be referred to the next appropriate Cabinet meeting for 
consideration of the recommendations made.

Page 63



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
The Scrutiny Review report is subject to review by Members of the Committee 
and is required to be referred to Cabinet for consideration.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

Not Applicable

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 As part of the Children and Families Overview & Scrutiny Committee’s Work 
Programme, a Task & Finish Scrutiny Review on Care Plans was agreed.  
The Review Panel consisted of Cllrs. Tom Usher, Chris Carubia, Chris 
Meaden, Jean Stapleton and Cherry Povall

3.2 It was agreed that Cllr Tom Usher would be the Chair of the Panel.  The 
review was conducted over several meetings held with relevant Council 
officers, the Children in Care Council, publications from other local authorities 
and public bodies. 

3.3 The Review Panel’s objectives in doing this work were to understand the 
implications of the 2016 Ofsted Report and subsequent Improvement Journey 
and to present a series of recommendations designed to help improve care 
planning in Wirral 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
Not Applicable

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
Not Applicable

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS
Not Applicable. 

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
Not Applicable

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 
Not Applicable

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

Page 64



This report is for information to Members and there are no direct equality 
implications.

REPORT AUTHOR: Anna Perrett
Scrutiny Officer
0151 691 8564
email:  annaperret@wirral.gov.uk

 
APPENDICES:
Appendix 1: Care Plan Scrutiny Review

Background Papers
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date

Page 65

mailto:annaperret@wirral.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Statutory Care Plans
Scrutiny Review

A report produced by the

Children and Families Overview & Scrutiny Committee
July 2019 Final Report

Page 67



2

Contents
1. Introduction ..........................................................................................................................................3

2. Membership .........................................................................................................................................4

3. Scope ....................................................................................................................................................5

4. Methodology ........................................................................................................................................5

5. Overview of Care Planning ...................................................................................................................5

Key Points .................................................................................................................................................5

When looking at care plans members were asked to consider the following;.........................................6

6. Care Plans .............................................................................................................................................6

7. CIC Council ............................................................................................................................................8

Discussion .................................................................................................................................................9

1. How much do you know about your care plan, and how much input did you have into it? ............9

2. What was your relationship like with your social worker?...............................................................9

3. How well do you think your foster care/residential placement arrangements work?.....................9

4. How were your educational/medical needs met?..........................................................................10

8. Stakeholder Sessions ..........................................................................................................................11

Overview.................................................................................................................................................11

Heads of Service .....................................................................................................................................11

IROs.........................................................................................................................................................13

Social Workers ........................................................................................................................................13

Team Managers ......................................................................................................................................14

Education group .....................................................................................................................................15

Foster Carers.......................................................................................................................................16

9. Partner agencies .................................................................................................................................17

Health .....................................................................................................................................................17

Housing...................................................................................................................................................18

10. Overview from Legal services .........................................................................................................20

11. Closing summary & full list of recommendations. ......................................................................22

Attendees: ..................................................................................................................................................24

Appendix.....................................................................................................................................................26

Page 68



3

1. Introduction 

The Ofsted report of 2016 raised specific areas of concern relating to care planning in Wirral. As such, 
Members of the Children and Families Overview & Scrutiny Committee requested a comprehensive 
review of Care Planning in Wirral. This task and finish took over 10 months and panel members spoke to 
over 30 officers, foster carers and service users across Wirral. The review kept in mind the Ofsted 
inspection framework of 2018, and the following Key Issues.  

Key issues in care plans highlighted by Ofsted in 2016

 There are widespread and serious failures in the services provided to children who need help 
and protection in Wirral. Services for care leavers are inadequate, because the local authority 
does not know where many of its care leavers are living or what they are doing, and some of 
the most vulnerable have not received a service that adequately recognizes risk. Services for 
children looked after and children in need of adoption require improvement. This 
demonstrates a significant deterioration in the quality of all services that children and young 
people receive since Wirral was last inspected in 2011 and 2012.
 

 Despite significant investment in training for frontline and middle managers and Independent 
Reviewing Officers (IROs), managers do not clearly communicate good practice standards to 
social workers through managerial oversight of case records and workers’ supervision files. 
IRO challenge, while increasingly present, is ineffective and does not lead to positive change 
for children. As a result, a culture of over-optimism often goes unchallenged. 

 
 Case recording is sometimes so poor that it is not possible to tell how decisions have been 

reached or even what has happened as a result of intervention in children’s lives. 
Assessments and plans are often insufficiently focused on what will make the most difference 
for children and young people within a timescale that is right for them. 

 
 While most social workers’ caseloads are not excessive, they are often complex. The local 

authority has high levels of staff changes for a variety of reasons, including sickness absence 
and staff turnover. As a result, children and young people experience too many changes of 
worker, making it difficult for them to form enduring, positive relationships with staff. 

 The Children in Care Council is active and influential and is well supported by an effective 
inclusion team. The contribution that children and young people make to strategic planning is 
a strength.  

Page 69



4

2. Membership

Members of the Task and Finish Review Panel 

Cllr Tom Usher (Chair)

  Chair’s Personal Statement

‘’After the 2016 Ofsted inspection, in which “widespread and serious failures” were found in children’s 
services, scrutiny of these areas became ever more important in order to track progress on the 
improvement journey. One of the key issues of the 2016 report was that care plans needed to be specific, 
realistic, and achieve change, as well as being informed by the views of children and young people.

In the spirit of this comment, our approach as a scrutiny committee since then has been to engage with 
those children and young people, to speak with frontline staff, and to ensure we are making specific and 
realistic recommendations to decision-makers. This new approach was designed to ensure that we knew 
the services within our remit better than before, and that we could speak to officers about the strengths 
and challenges they face.

With this in mind, it was paramount to ensure that the central document would inform professionals about 
a child’s life and that the decisions taken around that child were improving at pace. The Children and 
Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee set about a major piece of work in reviewing Statutory Care 
Plans.

This review has run alongside the improvement journey in Children’s Services and has been informed by 
conversations with the Care Leaver’s Council, as well as engaging with professionals responsible for 
creating, challenging and using care plans to inform their decision.

Ultimately this review has now been completed. What has been demonstrated by the professionals and 
young people we engaged with, as well as the panel members themselves is this: Much work has been 
done to get things right, but our responsibility to do better by the children in our care is never done.’’

Other members of the panel include:

Cllr Jean Stapleton, Cllr Cherry Povall, Cllr Chris Carubia, Cllr Chris Meaden

Page 70



5

3. Scope 

At a meeting on 1st August 2019, the scope and meeting schedule was agreed by the panel and can be 
found in the appendix of this report. 

4. Methodology

The scrutiny review was informed through:

 An overview of care planning – Held in September 2018
 Reviewing of 5 individual care plans – Held in December 2018
 A meeting with the Children in Care Council – Held in January 2019
 Meeting with key frontline staff: Service Managers, IROs, Education Group, Social Workers, 

Team Managers and Foster Carers - Held in March 2018  
 Reality Check Visits to Health Providers – Held in December 2018
 A meeting with Housing providers and Legal Services – Held in April 2019
 The Ofsted inspection of 2016, and subsequent monitoring visits.
 The review was also informed by the Centre for Public Scrutiny Guidelines on reviewing 

children’s services

5. Overview of Care Planning

The making of a care plan is central to the requirements set out in the Care Planning, Placement and 
Case Review Regulations 2010. The care plan should contain information about how the child’s current 
developmental needs will be met as well as the arrangements for the current and longer-term care for 
the child. It ensures that there is a long-term plan for the child’s upbringing (referred to as ‘the 
permanence plan’) to which everyone is working, including the team around the child, the child and, 
where appropriate, the family. There should be clarity in the care plan, particularly about the desired 
outcomes for the child and those expected from services and other actions identified. This clarity will 
support effective reviews of the child’s case to monitor the progress made towards meeting the short- 
and long-term goals for the child and their family and carers.

  Key Points

1. To ensure that children and their families and the child’s carers are treated with openness and 
honesty and understand the decisions that are made.

2. To provide clarity about the allocation of responsibilities and tasks, in the context of shared parenting 
between parents, the child’s carers and the corporate parents and ensure that actions lead to improved 
outcomes.

Page 71



6

3. To demonstrate accountability in the way in which the functions of local authorities under the 1989 
Act are exercised. 

When looking at care plans members were asked to consider the following;

Child Focused - is the child at the centre of the plan? Are they in care because they need to be? Has the 
child been consulted about their wishes and feelings? Are parents consulted about their children? Are 
key agencies involved, e.g. schools or CAMHS? 

Members were also asked to consider whether care planning was SMART focused.

Part of the Ofsted recommendations for Wirral focused on the lack of Personal Education Plans (PEPs) and 
Strengths & Difficulties Questionnaires (SDQs) in order to assess the educational and health needs of each 
CLA as part of care planning. SDQs are a screening tool used to measure vulnerability to emotional and 
mental ill health. Progress regarding SDQs has been made since Ofsted and now 88% of SDQs are complete 
for Wirral’ s CLA. The next challenge is to ensure the quality of education and health assessments and to 
measure how these assessments inform care plans and make a positive difference. 

Ofsted also identified a lack of effective planning for permanence. Wirral should be better at planning for 
going home or planning other permanent arrangements for children and young people in our care. Care 
plans for CLA should be focused on outcomes e.g. adoption plans for younger children and for older 
children exploring all solutions including parental support.

Independent Reviewing Officers (IROs) play a key role in the review of care plans and in ensuring that 
there is a focus on permanence. Wirral has recently changed the way that IROs look at care plans to give 
a greater emphasis to permanence. The Panel was informed that questions such as “So what?” and “What 
difference has this made?’’ would challenge officers to demonstrate that care plans have a positive impact 
on children’s lived experience. 

6. Care Plans

In December 2018 Member viewed 5 Care Plans. Consent forms were issued to the carers of all children 
involved; it was agreed that anonymity would be maintained, and the report would not contain identifying 
details. 

Page 72



7

The first area of focus was whether children are in care for the right reasons. Ofsted rated Wirral as good 
in this area in 2016. There should always be a clear purpose for children becoming looked after. It should 
be stated clearly why we have taken these decisions and include an assessment of all relevant risks. The 
5 care plans looked at had clear and evidenced reasons for care proceedings, and members were satisfied 
as to the reasons for the child being placed into care. 

The new policy in Wirral is for all children looked after to have annual care plan re-assessments to update 
their care plan. This should take place annually, or more often if there are significant changes to a child’s 
circumstances. This represents a change in culture and practice for front-line staff. Additionally, it is 
important that assessments are child focused, with an emphasis on identifying the child’s needs rather 
than identifying what services are needed. An example was given that a poor plan would state that a child 
‘needs therapy’. A child focused plan would explain why the child needs therapy, such as ‘recognising that 
the child needed support with attachment issues.

It was noted that, whilst initial assessments of children’s needs when they came into care were made, 
Wirral had not historically reviewed these assessments or periodically repeated assessments for children 
in care over a long period of time. It was therefore possible for a child who enters the system at four years 
old to still be in the system ten years later without a reassessment taking place. In cases where the child 
had social worker continuity this was less of an issue as the social worker will be familiar with the child’s 
changing needs and circumstances and will continually review needs and make piecemeal changes to care 
plans. However, the lack of systematic, periodic and documented reassessments of children’s needs to 
inform care plans had been identified as weakness. Members were advised that work around auditing had 
picked up since 2016, and this was emphasized again by the service leads during the stakeholder session. 
The auditors assisting members had a wealth of experiences and were able to pick up issues in the care 
plans. 

 When several children are from the same family are looked after measures should be taken to ensure 
information held in each child’s file is clear. Members recognised that certain information recorded on 
sibling plans needs to be identical, whist some needs to be individualized.  It was noted that the child’s 
individual needs can get lost in care notes and the audit trail is not always clear enough. Concerns were 
raised by the auditors regarding one case involving a large sibling group that procedure had not been 
followed as well as it might, and the individual care plans were fragmented. 

Officers highlighted problems with care plan recording and the importance of accurately updated care 
plans. They highlighted concerns that whilst chronologies are held on system, a glitch in the liquid logic 
meant that they can be wiped accidentally when not saved correctly. It would appear that cases are 
updated and submitted, but due to a system quirk information would sometimes get lost.

It was agreed that higher caseloads cause problems and members queried how often relationships 
between social Workers and Children Looked After break down. It was confirmed that previous high 
numbers of agency staff and interim managers had caused problems, and that is was now better having 
static management teams. 

Members queried the 20 million cash injection into Children’s Services and asked whether this has led to 
an increase in Social Workers. There are still around 40 vacancies, but these are filled by agency staff.  
This is a reduction from 101 vacancies in October 2017. Officers advised that social workers in the 

Page 73



8

permeance team should have no more than 23 cases. Further information received from Children’s 
services confirmed that Wirral has an average of 17.3 cases per worker compared to a North West 
average of 19.4. Within the average figure there is variation as newly qualified workers hold a much 
lower caseload than more experienced workers. Occasionally they will have significantly more cases 
once a Social Worker has been on the duty team for the week. This is the case in the assessment and 
intervention team not the permeance teams. The officers questioned felt that the case injection had 
made a difference, but the effects were still coming through. 

Difficulties arise when different agencies have separate priorities and targets. For example, Police 
priorities are obviously to reduce criminal and anti-social behaviour, whereas Children’s Services may 
view this behaviour more as a safeguarding concern. Agencies must ensure the right help comes at the 
right time. Officers expressed concerns especially around the disenfranchisement of young men within 
the care system, and the effect this has on their long-term prospects once they left care. Young care 
leavers are often open to criminal exploitation, such as County Lines. In order to look at this issue more 
closely, Members attended a ‘reality check visit’ to Merseyside Police, Child Criminal Exploitation Teams 
and Early Help at the Solar Campus. A report for this has been produced separately. 

Members looked at one care plan involving an unaccompanied asylum seeker. It was noted by members 
and officers that plan was missing significant details. Members questioned how they got here, and 
whether they were trafficked.  

Members requested more details regarding this case and were provided with it outside of the 
committee. It was agreed that the Modern Slavery Scrutiny Review undertaken by Environment 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee be shared with Children and Families Overview & Scrutiny Committee. 

Recommendations

 The gaps in the chronology and care plan for the unaccompanied asylum seekers raised 
concerns regarding modern slavery, trafficking and exploitation. The draft Modern Slavery 
Strategy that is due to go to Cabinet should be cascaded down to Children’s Services once 
agreed and steps should be taken to ensure there is correct training and process in place to 
deal with this. 

 Concerns have been raised by officers that there are glitches within Liquid Logic which can 
mean that information is entered incorrectly or accidentally deleted. Members requested 
that the system is reviewed to ensure it is being used to its full capacity and that it is fit for 
purpose.  

7. CIC Council

In January 2019 Members visited the Children in Care Council at Pilgrim Street in Birkenhead. The Children 
in Care Council and Care Leavers Council are groups of young people who have all been in care, who have 
had different experiences and would like things to change for the better. Members met with 5 young 

Page 74



9

people to discuss their care plans and experienced. As promised, all identifying details have been 
removed. Members asked 5 questions, which they felt covered all relevant aspects. 

Discussion

1. How much do you know about your care plan, and how much input did you have into it? 

Opinions differed among the young people questioned. Some felt they had a good understanding of 
their plan and were given the opportunity to provide input should they want to. However, some 
respondents advised that they knew bits about their care plan and was offered some input but only felt 
like they knew the basics.

One child questioned advised that they themselves didn’t ask too many questions or know any details 
regarding their care plan; they advised that they had trust issues involving social workers and did not 
like to open or ask questions. When questioned, Members were advised that this was because they had 
a rotation of social workers, and no warning over changes.  However, Members were reassured that the 
Young People were aware of the reasons they had been taken into care.

2. What was your relationship like with your social worker?

There was no clear consensus when it came to relationships with social workers, perhaps due to 
variations in situation and personality. One child advised that their first social worker was excellent, but 
that changed when a temporary social worker was introduced.

The young people interviewed advised that most social workers were good, consistent, and good 
listeners but this was hindered by high caseloads. Members commented that there had been in increase 
in permanent full-time staff in recent years but acknowledged that case work was still high. They 
understood that changes had been made, but understandably still found it difficult to repeat their 
personal history to a rotation of social workers, only for them to be changed with no warning.

They also found it difficult when social workers went off sick or on holiday and advised they were not 
informed of longer absences and didn’t always know details of anyone else they could contact in times 
of need. Some situations were described where social workers had helped them introduce or maintain 
family relationships. One example given was being reunited with a parent and meeting new siblings. This 
had been a very positive experience for the young person and had been encouraged and facilitated by 
the social worker.

3. How well do you think your foster care/residential placement arrangements work?

Two main issues were raised regarding placements which were of concern to members.

 One young spoke of problems with certain housing services. Members were advised that they 
were supposed to visit accommodation with their Personal Assistant (P.A) to view rooms. 
however, they are offered accommodation and feel compelled to accept it immediately in case 

Page 75



10

they lose it. This does not make them feel like they have any choice when choosing 
accommodation.

Members were also advised that once a young person is over 18 and working then they pay a 
high weekly charge to the housing provider. They felt that they were being penalised for 
working and needing supported accommodation. One young person advised that if they had 
paid then they would have been -£44 a week down (Assistance was provided and Children’s 
services offered to contribute £11 per week towards this, but this did not cover the full cost). 
One CLA advised they were back living with a parent in overcrowded accommodation due to 
this.

Further to this, problems were cited navigating Property Pool Plus. Members were advised that 
some CLA sat on band E until they could supply enough documentation, after which they were 
placed on band B. This issue was raised at a later session with housing providers and a 
explanation of explanation of the current situation provided in section 8 of the review.  

 Members questioned the Staying Put scheme. One young person advised she wanted to stay but 
now has her own flat as her foster carer ‘’wanted more money”. The young people interviewed 
questioned the motivation of some foster carers and that once CLA turn 18, Foster Carers can 
change rent. One Foster Carer was quoted as saying;

“He works full time, why am I funding him?”

Members endeavoured to raise this issue at the stakeholder meeting.

4. How were your educational/medical needs met?

The Young People questioned were aware of their Personal Education Plan (PEP) but did not indicate 
that they had much input into it or discussed it with their co-ordinator. Members were advised that CLA 
had bi-annual meetings with the School nurse, and they were registered to their GP. They spoke 
positively about their health passport and confirmed it was very helpful to have their medical history in 
one place.

The care leavers questioned confirmed they had access to an employability coach via the 14-19 service 
and confirmed that they had found this useful. They also mentioned previous problems with employers 
(which have been omitted due to confidentiality) and advisers where they felt they could be given more 
support navigating employment and that they were conscious of being spoken to differently as Children 
Looked After 

5. What more could the council do to help Children looked after?

The young adults questioned were enthusiastic about the session and advised they would like more 
contact with the Councillors. They appreciated the opportunity to be heard and were pleased to hear 
that local politicians were taking an interest in them

Page 76



11

Recommendations 

 Members suggested that a meeting could be held regularly between scrutiny members and 
the children in care council to discuss issues. This suggestion was welcomed, and the CIC were 
enthusiastic about Members attending other events.

 Corporate parenting training for all Councillors, regardless of Committee Membership should 
be kept up to date.

 Communications – There was a notable lack of understanding of their individual care plans 
and their agency over it. Changes to care plans, staff and policy are not communicated to CLA 
as well as they could be. 

 Committee to explore the resources given to children leaving care on employment readiness

8. Stakeholder Sessions

Overview

In March 2019 Members met the following stakeholders to discuss care planning with a wide range of 
staff and service users.

 Heads of Service: Members met with the heads of Commissioning, Ian Godfrey and Permanence, 
Eifion Burke for an overview of their services

 IRO’s: Responsible for providing Health Challenge and accountability to social workers over their 
Care Plans, and the subsequent decisions made. 

 Social Workers: The Most regular point of contact for a child and chiefly responsible for the writing 
and co-ordination of care planning. 

 Team Managers: experienced Social Workers who carry out the day to day management of teams, 
supervising the work and ensuring decisions are made in a timely and appropriate manner

 Education Group: consisting of the Virtual Head Teacher and the improving educational outcomes 
team. Their remit is to raise the attainment of Children Looked After, Reduce absence and tackle 
exclusions.

 Foster Carers: are responsible for the care of children in their homes, who have been placed there 
by the Local Authority. This can be either respite or short-term care, or a longer arrangement. 

Heads of Service

Ian and Eifion noted that the culture of the organisation has changed significantly over the last few 
years, and the aim to promote a positive culture and ensure permanency across the service. Processes 
are now in place and the workforce is more stable. It is certainly much better than before. Legacy had a 
sense of drift; care planning processes have improved dramatically. 

Page 77



12

Members were reassured that there is now more training in place, as well as a significant increase in 
permanent staff and senior management. There is now a permanent senior leadership team supported 
by a team manager group with currently one vacancy. This is assisting in providing more stability to 
social workers.  There was an agreement that there is still significant work to be done to improve the 
quality of care plans, but the momentum in recent years is bearing fruit.  
 
There was discussion around utilizing the individual skill sets of social workers and foster carers and that 
care planning around the needs of the child needs embedding. Queries were raised around care leavers 
further to a meeting with CIC council. It was agreed that more work needed to be done regarding 
housing for care leavers. The issues raised at the care leavers session were put to the heads of service 
and addresses a later session with housing providers (see part 8)

Members also raised questions about Children who have had the worst experience, trauma or complex 
needs, and how officers deal with those who won’t engage. Officers responded by acknowledging there 
were problems when care leavers don’t meet the criteria for adult social care. From the feedback 
received about ownership of the care/pathway plans, they would be more likely to respond if they had 
more understanding of the plans in the first place.  

Members questioned how children are paired up with the correct social workers and foster 
carers. There have been negative stories with bad matches. Officers responded that this is the most 
challenging environment in 30 years. Some foster carers have an approval range and age range. But 
often they do not have the luxury of choice, due to the number of children in the care system and the 
availability of Foster carers.

Members queries whether considerations given to matching children with foster carers with the same 
ethnic background? The majority of CIC are white British or white European. There is a small cohort of 
unaccompanied asylum seekers. In these cases, it can be difficult to meet needs, but Children’s services 
aim to do this as much as possible. Semi-Independent living can be useful if appropriate. It can be 
difficult as Wirral as a community is not that ethnically diverse.  

Members mentioned the Staying Put scheme, which enables Care Leavers aged 18 and above to stay on 
with their former foster carers. Officers responded by confirming that there are currently 40 children in 
Staying Put arrangements, but Wirral must be careful not to force it on them. It was noted that due to 
the massive number of CLA officers would rather not utilize the Staying Put scheme as they would rather 
have the 40+ foster carers. However, if it’s the right thing for the child then obviously that would be the 
priority. 

It was noted that a lot of children in care have been in care for a long time. When opening these care 
plans up, it is worth noting that there is a lot of historic negative information – new care plans are better 
quality but there are some legacy issues. Historically care planning has not been of a high quality but are 
now being audited more frequently and rectified.
 
Members questioned how care plans were audited and were advised that there has been an increase in 
audits, which has offered a better understanding of where issues lie. The themes that have emerged are 
now being tackled, with more rigorous processed put in place. However, processes are now in place and 
there is a more stable workforce. 

Page 78



13

There was also cause for celebration. Officers noted that care planning to achieve positive outcomes 
was improving, with 10 children going into higher education this year.  This is the highest number of 
Children Looked After and Care Leavers achieving this milestone to date. 

IROs

Independent reviewing officers (IROs) are an independent safeguarding unit and their role is 
to scrutinize and ensure care plans are consistent. Their role is one of accountability and they offer 
social workers friendly challenge on the effectiveness and appropriateness of care plans. IRO’s 
undertake Child Protection Conferences where they have oversite of the care plan. They make sure the 
plans work for the child and that risk is reduced. Once the plans have reached LAC stage, they can 
escalate concerns and take the case back to court. IROs must ratify the care plans and challenge. They 
also must ensure that contingency planning is also on the agenda.  

There are now 15 full time staff alongside 3 agency staff. This is a significant change from 2016 when 
care leavers were supported by a much smaller number of staff.  The number of children looked after is 
not coming down quickly, However, it was agreed that the co-location of staff has meant that challenge 
is easier. Care Planning processes and policy are embedded now, which means it should be harder to get 
it wrong.  

   
Members were reassured to hear the IROs felt that accountability, praise, leadership and process had 
improved since 2016, which has had a cumulative effect on service. They were also pleased to hear that 
the IROs felt they could effectively challenge and escalate issues. The focus is now on quality, and the 
IROs felt that care planning is now more aspirational. Concern was raised by members over the IROs 
workload and whether this impacted on the amount of time they could spend getting to know the 
children – they advised that they can have up to 80-90 cases each. This raises capacity concerns, but 
officers advised that some children require less contact dependent on their circumstances.  
 
The Iro’s Identified that Drift and delay are still issues, and some CLA have been in care for too long, 
however this was acknowledged as mostly a legacy issue and because of the ‘risk averse’ nature of the 
Local Authority. 
 
Social Workers

A number of social workers participated in the stakeholder’s session, with various levels of experience. 
There were also permanent and voluntary staff.  The Social Worker’s volunteered how much the new 
agile working kits are assisting them with care planning as they help them to connect and that CLA are 
now more involved and engaged. Children are happy to work alongside Social Workers using the agile 
working kit. 
Members asked whether the Social worker felt that the care plans were more child focused. It was 
agreed that they were more holistic and that there has been a massive change in the collective mindset. 
Casework is still high, but not as high as it used to be. Members queried time scales regarding workloads 
and were advised this is very issue dependent. For example, there are time scale differences between 
making and chasing up a CAHMS Referral and filling out a passport form.

Training around care planning has improved with an emphasis of SMART planning (see item 1.3). Social 
Workers now need to question whether reports can be easily read by Children and Carers. It was agreed 

Page 79



14

by Officers and Members that it is important not to be too process driven: Social Workers don’t feel they 
are micromanaged. Individuality is there but it now underpinned. Officers add praise and 
acknowledgement of achievement.

There are legacy issues, but processes are in place and there is less ‘firefighting’. New frameworks have 
been reviewed and the STEF model is in place, so less time can be spent sorting issues and more 
consideration given to the quality of individual care plans. Staff are less transient and there is now more 
support. Members were advised that there is reflective supervision in place, regular team meetings and 
a significant change is communication. There has been historical communication issues, especially 
around multi-agency working. This is not perfect, but it is improving. There is often a difference of 
priority, for example the Police often focus on crime figures and prosecutions, whereas social workers 
are focused on the needs and safeguarding on the child. However, this has been noted as a concern and 
is being driven forward. It was also mentioned that officers often struggle to get a direct line through to 
the Police and must use the main 111 Phone-line which often causes delays.

Officers confirmed that here have been communication problems between agencies, but now 
everyone is required to give input. Again, Officers highlighted problems with other agencies using Liquid 
Logic. It is either not used, or not updated properly. However, members were reassured that the I.T 
support systems for Liquid Logic are good. 
 
Members asked how much emphasis is there for contingency in the care plans. For example, when a 
Foster Carer gets rushed into hospital. However, it should be noted that ‘contingency plans’ are not 
appropriate terminology and can increase anxiety. It needs to be normalised, similar to what you’d tell 
any child to do in an emergency.  
 

Team Managers

Members queried the Team Mangers’ perspectives on care plans and whilst it was agreed that caseloads 
are still high, co-working is assisting with this. It was agreed that they are focusing on getting the 
language right. Team Managers expressed the opinion that caseloads were better. When asked about 
cases that suffered from legacy issues (e.g. a poorly written care plan) they explained that the process 
was to give this case to a permanent social worker and to review all aspects of the care plan to ensure 
the legacy issues were dealt with. Complex cases of 2 or 3 within a caseload of 20 is not unusual. 

Queries were made about ensuring the voice of the child was captured, and Team Managers expressed 
that it was an integral part of their role to ensure this was done. It was not unusual now for Team 
Managers to send care plans back to their respective social workers multiple times before being satisfied 
that the voice of the child had been sufficiently captured.

Care planning can be creative, but plans are now more robust. It is now easier to challenge the courts, 
often with excellent outcomes.  

Several points were raised relating to partners. One Team Manager noted that the timeliness of partner 
contributions had improved due to stronger partnership working. A specific example of this was that 
Health professionals being located at the solar campus (unsure which team at the solar campus they 
were referring to specifically) had ensured their attendance at meetings.

Page 80



15

 
‘’We are acknowledging where we are, and where we want to be’’.
 
Children’s services take on everything from safeguarding to education, and for they must provide a 
quality service. There are new processes in place for everything. Team managers are flagging problems 
swiftly and can set targets for improvement.  Skills analysis identifies training, and officers try and use 
resources already available. There have been changes in departments, processes and procedures. 
Members were reassured to hear the officers receive regular feedback through the Children in Care 
Council, and young people were able to contact senior managers directly to highlight concerns. It was 
pointed out that a pack given to members of the CICC included information on how to raise concerns if 
needed.

Education group

Members enquired how well the education group can contribute to the Personal Education Plan (PEPs). 

The new PEP forms focus on several different things:  

 The first part of the form is filled out with vital information. 
 The second contains the care plan and holistic info. 
 There is also a section on how to reassure the child when they are exhibiting 

challenging behaviour
 A further section to be completed by the social worker regarding their care plans
 The final part contains Pastoral targets such as support outcomes and methods. 

Regarding the educational outcomes of CLA, members were advised that once in a secure environment 
progression is good. However, it is attainment that is the problem; the benchmark is lower, so whilst 
progression is good attainment is still lower. However, the this is not treated as an excuse. Extra work is 
undertaken to accelerate and track progress. 
 
It was noted that the work Fiona O’Shaughnessy did was so important, to view the child as a whole 
person and help them learn to live normal lives. Regarding partnership working, overall it was agreed 
that agencies have been very receptive to changes and are on board with this philosophy. 

 
The importance of joint training was emphasized, to ensure a coordinated approach It was also noted 
that the new early help scheme Community Matters will assist greatly to help the young person and 
support families. Community Matters will see new ways of helping families and children get help they 
need, when they need it, through partnership working and maximising existing resources. The Fender 
Primary School and other Community Hub Schools are working with the Big Brother Big Sisters group to 
provide mentoring to vulnerable children.  This scheme aims to help children reach their potential by 
offering one- to -one mentoring services. Officers work with the pastoral leads in schools so they are 
more attuned to the needs of CLA.
 
Regarding mental health/CAHMS provision for CLA, every school in Wirral now has access to a Primary 
Mental Health Worker. The advice line has reduced hospital admissions overall by 50%. There are also 
early help provisions available to children whilst waiting for a CAHMS referral, such as mindfulness 

Page 81



16

training. However, it was noted that there is still a delay between referrals and appointments and 
Members raised this as a concern.

Foster Carers

The Foster Carer panel initially expressed concerns regarding the allocation of new social workers. They 
felt the support they had received up to this point had been amazing, however they were concerned 
about the changes.

This had caused some upset, as a few of the foster carers had worked with their social workers for years 
and felt they had an incredibly close bond. The Foster Carers understood the restructuring that had 
occurred within Children’s Services, and they understood the need to put the right people in the right 
places, but they did not feel this had been communicated in the best way. It was apparent that trust and 
experience are essential to the Foster Carers so issues can be flagged quickly.  Regarding the 
communication of changes within the service, some felt that they only heard undercurrents, and felt 
they were the last to find out. 

There was discussion around the allocation of support and training for Foster Carers, with some advising 
it was excellent whilst other felt they had to seek it out or relied of peer-to-peer networks. One of the 
Foster Carers has two young boys with complex needs. They felt they lacked support regarding 
additional and noted that some professionals don’t understand the need for this, which can cause 
placement breakdowns. 

Foster Carers felt they should be able to make recommendations more effectively, and it was noted that 
when they felt listened to and appreciated, they worked better.  Others stated that they did not feel like 
they were treated as professionals. Foster Carers are often thought of as volunteers and there is a little 
professionalism attached to the role.  It was agreed that Foster Carers come from all walks of life, but 
some cases it’s a full-time role and financial side needs to be considered. 

Members asked if the foster carers felt listened to. They responded by saying they need to be able to 
make recommendations. It was agreed that best practice should be that children are placed with the 
most appropriate foster carer, for example people with expertise in therapeutic care - there must be 
Foster Carers with talents that are not utilized. There were concerns about needs that are not being 
addressed: some children need therapies but there is also demand for peer mentors (for children and 
carers).  

Members were reassured that the Foster Carers felt they had total visibility of the care
Plans. There was a mixed response when asked if they involved the children, they foster in the care 
plans. One foster carer stated she thought that her children were sufficiently involved and aware of the 
content of their care plans. However, another foster carer stated that she did not involve the children in 
her care involved in care plans, as she deemed it inappropriate. Another issue picked up was that for 
some of the foster carers’ children, circumstances and needs had changed, and this was not reflected in 
their care plans or in the support they received. It was unclear how to feed this new information into 
social services so that these new needs were captured, and support forthcoming.

Page 82



17

Generally, foster carers have a positive view of the role of IROs. IROs won’t put therapies in place until a 
child has permanency. However, IROs will fight for the children. They will be assertive with both the 
foster carers and social workers if they see a problem is not being addressed.  
 

Recommendations

 Members request that achievements of CLA are celebrated in Committee (mindful of 
confidentially) and praise fed back to young people. 

 Thresholds in Wirral are low, and the authority is naturally risk averse. As such, edge of care 
services should be embedded. 

 Steps should be taken to ensure foster carers are treated professionally. Members would also 
support the introduction of an anonymous feedback form for foster carers.

 The panel would welcome a Foster Carers’ session, so that members can gain an 
understanding of the challenges Foster Carers face.

 Committee to take a closer look at CAMHS referrals and waiting times.

9. Partner agencies

Health

Members and officers expressed concerns during the care plan session that information was not shared 
between health partners and social workers as easily as it could have been, which is especially 
concerning as younger infants and children are the most vulnerable and at risk. 
In December 2018 Members visited St. Catherine’s Hospital, Birkenhead as part of the Children & 
Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s Programme of ‘Reality Check’ visits.

It was noted by members that the high number of children looked after had an impact on service 
pressures, which was complicated by notifications, systems and processes which are not as streamlined 
as they could be. It was explained to members that when a child comes into care, clinicians should be 
advised within 48 hours. However, this does not always happen if the notifications aren’t right.

There were several scenarios which could mean that there would be late, incorrect or inconsistent info 
provided. Data anomalies were of concern to members, such as the NHS systems not being compatible 
with Local Authority systems. For example, a difference in requested dates can mean that thresholds do 
not appear to have been met.  

Page 83



18

The medical professionals interviewed also advised that both the NHS and LA officers were looking at 
hot desking in both Cheshire Lines and St. Catherine’s. It is hoped that this will help gain insight into the 
respective areas. Members commented that during a previous reality check to Cheshire Lines, officers 
had noted that the co-location of staff and hot desking facilities had led to greater rapport and 
communication between existing social services teams. It was hoped that by moving NHS staff into 
Cheshire Lines will further relationship building and positive outcomes. 

Members were shown a copy of a Health Passport which was created in partnership with Children in 
Care. This is an easy reference booklet, a similar size and format to regular passports which contains 
children looked after’s medical history and healthcare needs. This aims to help children looked after’s 
take ownership of their medical needs and help them transition into adulthood. 

Like the ‘Red Book’ handed out to new mothers, this is a national initiative and can be filled out by 
doctors, nurses and medical practitioners. This is a useful and easy- to-read reference for carers and 
clinicians. However, the main aim of the passport is that it is a document created with the child’s input.  
Members queried if this took the place of medical records, but it was explained that it was more of a 
reference tool, for example to check family health or birth history etc. Health history is important, but 
CLA do not always have parents to ask.

In previous years, as Children’s services have been in a state of flux, it has been difficult to foster long 
standing relationships. As the LA endeavours to promote a more stable operating structure within 
Children’s services, it has been agreed that senior officers will shadow each other in the New Year to 
increase understanding and build relationships.

NHS staff also noted that there had been a change, and they now saw more stability with social workers 
and team managers. It was agreed that it takes a long time to build trusting relationships but were 
hopeful that this would be achievable in the future.

Housing

Further to concerns raised at the Children in Care Council, Members were keen to meet with officers 
from Operational Housing Services and a team manager from Leaving Care Services to discuss housing 
provision.

Officers advised that the range of accommodation varies depending on the age of the care leaver. The 
conduit for referrals is via Leaving Care team. There are challenges faced by the benefit system as it 
currently stands, such as the single room rate for under 35’s with no dependents. Supported 
accommodation is available, there are a number of commissioned services by the housing department 
which are available however these are not all for the sole purpose of care leavers albeit there is some 
provision specifically for care leavers.   However, once care leavers are in employment they fall into a 
classic ‘benefit trap’ situation if they remain in the supported accommodation, whereby it is often more 
financially advantageous to stay out of work as they cannot afford the rent levels and intensive housing 
management costs that previously would have been covered by their full benefits.

As mentioned above, most of the supported accommodation commissioned by housing services for 
young people is not designed solely for care leavers, it is designed for initial access or move on for 
homeless young people.  There is high demand for single accommodation from homeless young people 

Page 84



19

generally.  Care Leavers often do not like hostel accommodation offered and due to the demand on 
move on accommodation there are issues with longer-term offers of accommodation. Members queried 
whether there is anywhere care leavers can live independently. It was explained that there is a move-on 
accommodation offer in Tranmere and Wallasey. This offers self-contained flats and 24 hours on site 
support and peripatetic support is available. 

It was noted by officers that at the time of the meeting there are currently no care leavers presenting as 
street homeless in Wirral. If a care leaver does present as street homeless, then emergency 
accommodation can be found, however It may not always be what is considered suitable by care leavers 
or social workers, but it is an emergency response to respond to the presentation of homelessness.  

Currently the offer for care leavers is Forum Housing, housing associations or the private sector. One 
issue is that a young person cannot hold a tenancy agreement in their own right until they are 18. The 
Local Authority can enter into a tenancy agreement with young people – but the corporate parent 
would be trustee.

Finding suitable accommodation is one of the biggest challenges the Local Authority has, and there are 
significant challenges attached to move on accommodation. Additionally, accommodation available to 
young people up to the age of 24 is now silting up due to single room housing benefits and also 
demands and legal obligations to young homeless people generally.   

It was agreed that there needs to be strategic future planning, for the 13-15 year-old Children Looked 
After. Overall there are currently 8.5 thousand people registered on Property Pool Plus, and 
approximately 10-15% get housed per year.  For care leavers registered this statistic is higher, with 34% 
of care leavers registered being rehoused and securing tenancies. Members were assured that Care 
Leavers are put on a higher banding which is also backdated to their 16 Birthday to give them a greater 
chance of being housed. A Property Pool Plus officer is also part of the Leaving Care Monthly Panel 
Meeting.

Officers stated that they needed to get smarter at advising care leavers – more joined up thinking is 
required. Different levels of support should be available, and what are the housing offers should be on 
one page. It was agreed that introducing a workbook would be a good idea – This would manage 
expectations, provide young people with a guide to tenancies and signpost support.  

Members queried private renting and noted that the same offer of support should extend to landlords. 
Estate agents are reassured by the PAs, but it was agreed they may need to put more in place.  
Previously, the Local Authority has paid the price when properties have been left in a state of disrepair.

Whilst the Staying Put scheme in Wirral is successful, there are still approximately 50-60 care leavers per 
year. There is a pilot project being undertaken with Regenda Housing, where there is a house with 24-
hour support provided for care leavers who need substantial level of support when leaving care. There 
are currently 3 bed spaces in this unit and between Children’s and Housing they are looking to 
commission a further scheme to link up to a further 8 bed spaces across potentially a further 2 
properties. This will be able to provide further semi-independent living for people to move on from the 
main 24-hour support.  The Local Authority and Regenda have now identified 2 suitably sized properties 
which they are looking to take forward 

Page 85



20

There was a discussion around how to provide care leavers with life skills. Some are not that clear about 
the housing options available to them and they often have not been provided with guidance or 
budgeting skills. Clearly, this is advice the PAs give; however, it does depend on how challenging the 
case is. Members were concerned that caseloads meant that there was limited scope for regular contact 
with the child. Some care leavers do need multiple visits a week, and there is a statutory minimum for 
visits which is once every 46 days. This has a compliance rate of 89-99%, and a grant received to recruit 
more staff. Officers are keen to improve the quality and innovation of the pathway plans.

Recommendations

 Housing for care leavers is put on the work programme and partnership working explored.
 Scrutiny to put support behind the supported living pilot and to receive updates. 
 Members would endorse the introduction of a guidebook to help care leavers navigate 

housing. 
 Committee would put its support behind the use of Discretionary Housing Payments to help 

care leavers cover the first 6 months of their tenancy. 

10. Overview from Legal services

Wirral has 4 solicitors and 2 temporary solicitors who work with Children’s Services. The only family 
court in Cheshire and Merseyside is based in Liverpool. It is a notably difficult area of law, and this can 
be compounded by factors such as witnesses being overseas. As part of the final session in April 2019, 
Members requested an overview of care planning from Legal Services at Wirral Borough Council

Care plans have an 18-point check list and there are several factors which should be well defined:

 Time scales should be in place
 The arrangements should be clear, and decisions should be evidenced
 Information regarding the IRO should be included
 Details of PEP and Medical should be clear
 There should be a robust contingency plan

The Solicitor explained that court orders cannot be made until the care plan has been scrutinized by the 
court. The court plan may not need as much detail as the corporate plan, but the decisions must be 
robust and evidenced in all plans, especially in cases of adoption. 

There is a time scale of 26 weeks from application, however there is provision to extend proceedings. 
There are several hearings: a case management hearing, issue resolution hearing at week 20, and a final 

Page 86



21

hearing. The court must consider all options at the end of the final hearing. The outcomes can go from 
no care orders being implemented to an adoption order. The court will look closely at the parent’s 
capacity to discharge care. 

Sloppy case work is not acceptable, as the court requires a detailed analysis of each option to evidence 
everything has been considered. 

Members expressed concern about adoptions falling thorough, and whether this was to do with poor 
case work. The care plans should emphasize the benefits and risks and, in some cases, children do come 
back into the care system when adoptions breakdown

In one case a child was not placed for adoption because the child was found to have siblings cared for by 
other family members - the Local Authority Care Plan was for adoption, but the court concluded that the 
sibling relationship was more important. 

Questions were asked about historic issues around care planning. It was noted that at times the court 
and the guardian does not always agree, and it must be argued out in court. 

There are significant issues in keeping to the times scales, and legal often need to request extensions. 
There can often by a failure to keep to time, or the evidence is not robust enough – it has ticked the 
boxes, but it is not a thorough analysis. It was also noted that some officers are uneasy about going to 
court. 

Concerns were raised about the Family Courts going with what the guardians want, rather than the plan 
the LA has set out. It was noted that the Courts do not always have confidence with the plans and will 
put a care order into place instead of a supervision order. However, members were reassured that the 
plans are getting better, evidence is more robust, and that officers now understand analytics. The use of 
risk/benefit management has also improved. 

The quality of work is still variable but is largely due to individuals rather than processes. The quality of 
social work has improved dramatically in recent years.

Legal services raised concern that there is not sufficient training provided by universities in term of court 
writing skills, and a training session was run for existing social workers to improve quality – written 
evidence should be of the highest quality, as this will help the officer when they are in the witness box. 

 As an example, if the plan only contains negative information regarding the parent’s then barristers will 
use this in cross examinations to undermine the credibility of the witness. Officers should be wary of 
using the word ‘concerns’, as this is not specific enough – there needs to be evidence, facts, analysis and 
conclusions. There should be no use of vague jargon and phrases such as ‘parents won’t engage’.

Members enquired as to whether these issues were solely a problem in Wirral. It was explained that 
some local authorities are quicker at meeting the deadlines for court, however outcomes suggest the 
court may not always approve the initial care plans presented.

All local authorities are challenged at some point.  Judges have spent years working in legal 
environments and may not have worked in organisations as large as local authorities. As such they may 
not always sympathise with the processes required in making a decision within the Local Authority,

Page 87



22

Member queried why a decision can’t just be made. It was explained that there can be differences of 
opinion within children’s services. 

It was noted that there are high levels of children subject to care orders placed at home in Wirral. 
Analytics have failed to pinpoint exactly why this is happening. There is no evidence to suggest there is a 
difference between authorities, and the judges are independent and make their own decisions. 

The key is good evidence, excellent written work and the ability to present in court.  There have been 
‘mock court’ training sessions held in WTH. 

Recommendations

 Continue to invest in training and support for court readiness. 
 This should include help writing plans for court and ‘mock court’ to ensure social workers 

have experience of being in the witness box. 
 Student Social workers should be encouraged to attend family court during training.

11. Closing summary & full list of recommendations.

In order to complete this scrutiny review, Members visited and spoke with many officers, service users 
and stakeholders over the course of 2018 and early into 2019. It was apparent throughout the sessions 
that turnover in the organization is directly linked to children’s ability to form long lasting and positive 
relationships with their social workers, and it effects the quality of care plans and the extent to which 
both professionals and children know their care plans.

Practice has improved, and so too has the quality of care plans and the care planning process, however 
quality still varies. It is also encouraging to note that some of the findings in this review are already out 
of date and issues have been addressed.

Ultimately, care plans are one part, albeit a significant part of an improvement in the health of an 
organization’s practice and culture, which is a constantly shifting paradigm. Even if all the issues outlined 
in the review are addressed, there will still be much work to be done to ensure that as an organization, 
we are doing everything we can to deliver first rate care and support to our young people. Care planning 
is an important aspect of this and will need to be monitored vigilantly by scrutineers and decisions 
makers alike to ensure we are constantly driving forward the quality of children’s social care on Wirral.

Page 88



23

Recommendations

 The gaps in the chronology and care plan for the unaccompanied asylum seekers raised 
concerns regarding Modern Slavery, trafficking and exploitation. The draft Modern Slavery 
Strategy that is due to go to Cabinet should be cascaded down to Children’s Services once 
agreed and steps should be taken to ensure there is correct training and process in place to 
deal with this. 

 Concerns have been raised by officers that there are glitches within Liquid Logic which can 
mean that information is entered incorrectly or accidentally deleted. Members requested 
that the system is reviewed to ensure it is being used to its full capacity and that it is fit for 
purpose.  

 Members suggested that a meeting could be held regularly between scrutiny members and 
the children in care council to discuss issues. This suggestion was welcomed, and the CIC were 
enthusiastic about Members attending other events.

 Corporate parenting training for all Councillors, regardless of Committee Membership should 
be kept up to date.

 Communications – There was a notable lack of understanding of their individual care plans 
and their agency over it. Changes to care plans, staff and policy are not communicated to CLA 
as well as they could be. 

 Committee explores the resources given to children leaving care on employment readiness.
 Members request that achievements of CLA are celebrated in Committee (mindful of 

confidentially) and praise fed back to young people. 
 Thresholds in Wirral are low, and the authority is naturally risk averse. As such, edge of care 

services should be embedded. 
 Steps should be taken to ensure foster carers are treated professionally.
 Members would support the introduction of an anonymous feedback form for foster carers.
 The panel would welcome a Foster Carers session, so that members can gain an 

understanding of the challenges Foster Carers face.
 Committee to take a closer look at CAMHS referrals and waiting times.
 Housing for care leavers is put on the work programme and partnership working explored.
 Scrutiny to put support behind the supported living pilot and to receive updates. 
 Members would endorse the introduction of a guidebook to help care leavers navigate 

housing. 
 Committee would put its support behind the use of Discretionary Housing Payments to help 

care leavers cover the first 6 months of their tenancy. 
 Continue to invest in training and support for court readiness. 
 This should include help writing plans for court and ‘mock court’ to ensure social workers 

have experience of being in the witness box. 
 Student Social workers should be encouraged to attend family court during training.

A special message of thanks goes to the Children in Care Council whose openness to questions 
contributed significantly to the direction of the review. Members appreciate the time taken to discuss 
issues with that may have been upsetting and difficult to disclose, or that they had repeated many times 
before.

Page 89



24

Attendees:
Panel:

Cllr Tom Usher (Chair of Children & Families OSC 2018/19 and chair of this review)

Cllr Cherry Povall 

Cllr Chris Carubia

Cllr Jean Stapleton

Cllr Chris Meaden

Anna Perrett (Scrutiny Officers)

Care Plan session:

Auditors

Sian Hudson 

Charmaine Morrison 

Children In Care Council:

Kerry Mehta (Head of Children’s safeguarding unit)

Julie Smith (Inclusion Support Worker)

7 Members of Children in Care Council (names removed to ensure confidentiality)

Stakeholder Session

Ian Godfrey (Head of commissioning)

Eifion Burke (Head of permeance)

IROs

Anne King 

Cheryl Taylor- Crossley 

Eva Wollaston

Karen Gray

Education Group

Trish Lewis (Head of Education)

 Diane Hollis ( Strategic Manager – Improving Educational Outcomes for Vulnerable Children)

Catherine Kerr ( Senior Manager – Schools Improvement

Page 90



25

Social Workers

Bridgita Riziva

Hannah Myles 

Chris Hardisty

Nicola Hingham 

Team Managers

Kenny, Julie

Lesley Coulson

Samantha Greenhalgh 

Gaynor McCoubrey

Foster Carers: 

Four Foster Carers – names removed for confidentiality.

Housing Session:

Lisa Newman (Head of Operational Housing Services)

Chris Pentecost (Team Manger – Leaving Care)

Legal Services: 

Vicki Shaw – (Group Solicitor -Litigation and Safeguarding) 

Special Thanks for their help facilitating sessions:

Anna Jones (Performance and Improvement Manager)

Fiona O’Shaughnessy (Involvement Manger) 

Page 91



26

Appendix

Scope Document

Review Title: Statutory Care Plan Scrutiny Review  

Responsible Committee: Children & Families Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

Date:  Wednesday 1st August 2018

1. Contact Information:

Panel Members:

Cllr Tom Usher (Chair)

Cllr Chris Carubia

Chris Meaden

Jean Stapleton

Cherry Povall

Key Officers:  

Lead departmental officers:

Simone White (Deputy Director for Children)

Ian Godfrey (Senior Manager, Children in Care)

Anna Perrett (Scrutiny Officer)

2. Review Aims:

Wirral Plan Pledge/s: 

 Vulnerable children reach their full potential

Review Objectives:

 To review the quality and effectiveness of Statutory Care Plans for looked after children.
 To involve and consult with children and young people in order to ensure that services reflect 

their needs and that they are helped to reach their potential.

To measure the extent to which Statutory Care Plans:

 Are individualised
 Have stretching targets
 Are outcome and goal focused
 Are regularly reviewed and up to date
 Evidence children’s participation in developing their plans
 Are shared with young people and reflect their wishes and feelings 

Page 92



27

Scrutiny Outcomes:

 Members will receive assurance about the quality and effectiveness of the Statutory Care Plan.
 Identify areas for service improvement and make recommendations to this effect.
 Ensure service user feedback is incorporated within the outcomes of the review.

3.  Review Plan

Review Approach: Workshop, Evidence Days

The Task & Finish Group will undertake the following activities:

 Meetings with relevant Council Officers (see below)
 Meetings with external stakeholders (see below)
 Attend the Children in Care Council and Care Leavers Council
 The Panel Will look at individual care plans and meet with the service users. 

Review Duration:

 It is planned to complete the review before the end of the 2018/19 municipal year. 

Scheduled Committee Report Date:

 Children and Families O&S Committee, 3rd July 2019

Scheduled Cabinet Report Date:

 Cabinet, to be arranged

4. Sources of Evidence:

Key Witnesses:

Wirral Council Staff:

 Social Workers (ranging in experience)
 Team Managers
 Independent Reviewing Officers
 Virtual Head Teacher

Page 93



28

External Stakeholders:

 Head Teachers representative
 Safeguarding lead with the Clinical Commissioning Group 

Service Users

 Foster Parents
 Children in Care
 Special Guardians

Supporting Papers / Documentation:

Documents will include:

 Relevant policies, procedures and practice standards
 Young Persons Guide to Care Planning
 Staff training documents – including “What Makes A Good Social Worker” document being 

developed by Wirral Children in Care Council
 Sample of care plans

Involvement of service users / public:

 The views of service users, in this case a sample of looked after children will be captured 
through the Children In Care Council

 Views of foster carers.

5. Key Communications:

Cabinet Member:

 The scope document will be shared with the relevant portfolio holder at the start of the review 
(Portfolio folder for Children’s Services, Cllr Bernie Mooney).

 The draft report will also be discussed in advance of being finalised by the task & finish group, 
before being presented to the Children and Families Overview & Scrutiny Committee for 
approval.

Press Office:

 The scope document will be sent to the press office on approval.
 The final report will be referred to the press office for information. 

Page 94



CABINET
 30 SEPTEMBER 2019

APPROVAL OF REVISED LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME FOR 
WIRRAL – JULY 2019

Councillor Anita Leech, Cabinet Member for Wirral’s Local Plan, said: 

“The Local Development Scheme sets out the Council’s programme for producing key 
planning documents which underpin Wirral’s Local Plan. Together they set out our vision for 
the borough over the next 15 years. 

The Council is currently pressing ahead with preparing the Local Plan which will play a key 
role in meeting the authority’s pledges relating to people, business and the environment: it 
presents an opportunity for regeneration in the borough, tackling inequality and in doing so 
improving the health and lifestyle of the residents of the borough and boosting employment 
opportunities.
 
Updating the Local Development Scheme in the way set out in this report will enable us to 
achieve this.”

REPORT SUMMARY

This report recommends that Council, at its meeting on the 14th October 2019, is 
recommended to approve revisions to the future timetable for the preparation of the Wirral 
Local Plan, as set out in the revised Local Development Scheme attached to this report 
which will replace the Local Development Scheme adopted by the Council on 6 March 2018.
The approval of the Local Development Scheme is a Key Decision requiring the approval of 
Full Council.
It has become necessary to review the Local Development Scheme because of changes to 
the timetable for the Local Plan; the expanded scope of the Local Plan, which will now be 
produced as a single document, containing both strategic and non-strategic policies; and 
changes to legislation governing the review of Local Plans. Cabinet on 17 December 2018 
resolved that a revised Local Development Scheme be submitted for approval by Council 
once the amended future timetable had been determined (Minute 47 refers).
The revised timetable for the preparation of the Wirral Local Plan, set out within the revised 
Local Development Scheme, will contribute towards the delivery of a wide range of Wirral 
Plan pledges related to People, Business and Environment and the Council’s Medium Term 
Financial Strategy.

Page 95

Agenda Item 7



RECOMMENDATION/S

That Cabinet recommends that Council, at its meeting on the 14th October 2019, be 
recommended to approve the adoption of the revised Local Development Scheme 
attached to this report and resolves that the revised Scheme will come into effect on 
the day following the date that the Council resolution is passed.

Page 96



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 To enable the Council to meet the statutory requirements of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012 (SI 2012, No. 767).

 
2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 There are no alternative options, as national regulations require the publication of an 
up-to-date Local Development Scheme, as soon as possible after the information 
becomes available.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 The Wirral Local Plan (previously the Core Strategy Local Plan) is a Development 
Plan Document that is intended to set the long-term vision, objectives, strategic and 
non-strategic policies for the Borough over the next 15 years and to provide the 
framework for future Development Plan Documents, neighbourhood planning 
documents, supplementary planning documents and development management 
decisions.

3.2 The timetable for the preparation of the Wirral Local Plan has been revised following a 
review of Development Options, legal advice and in response to the Secretary of 
State’s letter to the Council in January 2019.

3.3 The Wirral Local Plan (which was previously being prepared as Core Strategy) went 
through several stages of public consultation from 2006 onwards culminating in the 
publication of a Proposed Submission Draft Core Strategy in December 2012. The 
revocation of the Regional Spatial Strategy, in May 2013, required the Council to re-
assess the Borough’s housing needs, complicated by results for Wirral from the 2011 
Census, which made previous population and household projections unreliable.

3.4 A revised Strategic Housing Market Assessment (May 2016) was published for public 
consultation in August 2016, alongside the latest update to the Strategic Housing Land 
Availability Assessment, for April 2016 (Cabinet, 18 July 2016, Minute 31 refers). The 
results of consultation were reported to Cabinet in February 2017 and a wider review 
of development options approved (Minute 96 refers).

3.5 The Council’s Cabinet considered a further report on 23 July 2018 setting out the 
results of the Development Options review and approved public consultation on the 
findings (Minute 17 refers). Although comments were received and recorded as soon 
as the Cabinet Report was published in July 2018, formal consultation took place 
between 3 September and 26 October 2018.  

3.6 The consultation drew 3,221 responses from 2,989 individual respondents and an 
update report was considered by the Cabinet on 17 December 2018. Members 
resolved that a revised Local Development Scheme be submitted for approval by the 
Council once an amended future timetable has been determined (Minute 47 refers). A 

Page 97



report setting out the background and results of the consultation along with three 
volumes of consultation responses was published on the Council’s web site at the end 
of February 2019 and can be viewed at http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-
building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan-6

  
3.7 The revised Local Development Scheme sets out the amended timetable for the 

remaining stages of the production of the Wirral Local Plan. The Council’s original 
intention was to re-publish the Local Plan as a proposed submission draft under 
Regulation 19 of the Local Plan Regulations. Advice from the Council’s legal advisors 
and from consultants undertaking the sustainability appraisal of the Local Plan is that 
including an additional stage of public consultation under Regulation 18 is required to 
take account of changes in national planning policy; and to ensure that all the revised 
spatial options and reasonable alternatives and the Council’s revised preferred option, 
are documented and made available for public comment before any final proposals 
are prepared. 

3.8 The timetable prior to the submission of the Wirral Local Plan to public examination is 
also influenced by the completion of key evidence base documents related to the 
review of development options, including housing requirements, land supply and 
development viability, and assessments of Agricultural Land and Economy, Minerals, 
Landscape Character, Recreation and Open Space, Retail and Town Centres, 
Employment and Brownfield Land Options, Transport Modelling and the Green Belt.

3.9 Additionally, the Council has prepared and submitted a Local Plan Action Plan to the 
Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government in response to his 
letter of 28 January 2019. The Action Plan commits the Council to submitting the Local 
Plan to the Secretary of State by November 2020. The Action Plan, covering letter and 
detailed delivery timetable can be viewed at:  https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-
building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan

3.10 Subject to the examination timetable and the need for any further post-examination 
modifications, the Wirral Local Plan is therefore currently expected to be adopted by 
December 2021.

3.11 It is therefore recommended that Council is recommended to formally approve the 
revisions to the future timetable for the preparation of the Wirral Local Plan, set out in 
the revised Local Development Scheme attached to this report, in addition to the 
information that has been continuously updated on the Council’s website.

Neighbourhood Planning

3.12 The Council has now designated five local neighbourhood planning areas, at 
Devonshire Park; Hoylake; Leasowe; Birkenhead and Tranmere; and for Birkenhead 
North, to allow Neighbourhood Forums to prepare their own planning proposals for 
their respective designated areas. Neighbourhood Development Plans have been 
‘made’ (adopted) for Devonshire Park (December 2015) and Hoylake (December 
2016).  The Neighbourhood Forums for Hoylake and Devonshire Park were re-
designated in October 2018 for a further period of five years. The Council were notified 
that the Birkenhead and Tranmere Neighbourhood Forum was formally dissolved in 
June 2018. 

Page 98

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan-6
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan-6
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan


3.13 The Wirral Local Plan will set the strategic framework for the preparation of any future 
neighbourhood planning proposals for these and any other communities that may 
apply for designation to prepare neighbourhood planning proposals for their areas.

Duty to Co-operate

3.14 The Council adopted a Statement of Co-operation on Local Planning, with City Region 
Partners, on 17 October 2016 (Council, Minute 64 refers). The 2019 NPPF now 
requires strategic policy-making authorities to prepare and maintain one or more 
statement of common ground, documenting the cross-boundary matters being 
addressed and the progress made in co-operating to address them. A Liverpool City 
Region Statement of Common Ground has been jointly prepared during 2018, for 
approval by the individual districts. The Council will need to prepare a separate 
Statement of Common Ground to address co-operation with Cheshire West and 
Chester Council and other relevant stakeholders as part of the ongoing preparation of 
the Wirral Local Plan.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 There are no financial implications arising from the publication of the revised Local 
Development Scheme.

4.2 The continued preparation of the Wirral Local Plan will be funded from existing 
resources for Economic and Housing Growth.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 Section 15 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires the Council to 
prepare and maintain a Statutory Local Development Scheme, to set out the timetable 
for the preparation of development plan documents such as Local Plans. 

5.2 The revised Local Development Scheme for Wirral must be approved by a resolution 
of Full Council, specifying the date from which the Scheme is to have effect and the 
Council must make the Scheme and any more up-to-date information on the timetable 
available to the public, as soon as it becomes available 

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1 The Council’s Local Plan will be prepared using existing IT and staff resources in the 
Economic and Housing Growth Directorate and the Council’s Transformation Office.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 Unless additional land for development can be identified in the emerging Local Plan, 
the absence of an appropriate land supply could lead to the loss of appeals against 
the refusal of planning permission, with costs awarded against the Council, unless any 
adverse impacts of approving the development would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against national policy as a whole (NPPF, 
paragraph 11 refers). 

Page 99



7.2 The Local Development Scheme will be used by Government to assess the Council’s 
progress in the preparation of an up-to-date Local Plan.

7.3 The Council’s existing Local Development Scheme, which dates from March 2015, is 
now out-of-date.

7.4 The Secretary of State has the power to direct amendments to the Local Development 
Scheme, as well as powers over its content and review.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 National planning guidance states that the Local Development Scheme must be made 
available publicly and kept up-to-date so that local communities and interested parties 
can keep track of progress. Local planning authorities should publish their Local 
Development Scheme on their website. A continuously up-dated record of progress is 
available on the Council’s website at: https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-
building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/local-development-scheme

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 The Core Strategy has been subject to ongoing Equality Impact Assessment.  Results 
of previous Equality Impact Assessments prepared at each stage in the preparation of 
the Core Strategy can be viewed at http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-
building/local-plans-and-planningpolicy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan-0

9.2 The adoption of a revised Local Development Scheme, which only sets out the 
timetable for the preparation of the Local Plan, will not have any additional equalities 
implications

REPORT AUTHOR: Andrew Fraser
Forward Planning Manager
telephone:  (0151) 691 8218
email:   andrewfraser@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 Draft Local Development Scheme (July 2019)

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (Sections 15, 17, 35 and 36 refer)
Localism Act 2011 (Sections 111 and 113 refer)
Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017 (Sections 11 and 12 refer) 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning)(England) Regulations 2012 (Regulation 34)
National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance (MHCLG)
Local Development Scheme for Wirral (Wirral Council, March 2015)

Page 100

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/local-development-scheme
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/local-development-scheme
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planningpolicy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan-0
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planningpolicy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan-0
mailto:andrewfraser@wirral.gov.uk
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/20/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/local-development-scheme
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/local-development-scheme
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/local-development-scheme


SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Delegated – Local Development Scheme

Council – Local Development Scheme

Cabinet - Core Strategy Local Plan - Report of Further 

Consultation on Housing Need and Land Supply

Environment Overview and Scrutiny – Wirral Local Plan - 

Letter from Secretary of State

Delegated – Local Development Scheme review

Environment Overview and Scrutiny – Wirral Local Plan – 

Report of Progress since 2014

Council – Local Development Scheme adoption

Cabinet – Core Strategy Local Plan – Review of 

Development Options

Cabinet  - Wirral Local Plan – update report

17 December 2014

6 July 2015 (Minute 23)

27 February 2017 (Minute 96)

7 December 2017 (Minute 

40) 

21 December 2017

31 January 2018 (Minute 46)

19 March 2018 (Minute 132)

23 July 2018 (Minute 17)

17 December 2018 (Minute 

47)

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank



WIRRAL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL

PLANNING AND COMPULSORY PURCHASE ACT 2004 (SECTION 15)

LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME FOR WIRRAL

REVISED JULY 2019 

BROUGHT INTO EFFECT BY RESOLUTION OF THE COUNCIL ON XXX  2019

P
age 103



Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

2

[blank for copying]

P
age 104



Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

3

CONTENTS

1 Introduction 5

2 Background 5

3 The Planning Policy Framework for Wirral 5

4 The Development Plan for Wirral 6

5 Wirral's Future Planning Policy Framework 7

6 The Wirral Local Plan 8

7 Supplementary Planning Documents 13

8 Neighbourhood Planning Documents 13

9 Duty to Co-operate 14

10 Resources 14

11 Risk Assessment 14

12 Monitoring & Review 14

13 Useful Contacts 15

14 Background Documents 15

P
age 105



Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

4

[blank for copying]

P
age 106



Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

5

1 INTRODUCTION

.. The Local Development Scheme for Wirral is a statutory document setting out the programme for the preparation of Local 
Development Documents produced in accordance with Section 15 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

1.2 The Council’s Local Plan will form part of the statutory Development Plan for the area and will play a major role in the 
determination of individual planning applications and in other decisions taken by the Council and by others under the Town 
and Country Planning Acts.

2 BACKGROUND 

2.1 The first Local Development Scheme for Wirral was approved by the Secretary of State on 31 March 2005 and came into 
effect on 20 May 2005.  Subsequent reviews took place in July 2006, July 2007, January 2010, February 2012, December 
2014 and December 2017.

2.2 This current document replaces the Local Development Scheme adopted by the Council on 6 March 2018.  It has become 
necessary to review the Local Development Scheme because of changes to the timetable for the Local Plan; the expanded 
scope of the Local Plan, which will now be a produced as a single document containing both strategic and non-strategic 
policies, changes to legislation governing the review of Local Plans; and other changes to national policy and guidance. The 
Council's Cabinet on 17 December 2018 resolved that a revised Local Development Scheme should be submitted for 
approval by the Council once an amended future timetable had been determined (Minute 47 refers).  

2.3 Local Development Schemes no longer need to be approved by the Secretary of State before they can come into effect but 
the Secretary of State has powers to direct amendments to the scheme.

3 THE PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR WIRRAL

3.1 The planning policy framework for Wirral is made up of a number of Development Plan Documents and Neighbourhood 
Planning Documents that have been prepared in accordance with subject to a statutory process which together form the 
Statutory Development Plan for Wirral, and a number of other Local Development Documents such as Supplementary 
Planning Documents. 

P
age 107



Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

6

4 THE DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR WIRRAL

4.1 The statutory Development Plan for the Metropolitan Borough of Wirral currently comprises the ‘saved’ policies in the Unitary 
Development Plan for Wirral, adopted by the Council in February 2000; and the Joint Waste Local Plan for Merseyside and 
Halton, adopted in July 2013; together with Neighbourhood Development Plans for Devonshire Park and Hoylake.

Unitary Development Plan for Wirral (February 2000)

4.2 The Unitary Development Plan (UDP) is an ‘old-style’ development plan that will be replaced by the new Wirral Local Plan 
and other documents contained within the Local Plan Framework for Wirral.

4.3 A list of the policies and proposals that are no longer in force, following the adoption of the Joint Waste Local Plan, can be 
viewed on the Council’s website at http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-
plans/unitary-development-plan/written

4.4 The remaining policies of the Unitary Development Plan, including the Written Statement and Proposals Map, can be viewed 
on the Council’s website at http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-
plans/unitary-development-plan 

Joint Waste Local Plan for Merseyside and Halton (July 2013)

4.5 The Joint Waste Local Plan was adopted by each of the six partner councils to come into effect from 18 July 2013.  The 
Joint Waste Local Plan was resolved to be adopted by Wirral Council on 15 July 2013 (Minute 17 refers).

4.6 The Joint Waste Local Plan can be viewed on the Council’s website at http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-
plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/joint-waste-local-plan-merseyside

Made Neighbourhood Development Plans

4.7 The Neighbourhood Development Plan for Devonshire Park was made (adopted) in December 2015 and the Neighbourhood 
Development Plan for Hoylake was made in December 2016.  The Neighbourhood Development Plans can be viewed on the 
Council web site at https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning

P
age 108

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan/written
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan/written
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan/written
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan/written
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/joint-waste-local-plan-merseyside
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/joint-waste-local-plan-merseyside
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/joint-waste-local-plan-merseyside
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning


Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

7

Other Planning Documents

4.8 There are a number of additional documents which sit alongside the Development Plan.  These documents currently include:

 a series of Supplementary Planning Guidance Notes and Supplementary Planning Documents to support the delivery of 
existing adopted Development Plan policies;

 a Statement of Community Involvement;
 the Local Development Scheme; and 
 a series of Annual Monitoring Reports.

5 WIRRAL’S FUTURE PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK

5.1 In future, the Development Plan for Wirral will comprise the following documents:

 The Wirral Local Plan and Policies Map;
 The Joint Waste Local Plan for Merseyside and Halton;
 The Spatial Development Strategy for the Liverpool City Region (to be produced by the Liverpool City Region Combined 

Authority); and
 Neighbourhood Planning documents, including Neighbourhood Development Plans, which may be prepared by the local 

community;
5.2 Other planning documents will include: 

 Supplementary Planning Documents and other technical guidance to support the delivery of the Local Plan;
 a Community Infrastructure Levy charging schedule;
 The Local Development scheme;
 The Statement of Community Involvement; and
 Annual Monitoring Reports

5.3 The Joint Waste Local Plan, Neighbourhood Development Plans and the Proposals Map will have status alongside the 
Unitary Development Plan, as part of the statutory Development Plan for Wirral, until the Unitary Development Plan is fully 
replaced by the Wirral Local Plan and Policies Map.

P
age 109



Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

8

5.4 A list of the Local Development Documents that have already been adopted is provided at Appendix 1.

5.5 This review of the Local Development Scheme provides for the completion of the Wirral Local Plan, which will set out the 
strategic policies for the area, with which Neighbourhood Plans will need to be in general conformity.   

6 THE WIRRAL LOCAL PLAN

6.1 The Wirral Local Plan (previously the Core Strategy Local Plan) is a Development Plan Document that is intended to set the 
long-term vision, objectives, strategic and non-strategic policies for the Borough over the 15 year period 2020 to 2035 and to 
provide the framework for future Development Plan Documents, Neighbourhood Planning Documents and Supplementary 
Planning Documents.

6.2 Previous Local Development Schemes proposed a two-stage process of Local Plan preparation, initially focused on the 
completion of the Core Strategy Local Plan (containing mainly strategic policies, which would only partially replace the 
Unitary Development Plan) which would be followed by the second stage preparation of a site-specific Land Allocations and 
a Heritage Local Plan.

6.3 The Council now intends to progress the Core Strategy as a single Wirral Local Plan, which will replace the Unitary 
Development Plan in its entirety.  The Wirral Local Plan will also now include detailed site-specific policies including site 
allocations and development management policies, and a Policies Map to replace the Unitary Development Plan Proposals 
Map.

6.4 The stages undertaken to prepare the previous Core Strategy, which will also be used, where relevant, to inform the content 
of the Wirral Local Plan are set out in Appendix 2 and summarised below.  

6.5 Public consultation on Issues, Vision and Objectives took place in February 2009; on Spatial Options in January 2010; on 
Preferred Options in November 2010; on Settlement Area Policies in January 2012; and on a Proposed Submission Draft 
Core Strategy (under Regulation 19 of the Local Plan Regulations) in December 2012.  

6.6 An initial series of proposed modifications to the Proposed Submission Draft Core Strategy were published for public 
comment in July 2013 and a series of further proposed modifications, to policies for Gypsies and Travellers and to policies 
for Town Centres, were published in December 2014. 

P
age 110



Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

9

6.7 Reports of consultation are available for each stage of the process undertaken so far and can be viewed on the Council’s 
website at http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan

6.8 The revocation of the Regional Spatial Strategy, in May 2013, required the Council to re-assess the Borough’s housing 
needs, complicated by results for Wirral from the 2011 Census, which made previous population and household projections 
unreliable.

6.9 A revised Strategic Housing Market Assessment (May 2016) was published for public consultation in August 2016, alongside 
the latest update to the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA), for April 2016 (Cabinet, 18 July 2016, 
Minute 31 refers).  The results of consultation were reported to Cabinet in February 2017 and a wider review of development 
options approved (Minute 96 refers).  The Council consulted on an updated SHLAA methodology in July 2017 and on the 
proposed Green Belt review methodology in October 2017. 

6.10 The results of the review of Development Options were approved for public consultation on the 23rd July 2018 (Cabinet 
Minute 17 refers). Although comments were received and recorded as soon as the Cabinet Report was published in July 
2018, formal consultation took place between 3 September and 26 October 2018 on the following documents:
 Cabinet Report 27 February 2017;
 Cabinet Report 23 July 2018;
 Playing Pitch Strategy Update November 2017;
 Employment Land and Premises Study Update December 2017;
 Proposed Employment Allocations;
 Proposed Housing Allocations;
 Proposed Mixed-Use Allocations;
 Initial Review of the Green Belt Revised Methodology;
 Initial Green Belt Review Background Report;
 Summary of Initial Green Belt Assessment;
 Proposed Green Belt Sites for Further Investigation; and
 Proposed Green Belt Boundary Corrections

6.11 The consultation drew 3,221 responses from 2,989 individual respondents. A report setting out the background and results of 
the consultation along with three volumes of consultation responses was published on the Council’s web site at the end of 

P
age 111

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan


Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

10

February 2019 and can be viewed at http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-
plans/core-strategy-local-plan-6  An update report was considered by the Council's Cabinet on 17 December 2018.  Members 
resolved that a revised Local Development Scheme be submitted for approval by the Council once the amended future 
timetable has been determined (Minute 47 refers).  

Future Local Plan Timetable

6.12 The table below sets out the amended timetable for the production of the Wirral Local Plan.  The Council’s original intention 
was to re-publish the Local Plan as a revised proposed submission draft under Regulation 19 of the Local Plan Regulations. 
Advice from the Council’s legal advisors and from consultants undertaking the sustainability appraisal of the Local Plan is that 
an additional stage of public consultation under Regulation 18 is required to take account of changes in national planning 
policy; and to ensure that all the revised spatial options and reasonable alternatives and the Council’s revised preferred 
option, are documented and made available for public comment before any final proposals are prepared. 

6.13 The timetable prior to the submission of the Wirral Local Plan to public examination is also influenced by the completion of key 
evidence base documents related to the review of development options, including housing requirements, land supply and 
development viability, and assessments of Agricultural Land and Economy, Minerals, Landscape Character, Recreation and 
Open Space, Retail and Town Centres, Employment and Brownfield Land Options, Transport Modelling and the Green Belt.

6.14 Additionally, the Council has prepared and submitted a Local Plan Action Plan to the Secretary of State for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government in response to his letter of 28 January 2019.  The Action Plan commits the Council to 
submitting the Local Plan to the Secretary of State by November 2020.  The Action Plan, covering letter and detailed delivery 
timetable can be viewed at:  https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-
strategy-local-plan

6.15 The timetable for the preparation of the Local Plan is set out below. 

P
age 112

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan-6
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan-6
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan-6
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan-6
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan-6
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan


Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

11

Wirral Local Plan Timetable

Plan Preparation Stage Purpose of the stage Dates (Note that all timings are subject to 
the programming of Cabinet and Council 
meetings)

Evidence gathering and draft plan preparation Formulate vision and objectives for the Local Plan, 
evidence gathering, identify development requirements, 
identify potential spatial options,  identify relevant 
economic, social and environmental objectives to inform 
the sustainability appraisal

During 2019

Public Consultation on draft local plan
(Regulation 18 of the Local Plan Regulations 
2012) and continued work on evidence 
gathering

This document brings together all the strategic evidence 
and sets out the housing and employment requirements 
for the Borough over the plan period and set out the 
Council’s preferred options for distributing this 
development including preferred sites.

January – February 2020

Council approval of publication of the Local 
Plan This is the full Local Plan that the Council wishes to submit 

to the Secretary of State for Examination.  It will include 
both strategic and non-strategic policies. All the evidence 
will be in place at the time of publication. It is the version 
that the Council considers “sound” in terms of the legal 
requirements placed on plan preparation and to be justified 
and deliverable. Following the Council’s approval of the 
Publication version of the Local Plan the policies and 
proposals in the Local plan will have significant weight in 
the decision-taking process.

June 2020 (Cabinet)

July 2020 (Council)

Publication of the Local Plan: (Regulation 19) This will be the formal period for representations to the 
draft plan for a minimum period of 6 weeks, and will give 
communities, stakeholders and other interested persons 
the final opportunity to make comments on the plan 
relating to the “soundness” and legal compliance of the 
Local Plan.  The Council will not review these comments 
other than to identify key issues and potential modifications 
to the Local Plan.  The representations will be passed 
directly to the Inspector undertaking the Local Plan 

July – September 2020

P
age 113



Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

12

Examination.
Submission (Regulation 22) This is an administrative stage and relates to the formal 

submission of the documents (including all formal 
representations received during the Publication Deposit 
period, statutory assessments, and evidence base 
documents) to the Secretary of State for independent 
examination by a Planning Inspector. 

November 2020

Local Plan Examination The formal examination of the Local Plan will start when 
the plan is submitted. Hearings will be held into specific 
aspects of the plan during the examination, and “objectors” 
will have the right to be involved in that process. The 
Planning Inspector will assess the Local Plan to determine 
whether it has been prepared in line with the duty to 
cooperate, other legal requirements, and whether it is 
“sound” in line with the requirement of planning legislation. 
At this stage the Council can request that the Inspector 
makes recommendations which would address the issues 
identified during the Examination in order to ensure that 
the plan is “sound”, including proposed modifications to the 
Local Plan, which may require additional public 
consultation.  The Inspector’s conclusions will be set out in 
a report issued to the Council.

During 2021

Local Plan Adoption The Council will receive the inspector’s Report and 
consider the recommendations, before it formally adopts 
the Local Plan.

December 2021 (Council)

6.16 The timetable following the submission of the Local Plan (Regulation 22) should be regarded as indicative only and will be  
for the Planning Inspector (appointed to undertake the public examination of the soundness and legal compliance of the 
proposals) to determine. The length of the examination and reporting will depend on the number of representations received 
and the resources available at the Planning Inspectorate at the time. Therefore, the examination and reporting times shown 
may need to be revised at a later date. The appointed Planning Inspector will decide how the examination will run once the 

P
age 114



Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

13

documents and final representations have been submitted.  There may also be a requirement to prepare and consult on main 
modifications to the Local Plan.

6.17 The estimated date for the adoption of the Wirral Local Plan, following submission to public examination in November 2020, is 
now December 2021.

6.18 A continuously up-dated record of progress is available on the Council’s website at https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-
building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/local-development-scheme

7 SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS

7.1 The Local Development Scheme is no longer required to set out the timetable for the preparation of Supplementary Planning 
Documents.

7.2 The Council consulted on the proposed content of new documents for housing; employment; town centres; and 
telecommunications, to be brought forward alongside the Core Strategy Local Plan, in July 2013.

7.3 The latest progress on the preparation of Supplementary Planning Documents can be viewed on the Council’s website at 
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents.

8 NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANNING DOCUMENTS

8.1 Neighbourhood Planning documents are prepared by the local community and adopted by the Council, to provide further 
detail on planning proposals within local areas.

8.2 The Council has now designated five local neighbourhood planning areas, at Devonshire Park; Hoylake; Leasowe; 
Birkenhead and Tranmere; and for Birkenhead North, to allow Neighbourhood Forums to prepare their own planning 
proposals for their respective designated areas.  Neighbourhood Development Plans have been ‘made’ (adopted) for 
Devonshire Park (December 2015) and Hoylake (December 2016).  The Neighbourhood Forums for Hoylake and Devonshire 
Park were re-designated in October 2018 for a further period of five years. The Council were notified that the Birkenhead and 
Tranmere Neighbourhood Forum was formally dissolved in June 2018.

P
age 115

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/local-development-scheme
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/local-development-scheme
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents


Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

14

8.3 Progress on the preparation of neighbourhood planning documents can be viewed on the Council’s website at 
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning.

9 DUTY TO CO-OPERATE

9.1 The Council adopted a Statement of Co-operation on Local Planning, with City Region Partners, on 17 October 2016 (Council, 
Minute 64 refers). The National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019) sets out a duty for public bodies to cooperate on 
strategic matters that cross administrative boundaries. Strategic planning matters are defined as (paragraph 20 refers):

 Housing, employment, retail, leisure and other commercial development,
 the provision of infrastructure, minerals and energy,
 community facilities, and
 conserving and enhancing the historic, built and natural environment and planning measures to climate change mitigation 

and adaptation

9.2 Following participation in a national pilot project a Liverpool City Region Statement of Common Ground has been jointly 
prepared during 2019, for approval by the individual districts.  The Council will also need to prepare a separate Statement of 
Common Ground to address co-operation with Cheshire West and Chester Council and other relevant stakeholders.

10 RESOURCES

10.1 Future land use planning policy documents are prepared by the Forward Planning Team in the Council’s Economic Growth 
and Housing Directorate, which reports to the Council’s Cabinet Member for the Local Plan.

11 RISK ASSESSMENT

11.1 The principal risks to the delivery of the timetable set out in this Local Development Scheme are set out in Appendix 3 and 
will be kept under constant review.

11.2 The risk register will be regularly updated on the Council’s web site at https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-
plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/local-development-scheme.

P
age 116

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/local-development-scheme
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/local-development-scheme
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/local-development-scheme


Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

15

12 MONITORING & REVIEW

12.1 Progress on Local Plan preparation is reviewed annually in the Council’s statutory Monitoring Reports.  Previous Monitoring 
Reports can be viewed on the Council’s website at https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-
policy/development-monitoring.

12.2 Changes to the Local Plan Regulations now require that local plans must by reviewed every 5 years from the date of 
adoption, by undertaking an assessment to determine whether the policies need updating.  Local planning authorities have 
to decide either:

 that their policies do not need updating and publish their reasons for this decision; and/ or
 that one or more policies do need updating, and update their Local Development Scheme to set out the timetable for this 

revision. 

12.3   The preparation of the Wirral Local Plan and the Local Development Scheme provides for the review and replacement of the 
policies and proposals currently set out in the ‘saved policies’ of the Wirral Unitary Development Plan adopted February 
2000.

13 USEFUL CONTACTS

13.1 The Forward Planning Team can be contacted:

by post at:
Wirral Council, Economic and Housing Growth, PO Box 290, Brighton Street, Wallasey CH27 9FQ
by telephone at: 0151 691 8110
or at forwardplanning@wirral.gov.uk

14 BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

14.1 The following documents provide additional information on local development document processes and requirements:
 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (HMSO 2004, Chapter 5) (as amended)

P
age 117

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/development-monitoring
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/development-monitoring
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/development-monitoring
mailto:forwardplanning@wirral.gov.uk


Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

16

 Localism Act 2011 (HMSO 2011, Chapter 20) (as amended)

 Housing and Planning Act 2016 (HMSO, Chapter 22)

 Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017 (HMSO, Chapter 20)

 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (HMSO SI 2012 No.767) (as amended)

 The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 (HMSO, SI 2004 No 1633)

 The Conservation (Natural Habitats &c) Regulations 1994 (HMSO, 1994 No 2716) (as amended)

 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended) (HMSO SI 2010 No.490)
The National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019) and associated practice guidance (as continuously updated) can be viewed 
at https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance

P
age 118

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance


Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

17

Appendix 1 – Adopted Local Development Documents

1. Local Plans

Unitary Development Plan for Wirral – Adopted February 2000

Written Statement - http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-
plan/written

Proposals Map - http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-
plan/forward

Joint Merseyside and Halton Waste Local Plan – Adopted July 2013

Written Statement - http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/joint-waste-local-
plan-merseyside

Maps and Plans - http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/joint-waste-local-plan-
merseyside

2. Neighbourhood Development Plans

Devonshire Park Neighbourhood Plan - Made December 2015
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning/devonshire-park

Hoylake Neighbourhood Plan – Made December 2016
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning/hoylake

3. Statement of Community Involvement

Statement of Community Involvement - Adopted March 2014
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/community-involvement-local-planning/statement

P
age 119

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan/written
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan/written
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan/written
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan/written
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan/forward
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan/forward
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan/forward
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/joint-waste-local-plan-merseyside
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/joint-waste-local-plan-merseyside
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/joint-waste-local-plan-merseyside
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/joint-waste-local-plan-merseyside
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/joint-waste-local-plan-merseyside
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/joint-waste-local-plan-merseyside
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning/devonshire-park
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning/devonshire-park
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning/hoylake
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning/hoylake
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/community-involvement-local-planning/statement
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/community-involvement-local-planning/statement


Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

18

4. Supplementary Planning Documents

SPD1 – Designing for Development by Mobile Phone Operators – Adopted October 2006
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/designing

SPD2 – Designing for Self-Contained Flat Development and Conversions – Adopted October 2006
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/designing-0

SPD3 – Hot Food Takeaways, Restaurants, Cafes and Drinking Establishments – Adopted October 2006
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/hot-food

SPD4 – Parking Standards - Adopted June 2007
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/parkingP

age 120

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/designing
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/designing
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/designing-0
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/designing-0
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/hot-food
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/hot-food
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/parking
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/parking


Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

19

Appendix 2 – Core Strategy Timetable
Document Name: 
Core Strategy Local Plan

Status:
Development Plan Document

Purpose:
To provide the long-term vision, objectives and spatial strategy for the Borough and the framework for future Development Plan Documents
Coverage:
Borough wide

Time Period:
15 years 

Chain of Conformity:
National Planning Policy Framework

Post Adoption Monitoring & Review:
Annual Monitoring Report
5 Yearly Assessment

Departmental Responsibility:
Economic and Housing Growth (Forward Planning) 
forwardplanning@wirral.gov.uk

Contact:
Andrew Fraser, Forward Planning Manager 0151 691 8218

Key Milestones
Preparation (Regulation 18):
Commencement: July 2005
SA Scoping: July 2006
Initial Consultation: September 2007
Issues Vision and Objectives: February 2009

Spatial Options: (Regulation 18) January 2010

Preferred Options: (Regulation 18) November 2010
Settlement Areas:
(Regulation 18)

January 2012

Publication (Regulation 19)
Proposed Submission Draft: December 2012
Initial Modifications: July 2013
Further Modifications: December 2014
Completion of SHMA update May 2016
Further consultation on housing 
need and land supply

August 2016

Development Options Review

Key Stakeholders (Regulation 2 bodies):

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority
Sefton Borough Council
Liverpool City Council
Cheshire West and Chester Council
Flintshire County Council
Other Liverpool City Region Authorities
Liverpool City Region Local Enterprise Partnership
Liverpool City Region Local Nature Partnership
Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service
Homes and Communities Agency
Highways Agency
Merseytravel
Environment Agency
Natural England
Natural Resources Wales
Marine Management Organisation
Historic England
Merseyside Police and Crime Commissioner

P
age 121

mailto:forwardplanning@wirral.gov.uk


Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

20

Consultation on updated SHLAA 
methodology

July 2017

Consultation on proposed Green 
Belt review Methodology

October 2017

Consultation on Results of the 
Development Options Review

September 2018

North West Ambulance Service
Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service
HM Coastguard and RNLI
Office of Rail Regulation and Network Rail
Civil Aviation Authority
Health and Safety Executive
National Health Service Organisations
Conservation Area Advisory Committees
Local Amenity Societies and Friends Groups
Wirral Community Networks
Wirral Wildlife
Developers and Landowners
Utilities and Infrastructure Providers
Local Business Organisations
Neighbourhood Forums
Other General Consultation Bodies

Publication of consultation 
responses

February 2019

P
age 122



Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

21

Appendix 3 – Risk Assessment

Risk Description Control Measures

Political Risk of political approval being withheld and/or change 
of leadership and/or direction and/or political priorities

Consultation and involvement of Members in the Local Plan 
preparation process in order to provide ownership, leadership 
and commitment to future implementation.  A Local Plan 
Member Advisory Group consisting of the Group Leaders, 
Cabinet members for the Local Plan and Housing and Planning 
and the Chair of Planning Committee has been established to 
support the Local Plan process. The Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee receive a progress report at each of their 
meetings on Local plan progress.

Procedural Changes in national policy leads to amended 
requirements

Seek to future-proof requirements wherever possible.  Any 
changes are regularly monitored, assessed and responded to 
ensuring that the Local Plan meets the statutory requirements.

Financial  -constrained Council 
budgets, increases in Planning 
Inspectorate fees

Risk of inadequate financial provision hindering 
progress and scope of work required

The Local Plan is a corporate priority and budgetary provision 
has been made available to ensure that a robust Local Plan is 
delivered. Budgets are reviewed with the Director of Finance 
regularly and reviewed at each Local Plan Programme Board 
meeting. 

Staff turnover and recruitment 
difficulties

Staff turnover is difficult to predict. Risk of loss of key 
staff to other employment would severely affect our 
ability to progress the Local Plan work programme in a 
timely manner

Take prompt action to fill vacancies with staff with the 
appropriate skills. Specialist support has been secured to 
support the Local Plan team and this is regularly monitored. 

Staff absence (e.g. long term 
sickness/maternity leave) 

Reduced capacity causing slippage in programme Consider interim arrangements such as temporary 
appointments, use of agency staff or secondment, subject to 
resources

The adequacy of staffing levels will be evaluated through the 
ongoing monitoring of the preparation of the Local Plan

P
age 123



Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

22

Risk Description Control Measures

Lack of in-house skills for 
specialised areas of policy 
work/background studies

Slow progress causing a slippage in programme

Evidence base challenged or undermined

Quality compromised

Obtain training for areas where expertise is lacking

Review staffing requirements as part of annual service reviews

Expand partnership working, where possible

Specialist support has been brought in to support the Team.

Appointed consultants fail to 
deliver against requirements set 
out in brief, either in terms of 
quality or timetable

Slow progress causing a slippage in programme

Evidence base challenged or undermined

Quality compromised

Check their capacity and ability to deliver before appointment

Maintain ongoing monitoring of performance

Pressure on staff time due to 
competing work streams

Diverts team from Local Plan work causing slippage in 
programme

The Local Plan is recognised as a corporate priority

Team dedicated to the Local Plan

Legal Risk of non-compliance with legal procedures and 
requirements and/or judicial review leading to adopted 
Local Plan being quashed and additional workloads

Changes in plan-making requirements/procedures can 
also result in delays

Ensure relevant legislation/ regulations are checked and 
complied with at each stage

It is not possible to easily plan for further changes to the 
planning system.  The Council will endeavor to deal with new 
requirements with minimum disruption to the timetable as part of 
ongoing monitoring

QC appointed in November 2018.

Programme Officer identified for Local Plan examination.

Third Parties Risk of comments and representations from third 
parties causing delay (including lengthening of 

Consultation and involvement of relevant stakeholders

P
age 124



Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

23

Risk Description Control Measures

examination) and/or additional expense from 
unexpected volumes and/or unforeseen issues arising, 
with need for additional evidence and/or consultation

Ensure timetable is realistic but has some flexibility built in and 
monitor progress against LDS

Consider the need for additional resources as part of ongoing 
monitoring

Joint working with other internal 
departments and/or external 
authorities causes delay

Key milestones in programme not met

Duty to Co-operate not met

Ensure timescales for Local Plan realistically reflect partner 
authorities ability to contribute to joint working

Ensure commitment to milestone dates and resource allocation 
is obtained from relevant parties in advance

Capacity of the Planning 
Inspectorate

Examination and/or Inspectors Report is delayed

Key milestones in programme not met

Close liaison with the Planning Inspectorate to ensure early 
warning of any problems

The Council has sought to minimise the volume of issues to be 
resolved at examination, through ensuring a robust evidence 
base and wide pre–submission public consultation. 

Soundness – Local Plan found 
unsound by Planning 
Inspectorate

Inspectors modifications required  

Local Plan cannot be adopted without significant 
additional work, possibly including repeated stages of 
preparation and consultation

Ensure Local Plan is legally compliant, founded on a robust 
evidence base, accompanied by appropriate assessments and 
appraisals and well-audited community and stakeholder 
engagement. Timetable allows for possible consultation on main 
modifications, if required.

Use of self-assessment toolkit (published by national advisor 
PAS)

Maintain awareness of best practice

P
age 125



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CABINET

30 SEPTEMBER  2019

TRANMERE ROVERS PARTNERING AGREEMENT

Councillor Janette Williamson, Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources, said:

“The Council have a long history of links to Tranmere Rovers Football Club. We have worked 
with them for many years but we have never had a statement of intent that brings together 
all the engagement with the Club in one place. In compiling and implementing this Partnering 
Agreement this is a great opportunity to showcase our relationship with the Club and provide 
openness and transparency about the work we engage them to do. It also provides an 
opportunity for people to see the other activities that the Club are involved in that provide 
beneficial outcomes to the community. We are proud to work with our local Club and look 
forward to a continued solid relationship well into the future.”

REPORT SUMMARY

Tranmere Rovers Football Club (the Club) has a long and successful history of working in 
partnership with the Council to deliver commissioned services on behalf of the Council - and 
to deliver services that are not commissioned or paid for by the Council, but support the 
delivery of beneficial outcomes to Wirral residents.

The current relationship and communication channels with the Club are dispersed across 
the organisation, as individual officers are responsible for individual parts of the work 
commissioned from the Club. This does not provide for a whole view of the relationship the 
Council has with the Club, as one of its trusted partners, and the work that the Club does to 
support the delivery of critical Council functions, commissioned and non-commissioned.

The establishment of a Partnering Agreement lays out our ambition to work with the Club on 
a more holistic basis and recognise their contribution to community activities and 
programmes to support vulnerable people. It also sets out how we will work together for the 
benefit of Wirral residents and the Wirral Economy.  

In 2016 the Club created an international business arm, forming an official partnership with 
the Inner Mongolian Chinese Government to grow football as a sport in China. The Club 
was named as a key strategic partner in developing campus football in Inner Mongolia, the 
pilot province for football development. Subsequently this business has expanded into 
international activities in North America, Indonesia, Australia and other provinces in China.

The Club has delivered five coach education courses - in line with The Football Association 
(FA) international coaching badge - which has brought just under 150 Inner Mongolian 
coaches to Wirral. As a result of this, the Club estimates that their international activities 
have contributed over £500,000 to the local economy. 

Page 127

Agenda Item 8



This open and transparent way of working together provides an opportunity for fans, the 
public, members and investors to see the value that the Club brings to the area, as a 
community asset, in one place. 

RECOMMENDATION/S

That Cabinet:

Endorse the Partnering Agreement between Wirral Council and Tranmere Rovers Football 
Club.

Page 128



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 To bring together all the activity undertaken between the Council and the Club – 
including the Club’s activities that are not part of Council commissioned services - 
into one place.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 Not to enter into a Partnering Agreement with Tranmere Rovers Football Club and 
to continue with the current relationship with the Club. The current relationship is 
based on individual commissioned projects that are not consolidated into one place. 
This means there is no oversight of the commissioned and non-commissioned 
activity provided by the Club for the benefit of the Wirral community.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 Tranmere is a club which is firmly rooted in its community and is committed to 
harnessing the unique power of football to engage with and improve the lives of 
those at risk of social isolation, whether through poverty, unemployment, mental or 
physical health issues, or any other reason. They are also a dynamic and forward-
thinking club - with diversified activities which offer many training and employment 
opportunities for local residents. Tranmere also have rapidly growing football 
tourism and elite football development businesses, which bring significant cash into 
the local economy.

3.2 The Club has an excellent track record of measurable delivery and success, in both 
our charitable and our wider commercial work in the Wirral community - driving 
economic growth and improving the lives of some of the Borough’s most vulnerable 
people, as well as giving locals a sense of pride and identity in their own professional 
football team. Working hand in hand with Wirral Council will enable both parties to 
achieve more, and faster, than either could alone.  

3.3 The Wirral Plan sets a long-term plan to bring about real change – not just in what 
can be achieved, but in the way it is delivered. Tranmere is committed to working in 
partnership to deliver corporate objectives and their ambition is to work with all 
partners in the public, private and community sector to achieve higher aspirations 
and to achieve a better Wirral.   

 
3.4 In 2016 Tranmere Rovers created an international business arm, forming an official 

partnership with the Inner Mongolian Chinese Government to grow football as a 
sport in China. The Club was named as a key strategic partner in developing 
campus football in Inner Mongolia, the pilot province for football development. The 
Club has subsequently expanded its international activities into North America, 
Indonesia, Australia and other provinces in China.

3.5 Tranmere has delivered five coach education courses in line with The Football 
Association (FA) international coaching badge. This has brought just under 150 
Inner Mongolian coaches to the Wirral to gain an understanding of English football 
culture and coaching techniques. 

 

Page 129



3.6 In Spring 2018 Tranmere created the International Soccer Academy (ISA) and 
expanded into other international markets: North America, Indonesia, Australia and 
other provinces in China. The Club estimates that their international activities have 
contributed over £500,000 to the local economy. 

3.7 Over the past month(s) there have been two instances of football clubs being in 
financial difficulty with some consequences of not being allowed to play in the 
football league. Tranmere have been diversifying their activities for a number of 
years to ensure the Club can be sustainable in the event of an unplanned or adverse 
situation. The Club has grown a significant community strand of businesses to 
support local residents and contribute to delivering the 20 pledges of the Council.

3.8 However, the Council’s activity with the Club is disparate across various sections of 
the Council and data has never been gathered that brings together all the elements 
of work and engagement with the Council to enable this to be reported on.

3.9 This Partnering agreement seeks to do just that, bringing openness and 
transparency to the relationship between the Council and the Club, so that either 
party can be confident and proud of the joint achievement of objectives.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 The Council commissions the Club to provide functions on its behalf. There are no 
financial pressures for the Council in doing so as these are funded from current 
established budgets.

4.2 Any future financial activity with the Club will be subject to separate approval. 

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The partnering agreement is a statement of intent to co-operate and is not intended 
to create a formal legal partnership or any other legal obligations on either the 
Council or Tranmere Rovers.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1 There are no adverse resource implications.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 There are no adverse risks.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 An Overview and Scrutiny Session was held on 11 September for members of all 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees, with the Chairman of the Club, Mark Palios, to 
discuss the Partnering Agreement. 

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 There are no adverse equality implications.

Page 130



REPORT AUTHOR: Shaer Halewood
Director of Finance and Investment
telephone:  0151 691 8688
email:   shaerhalewood@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 – Partnering Agreement

BACKGROUND PAPERS

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)

Council Meeting Date

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



PARTNERING AGREEMENT

TRANMERE ROVERS F.C.
&WIRRAL COUNCIL

September 2019

1

P
age 133



CONTENTS

Tranmere Rovers FC History

Foreword

Working Together

Community Work

Fanpark

Solar Campus

Sports Tourism

Aspirations

Links

Governance

Contacts

‘The local football club was a creature
born out of the local community, it came
out of churches and social clubs and it is
part of the local community it can give a
lot more back’

Mark Palios, Chairman, Tranmere Rovers

2

P
age 134



HISTORY

Tranmere Rovers Football Club is a professional

association football club based in Birkenhead,

Merseyside, England. Founded in 1884 as

Belmont Football Club, they adopted their

current name in 1885. They were a founder

member of Division Three North in 1921, and

were a member of The Football League until

2015, when they were relegated to the National

League, the fifth tier of English football. They

returned to the English Football League in 2018,

and were promoted to League One in 2019.

Founded: 1884

Location: Birkenhead

Venue: Prenton Park

League: EFL League One

Championships: 1934/35 Welsh FA Cup Winners, 1937/38 Division

Three North Champions, promoted to Division Two, 1975/76 Promoted

to Division Three, 1988/89 Promoted to Barclays League Division

Three, 1989/90 Leyland DAF Cup Final Winners, 1990/91 Barclays

League Division Three Play-Off Final Winners, 1999/00 Worthington

Cup Finalists, 2017/18 Vanarama National League Play-Off Final

Winners, 2018/19 Sky Bet League Two Play-Off Final Winners

3

P
age 135



FOREWORD
TRANMERE ROVERS

Tranmere Rovers FC is a dynamic and forward-thinking Club,
with diverse activities which offer many training and employment
opportunities for residents, a rapidly growing football tourism
and international football development businesses

The club is firmly rooted in its community and is committed to
harnessing the unique power of football to engage with and
improve the lives of those at risk of social isolation through
poverty, unemployment, mental or physical health issues or any
other reason.

Tranmere has an excellent track record of measurable delivery
and success, in both its charitable and wider commercial work in
the community, driving economic growth and improving the lives
of some of the most vulnerable people. This work together with
the on-field success, gives locals a sense of pride and identity in
their own professional football team.

The professional football brand can bring added value in
accessing parts of the community that most commercialised
organisations cannot, and in attracting CSR from local businesses
and charitable giveaway from the individuals in the fan base.

Working with the Council will enable both parties to achieve
more, and quicker than either could alone. This is a unique
opportunity to more effectively deliver the partnerships of both
parties.

4

P
age 136



FOREWORD
WIRRAL COUNCIL

The Wirral Plan sets a long-term plan to bring about
real change – not just in what can be achieved but in
the manner in which we will deliver it. We are
committed to working in partnership to deliver the
corporate objectives. Our ambition is to work with all
partners in the public, private and community sector to
achieve higher aspirations and to achieve a better
Wirral.

Tranmere Rovers Football Club are an important
partner to Wirral Council, not least in supporting the
delivery of our Community Wealth Building Strategy
and we are committed to working with the club and
other partners to successfully achieve our joint
ambitions. This agreement underpins our partnering
arrangements and provides the context for our current
and future collaborations.

5

P
age 137



WORKING TOGETHER 
TO PROVIDE:

* GREATER JOB OPPORTUNITIES IN 
WIRRAL

* WORKFORCE SKILLS MATCH 
BUSINESS NEEDS

* VIBRANT TOURISM ECONOMY
* ASSETS & BUILDINGS ARE FIT FOR 

PURPOSE
* OLDER PEOPLE LIVE WELL

* LEISURE & CULTURE OPPORTUNITIES 
FOR ALL 

* WIRRAL RESIDENTS LIVE HEALTHIER 
LIVES

The Council have been working with Tranmere Rovers for

many years and have a well-established relationship with

the club. Over the past four years the Council has spent

over half a million pounds in commissioning the club to

carry out work. This includes:

• Working with schools

• Healthy communities

• Lifelong learning

• Outreach

• Labour Market Programme

• Healthy Wirral

Together we are focussed on driving innovation, whilst 
making best use of resources, and maximising funding 
and commercial opportunities. 

We work in partnership to use the opportunities
available to us to support the delivery of our joint
objectives and cement the already established working
relationship.

6

P
age 138



FUNDING

Both parties recognise that the Club must endeavour to
seek out all forms of funding it has available to it in
the first instance.

The Council support this by helping the club to research
and find external funding and by supporting the
completion of bid applications.

The Council has a dedicated team member who
supports the Club with this as part of it’s commitment to
enabling the Club to remain financially sustainable
whilst recognising that this is ultimately the sole
responsibility of the Club.

However, there are occasions when the Council can
support the club by providing funding in the way of a
grant or loan. This will ultimately be of benefit to the
Council as well as the club i.e. a grant will include
relevant KPI’s to support the Council’s objectives. A
loan will be on a commercial basis and generate a
rate of return for the Council

7

P
age 139



CASE STUDY –
WIRRAL WAYS TO 

WORK

* GRANT FUNDED FROM EUROPEAN 
SOCIAL FUND AND MATCH FUNDED BY 

WIRRAL COUNCIL

Wirral Ways to Work is a grant funded wage subsidy
scheme for disadvantaged young people aged 16-29 in
Wirral (majority aged under 25). The scheme enables local
employers to create additional job opportunities within their
workforce for economically disadvantaged young people
who need more support to enter the labour market.

Since programme start in 2016, 24 young people have
completed an Intermediate Labour Market (ILM) placement
with Tranmere Rovers.

19 of those have gone onto sustained employment. 7
placements are currently in progress.

The scheme particularly benefits young people who are
care leavers, young offenders/at risk of offending, or have
special educational needs.

Since programme start in 2016 up to July 2018, total value
of ILM grant payments to Tranmere Rovers Football Club
and Tranmere in the Community is £182,552.

8

P
age 140



Tranmere has had success re-inventing itself as a private sector
supplier of public sector services, delivering alternative provisions for
education, implementing employment schemes, community
engagement and creating a thriving international department.

Education: TRFC College – variety of recognised qualifications across age range
of pre-16, 15-18, 19+ and adults.

Community: Talent Match – Programme aimed at finding employment for
youths who have offended or are at risk of offending.

International: USA soccer player training programmes – Since October 2018
following the successful training of Chinese coaches and Indonesian players at
the Campus, The International Soccer Academy (ISA) has broadened its
programme to North America and has been recruiting and delivering
programmes to US college teams at the Campus. The ISA offer a range of
football development programmes, with the emphasis on in-UK delivery.

COMMUNITY WORK

What better for a local council if they can 
buy into the concept of a Club as a 
community asset to help them more 
effectively deliver their agenda. 

98% of college students progress into 

education or employment

247% increase of intake for 2018-19 

academic year

280 US college players came to the 

Wirral for training between Jan 2019-

August 2019

Launch of first International Soccer 

Academy abroad in the US in October 

2019

132% recruitment of young people 

against target.

96% retained and completed 

programme

Around 30,000 people engaged 

through community projects each 

season

9

P
age 141



CASE STUDY –
WELLBEING

IMPROVEMENTS TO WELLBEING 
EVIDENCED THROUGH THE 

NATIONAL MENTAL WELLBEING 
SCALE:

71.2% IMPROVEMENT  
AGAINST TARGET OF 40%

The Wellbeing contract is to engage the disengaged
by setting up a range of activities to tackle the issue of
social isolation and promote active inclusion to improve
and provide mental health/wellbeing benefits and
lead to greater readiness for work.

The project provides outreach and 1:1 support to
individuals within the community to encourage greater
access to social groups and activities within the
football club through the use of a range of
engagement techniques.

10

P
age 142



FANPARK

As a significant part of the change of the direction of
the Club, one of the first actions on acquiring the Club
was to agree to work with the Supporters Trust and the
Official Supporters Club. As a symbolic indicator of
this change the Chairman converted the directors car
park into a fan park.

The Fan Park in the grounds of Prenton Park has been
set up by the Trust and is open for all fans on a match
day. Working in partnership with the Club, local
businesses and charities, the Fan Park offers a pre and
post match experience for both Rovers fans and
travelling supporters.

11

P
age 143



SOCIAL VALUE

NATIONAL SOCIAL VALUE PORTAL 
TOMS:

* THEMES
* OUTCOMES
* MEASURES

PEOPLE: Supporting 
Safer and More Resilient 
Communities in Wirral 
£4m

BUSINESS: Supporting the 
Growth of Wirral's Local 
Skills and Employment to 
Enhance Regional Business
£11m

LIVING ENVIRONMENT: 
Protecting and Improving 
Wirral's Living Environment
£0.4m

TOTAL SOCIAL VALUE £15M

This excludes other value created that is not included in TOMS matrix e.g.

work in primary Schools & visitor economy through international business 12

P
age 144



➢ Category 4 scholarship programme, focusing to develop local

talented footballers.

➢ College Development Programme providing disengaged young

people aged 16-18 with an education and playing pathway.

➢ High National Diploma - providing local young people with an

education programme and pathway to university.

➢ Football Development Centres, providing coaching programmes

for young people aged 6-16. Supporting development of

players and working closely to enhance grassroots football

provision.

➢ Unique international programmes ranging from coach

education and player development (grassroots & elite) as well as

football tourism tailored for the Chinese and Indonesian market.

➢ Liverpool Women, providing a training facility for Liverpool

Women First Team.

➢ Vocational training centre, using all the elements of delivery to

provide local young people with valuable work experience to

support them to access training and career opportunities.

➢ Volunteer Hub, the delivery of training for volunteers and

numerous opportunities to keep them engaged and active.

➢ Community gym which is open to the general public four nights

per week

➢ Potential brand new 3G pitch for the community to use

ASSETS

SOLAR CAMPUS:          
LEASED FROM THE COUNCIL 

UNTIL 2115

13

P
age 145



Between 2017-18 current inbound expenditure to local City Region businesses equate to £217,500. Ancillary spend of groups 

over in UK equates to £357,000. 

SPORTS TOURISM
Tranmere have been a key partner with the Inner Mongolian
Government (IMG) in contributing to the blueprint of football
development in the Chinese province of Inner Mongolia which is the
pilot practice for the development of grassroots football in China
following President Xi’s dictation regarding football and has provided
Elite player development programmes, Coach Education Courses and
Educational Resources.

Using the success of ISA IMG programmes, markets have been
opened out in North America and South East Asia. The Indonesian
Surabaya government signed a memorandum of understanding with
Liverpool City which specified football development as a priority and
sent over Indonesian players in 2018, the next team due in 2020.

In 2019 the ISA’s USA college programme commenced with coaches
and 15 College Teams visiting Wirral for training. The work in
Indonesia was responsible for attracting the recent investment in the
Club.

Between 2017-18 inbound 
TRFC expenditure to local 

City Region businesses 
equate to £217,500

£357,500 
expenditure by 

visitors in City 
Region Economy

9,000 Chinese players 
and 1,500 Chinese 

coaches trained by 
TRFC in the elite Hainan 

football camp

14

The ISA sell the unique

footballing geography of the

North-West and self-funded

travel to different regions in the

world putting Wirral on the Map

P
age 146



ASPIRATIONS

* LOCAL WEALTH
* INDEPENDENT COMMUNITIES

* EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES
* TRANSFER OF ASSETS

* BEING HEALTHY

The Council’s Local Wealth Building Strategy describes a
future vision where communities are healthy, have
opportunities for employment, have support to create their
own businesses and take ownership of Council assets to use
for their own activities.

A key success factor for this to work is communities feeling
confident and having high self-esteem to look after
themselves and be proud of the areas they live in.

Tranmere is central to this with the work it promotes on
supporting mental health, rehabilitation and supporting
independence. The Club’s vision is to be located in the
heartland of Wirral, delivering repeatedly the Club’s
community based offering clos to the individual communities.

The council’s ambition is that in future it will only need to
support the most vulnerable who cannot look after
themselves with communities looking after each other

15

P
age 147



ASPIRATIONS

* RADICAL RETHINK
* NEW COMPETITION MODELS

* CREATING A COMMUNITY ASSET
* NEW OWNERSHIP MODELS:

- FAN OWNED
- PUBLIC SECTOR OWNED

- INVESTOR OWNED 

Being more visible and active in the Community to support
the Council’s Community Wealth Building Strategy

Expansion and further usage of assets to support the further
delivery of programmes, community work and club functions

More buildings for increased education provision and to take
on more students

Assets to be fit for purpose and carbon neutral to support
the Council’s Climate Emergency

Deliver increased international programmes and creation of
several outbound TRFC academies to feed into inbound
programmes

Community expansion to meet higher volume of people,
Recreation Centre fit for purpose and quality delivery

Future Stadium

16

P
age 148



CLIMATE     
EMERGENCY

ASPIRATIONS

The Council declared a Climate Emergency in July this
year.

We will work with the Club to support them with
initiatives like promoting sustainable travel for fans
e.g. soccer buses and shared vehicle promotion and
even a bike hiring scheme with the Club/Council
partnership logo on the bikes

Recycling waste and promoting renewable containers
is important for both the Council and the Club and we
will look to move to more environmentally sustainable
containers for the all our catering and refreshment
requirements.

Becoming carbon neutral is an aspiration for us both
and working together we would be able to achieve
economies of scale in working towards this goal

17

P
age 149



LINKS TO COUNCIL 
STRATEGIES

AN INTRINSIC LINK 
TO ALL THAT THAT 

COUNCIL DOES

18

Partnering 
Agreement

Social 
Value 
Policy

Community 
Wealth 
Building 
Strategy

Healthy 
Wirral

Inclusive 
Economy

Borough of 
Culture 
2019

Estates 
Strategy

P
age 150



GOVERNANCE

THE COUNCIL WILL

Provide assets for the Club
to operate from

Provide support to the Club
regarding its strategic
direction and impact on the
community. Be clear of what
support is available and
timescales to ensure the most
beneficial outcomes for
residents

Resolve and respond quickly
and flexibly to partnership
projects and proposals

Continue to raise the profile
and impact of ‘Wirral’s
family club’, evaluating the
effective delivery it equates
to

TRANMERE ROVERS WILL

Contribute to the Councils’
vison and delivery plan,
utilising the brand of the club.
Ensuring sufficient community
provision is available from its
non-football activities

Provide information on the
achievement of outcomes and
impact of the effective
delivery

Continue to seek external
funding and projects which
attract investment to the
Wirral and the partnership
projects.

Maintain and protect the
Council’s interest in its assets.

19

P
age 151



CONTACTS

TRANMERE ROVERS 

Mark Palios, Chairman

Dawn Tolcher, Director 
of non-football

WIRRAL COUNCIL

Shaer Halewood, FD

Lucy Barrow, AD for 
Culture

20

P
age 152



CABINET
30 SEPTEMBER 2019

NORTH WEST MUTUAL COMMUNITY BANK

Councillor Janette Williamson, Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources, said:

“I am delighted that Wirral Council is set to join forces with other local authorities in the North 
West to open a high street bank. The move will see a main branch and a number of “satellite” 
branches opened at key locations across the borough. The aim is to help the most vulnerable 
people in Wirral and also small businesses struggling to access the banking services they 
need. 

There is no doubt that it ‘costs more to be poor’ and working with other councils we are 
determined to do our bit to help those who need it most. Alongside Preston and Liverpool 
Council we will step in to provide the service the high street banks are failing to provide as 
they focus on their most valuable customers and shut branches where many of our residents 
actually need them most.

Branches closing down on the high street mean businesses, such as many small traders 
around Wirral’s coast who work mainly with cash, struggle to deposit their money. Insurance 
is expensive if they keep money on their premises and it’s costly for them to travel a lengthy 
distance to main branches every night to put their money somewhere safe every night.

It’s not just local businesses who will benefit from this. Older people who get a pension 
regularly use their accounts to receive the pension then withdraw it often in one go to pay 
their bills and other expenses. Many banks find this unprofitable and combined with branch 
closures it makes managing their finances difficult.

In addition, there are many people who struggle to get accounts. They may not have 
permanent accommodation or have not lived somewhere long enough to qualify to open an 
account or have a poor credit history. The poverty premium whereby essential services cost 
more if you don’t have a bank account can cost between £490 - £750 per year. With our 
Community Bank we will support the most vulnerable to keep more of their own money by 
making a bank account accessible to them.”

REPORT SUMMARY

Local authorities have a role to play in shaping regional financial services as part of their 
policies and partnerships, these support residents, develop local economies and meet 
strategic objectives for promoting economic development; and includes supporting small 
and medium-sized enterprises’ (SMEs) business growth and financial inclusion for all 
members of our community. 

The current UK banking institutions and infrastructure do not provide a diverse and inclusive 
financial services. Many individuals and businesses are excluded from a basic banking  
offer, as they are considered unprofitable or too risky, within the standard banking business 

Page 153

Agenda Item 9



model. In our environment, this is noticeable in multiple branch closures, withdrawal of free 
to use ATMs and increased reliance on a digital offer. 

The impact of this is most keenly felt by the most vulnerable individuals and businesses. 
Reduced access to basic banking services increases costs, places unfair limitations when 
accessing other services / products and reduces social mobility.

A growing number of local authorities are now investing in community banks, challenger 
banks and other initiatives outside the mainstream financial services sector to help meet 
their local priorities. 

Wirral and other authorities in Cumbria, Lancashire and Merseyside (from now on referred 
to in this report as the North West) have the opportunity to support the setting up of a regional 
bank called North West Mutual (NWM) Bank (The Bank). 

The Community Savings Bank Association, registered with the Financial Conduct Authority 
is seeking to develop 19 regional community banking models across the UK, with London 
and the South West already in the pipeline and Wales and some other regions following 
close behind. 

Prior to and once established The Bank would need to approach potential social investors 
and regional anchor institutions, that share the social and economic ethos of the mutual, to 
invest circa £20m of the share capital required. It is intended to hold a potential investor day 
together with Liverpool and Preston councils, once the appointment of the banking expert 
has been made. 

A due diligence exercise will review the case to establish a North West Regional Community 
Bank (The Bank) creating a regional community bank for the North West of England covering 
Cumbria, Lancashire and Merseyside.

This matter affects all Wards within the Borough.

This is a key decision.

RECOMMENDATION/S:

1. The Cabinet endorses the requirement for a North West Mutual Community Bank

2. The Cabinet agrees to delegate responsibility to the Director of Finance and 
Investment to carry out a due diligence exercise into the establishment of a 
Community Savings Bank.

Page 154



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 The Council at its meeting on 5 March 2019 agreed a £5.0m commitment in the 
capital programme 2019 – 2024 as an investment in the North West Mutual 
Community Bank. The due diligence exercise will will look at the potential financial 
return and the risks associated with the model. The initial case put to the council 
would suggest returns of annual dividends of 7.5% could be achieved by year 5, with 
future increases related to share of profits. It is expected that a high and growing 
dividend yield, moderate share price growth is likely over the medium term and impact 
investors (such as local authorities) can choose to extract the additional return or 
recycle financial returns into further social impact in debt, poverty alleviation or 
financial capability and training.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 The Council could use due diligence information that Regional Partners provided in 
conjunction with internally-sourced demographic information. This has not been 
explored further as the scale and reach of the project will benefit from an expert 
approach, and provide greater insight in specific requirements for Wirral residents 
and businesses.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

The Rationale for a Community Bank

3.1 The UK bank landscape and investment institutions currently do not provide a diverse 
and resilient financial system that has enough variety and choice to serve the needs 
of all our community. Groups of individuals and businesses are excluded from 
obtaining a basic level of service from financial services providers; bank branches 
closure in the region have been significant and often in the poorest areas at a time, 
when there are still large sections of our community who rely on bank branches to 
carry out their banking needs, both business and personal. ATM charges are 
becoming the norm and the poverty premiums mean that those that are the most 
vulnerable pay more for financial services products.

3.2 Local banks supporting local businesses have been successful in Germany with 
around 70% of banking carried out by some 1,700 local co-operative banks, and are 
defined by providing services in the public interest, over that of shareholders. Each 
savings bank is independent, locally managed and concentrates its business 
activities on customers in the region in which it is situated. This model could be 
sustainable in the UK.

3.3 According to Bristol University, individuals on low incomes suffer an average of £490 
p.a. additional costs due to being prevented from accessing preferential deals due to 
their income levels and history. The impact of this ‘poverty premium’ can be severe - 
for 10% of these households the cost rises to £780 p.a. and for those in severe 
hardship this premium rises to as much as £2,250 p.a. These costs are attributed 
with lack of access to a full current account, a necessity to use high-cost credit, living 
in perpetual overdraft debt, households using high cost “rent-to-own” for essential 
household goods.

Page 155



Financial Inclusion

3.4 One of the main characteristics of financial exclusion is having no bank account and 
no access to the financial services which are provided through it. It should also be 
noted that not having a bank account will affect a person’s ability to get a job, arrange 
accommodation, pay bills and prove their identity. In particular, those claiming 
Universal Credit will need to have a bank account. Wirral’s residents are facing high 
levels of debt and financial exclusion as a result of the impact of recent welfare 
reforms coupled with low median household incomes. Information regarding Wirral 
residents who are likely to be exposed to Financial Exclusion are included in 
Appendix B.

3.5 A consequence of financial exclusion is that those households pay a ‘poverty 
premium’ because they pay more for accessing basic financial products and services 
as well as higher costs for paying for energy and insurance. The most recent research 
estimates that the average cost which poor families bear in acquiring cash and credit, 
and in purchasing goods and services, can amount to a ‘poverty premium’ of around 
£490 a year with the most affected experiencing a poverty premium of £750 a year. 
To poor households these are significant sums. People on low incomes must often 
rely on ‘sub-prime’ credit or high-cost mail order at higher rates of interest because 
they cannot access mainstream financial services. 

Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises (SMEs)
3.6 SMEs can struggle to access finance from the mainstream banking sector and since 

the financial crisis banks have reduced the amount of risk they are willing to take on 
in their lending decisions to SMEs. Credit conditions have tended to be more 
constrained for smaller SMEs. Empirical studies show that large banks have a 
propensity to lend to large businesses and small to medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) 
will be overlooked by them. 

3.7 According to recent data from the ONS, Wirral’s local economy is dominated by the 
SME sector. These are the organisations who often struggle to raise loans from big 
banks and could be better served by a smaller bank. According to the latest national 
data on SMEs from UK Finance, loans to the sector are falling. Around 20% of loan 
applications from SMEs were rejected by the major banks in Quarter 2 of 2017 and 
there was a 14% fall in applications compared to Quarter 2 in 2016. Lack of access 
to financial services limits the sustainability and growth of SMEs.  

Community Bank Offer
3.8 NWM Bank looks to offer financial inclusion, the same service for all regardless of 

income and will charge a simple and transparent upfront membership fee of £5/month 
for personal accounts, £10/month for business accounts to all customers. In return 
for this fee, there are a range of benefits that current account providers will receive 
such as: 

 The provision of staffed branch services, which many SMEs rely on for cash 
banking facilities.

 Local knowledge supporting local decisions.
 A current account without requiring a minimum income or a credit check, which 

means that customers currently excluded and seen as a greater risk can bank, 
improve financial management and receive the wider benefits from direct debit 
discounts. 

Page 156



 Interest will be paid on whole combined balance across accounts including current 
account balances.

 No complex additional charges (for example SME’s paying in cash).
 Access to cash via ATM’s will be free. 
 The main credit product for Individuals and SME’s is an overdraft, which can only 

be provided directly by banks, addressing the gaps in services offers from credit 
unions or post office accounts.

 Access to residential mortgages as well as business and personal loans at 
reasonable rates.

3.9 The guiding principle is that the management fee is outweighed by the other financial 
benefits and look to actively reduce ‘poverty premium’ for low income families.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 The likely cost of an initial due diligence exercise is £50,000, a revenue item which 
would be funded from existing reserves

4.2 The due diligence exercise will identify if the NWM Bank is a viable option for Wirral 
Council and its regional partners. If this is the case, there will be further costs. Once 
incorporated, NWM anticipates a timeframe from concept to trading from 2020 – 2022 
and is seeking total investment of circa £20m in 3 rounds. 

 Round 1 – Q4 2019 - £300,000 - initial investment to build initial team and start 
licensing process - Investment in this round will result in two free shares for every 
share purchased which NWM estimate equates to circa 20% Internal Rate of Return 
(IRR). 

 Round 2 – Q1 2021 - £2.0m - Investment to finalise licensing, test systems, build bank 
team and first branches and HQ – Investment in this round will result in one free share 
for every share purchased which estimate equates to circa 15% IRR.

 Round 3 – 2022 - Investment drawn down day after license gained to capitalise the 
bank. Operations go live with branches fitted out and systems integrated, and trading 
commence £18m - Investment in this round will result in one share and circa 7.5% 
dividend.

4.3 It should be noted that if the due diligence exercise leads to a decision not to proceed, 
this cost is sunk.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The local authority has the power under the 2000 Local Government Act to promote 
the economic and social wellbeing of the borough, enabling it to support initiatives 
which support economic regeneration and development.

 
5.2 There are two primary powers which would enable the Council to invest in NW Mutual 

– Section 12 Local Government Act 2003 and section 1 Localism Act 2011. Under 
section 12 (a) Local Government Act 2003 a local authority may invest for any 
purpose relevant to its functions. There is no limit on the nature of the investment, 
provided it is relevant to the authority’s functions. Section 12 (b) Local Government 
Act 2003 allows a local authority to invest for the purposes of the prudent 
management of its financial affairs. Investment under (b) is aimed at general 

Page 157



prudential management of finances, which would mean any investment would need 
to comply with the authority’s investment strategy etc. Section 1 Localism Act 2011 
gives a general power of competence. As the investment in NW Mutual may be 
characterised as an activity for a commercial purpose, then the local authority can 
undertake the activity through a permitted structure as set out in s4 Localism Act 
2011. The proposed NW Mutual structure as NW Mutual is a registered society within 
the meaning of the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014, which 
is permitted under section 4. 

5.3 NW Mutual will be a co-operative society registered with the Financial Conduct 
Authority, but yet to commence trading. It requires regulatory consents before it can 
commence trading, and if these are not forthcoming the Council will lose its 
investment. 

5.4 As a limited liability entity, if NW Mutual is wound up, the Council will have no liability 
beyond the value of its initial investment. The shares are non-withdrawable – this 
means that the Council cannot withdraw its share capital from the Mutual; it can only 
cease to be a member if the directors of NW Mutual agree to that being the case.

5.5 A shareholder is not automatically a member of the Mutual – an application has to be 
made. It is envisaged that the application to become a member will take place at the 
same time as the application to subscribe for shares. If the application to become a 
member is not accepted, NW Mutual is under no obligation to repay the subscription 
monies for the shares.  

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1 No adverse implications for Staffing, ICT and Assets

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 There are a range of risks associated with the progression of The Bank, however, 
these will be, in some part, addressed by the initial due diligence exercise. 

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 Community Bank Training was provided to all members on 10 September 2019

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 There are no adverse equality implications at this stage. A full equality impact 
assessment will be carried out by the NWM 

REPORT AUTHOR: Shaer Halewood
Director of Finance and Investment 
telephone:  (0151) 691 8688
email:   shaerhalewood@wirral.gov.uk

Page 158



APPENDICES

Appendix A – Background to CSBA and recent history of Regional Mutual Banks
Appendix B – Detailed analysis of Wirral Demographic Financial Inclusion

BACKGROUND PAPERS

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Full Council Capital Programme approval 5 March 2019

Page 159



APPENDIX A 

Background to CSBA and recent history of Regional Mutual Banks

North West Mutual is being set up under the umbrella of the Community Savings Bank 
Association (CSBA) – a registered co-operative under the Co-operative and Community 
Benefit Societies Act 2014 – which is aiming to create a network of 18 community banks in 
the regions. CSBA is aiming to encourage stronger regional banks and challenge the 
concentration of market share of the Big Five: Barclays, HSBC, Lloyds Banking Group, RBS 
and Santander. Since 2010, national policy has encouraged diversification of the banking 
and finance sector.

To date, none of the CSBA sponsored regional banks are as yet operational. However, in 
the regions and in London, local authorities have been investing in and supporting non-
mainstream banking and financial services initiatives. So far, the largest has been 
Hampshire Community Bank which has attracted investment from a number of local 
authorities, including Portsmouth City Council which approved a capital Investment of up to 
£5 million in preference shares in 2014 while Eastleigh Borough Council bought £500,000 
in shares in 2014 in the bank. Other local authority investors include Winchester District 
Council and Test Valley District Council and in total, councils have committed £6.25million 
as investments. The bank intends to issue a 7 per cent return to these investors via dividends 
on the shares for 10 years. 1

Hampshire Community Bank was set up by the Local First Community Interest Company. 
As a community interest company, surpluses are mainly re-invested in the business or in 
the community and half of the returns go to HCB Foundation, a charity. As a not-for-profit 
bank it cannot ever be taken over or sold and exists to benefit local communities. The bank 
is in the process of applying for a banking license to the Prudential Regulation Authority 
(PRA) and the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA). However, joint working between Local 
First Community Interest Company and the local authorities has enabled loans from a 
Regional Growth Fund totaling £1.1million to be made to supports small and medium-sized 
enterprises (SMEs) operating in the area. 2

The model for the Hampshire bank is the Sparkassen in Germany, local savings banks 
which provide long-term finance for local businesses, promote savings, and offer credit 
services to all customers, regardless of their personal income and financial situation. 
Surpluses and profits generated remain with the savings bank and stay in the regional 
economy. 3 In some Sparkassen 40 per cent of their lending is totally unsecured but they 
have very low default rates because of strong relationships of trust and between the savings 
bank and businesses. 4

Other examples of community banking in the regions supported by local authorities include 
Cambridge and Counties Bank, which was set up as a partnership between Trinity Hall 
College and Cambridge and Cambridgeshire Local Government Pension Fund. In 
Warrington in the north-west, the Redwood Bank in Warrington focuses on the SME sector 
and in April 2017, Warrington Borough Council became a shareholder and acquired a 33 
per cent stake. Redwood Bank also offers accounts to clubs, associations, charities and 
societies. 5 It should be noted that not all initiatives by local authorities in this area have been 

1 Eastleigh Council Audit and Resources Committee, 9 August 2017; Portsmouth City Council, Cabinet Report 15 July 
2014
2 www.hampshirebank.org
3 CV Simpson, ‘The German Sparkassen’ (Civitas, 2013), pp.10-20
4 London Assembly, Economy Committee, Transcript 10 October 2017
5 www.redwoodbank.co.uk/inside-redwood/history/

Page 160



successful. Bournemouth Borough Council established the Bournemouth Community 
Finance Company in 2014 using £15 million of unallocated capital reserves. It had forecast 
a return of between £6.9m and £24.2m over its first 10 years. However, the company was 
closed in 2015 after lending to around 22 business in 18 months. 6

Local authorities are also supporting microfinance initiatives. Microfinance emerged 
originally in developing countries. For example, M-PESA in Kenya allows users to deposit 
money into an account stored on their smartphones, send balances through SMS to other 
users and redeem deposits for cash. While it does not pay interest on deposits, or make 
loans, it is increasing trade and household savings. 7 Similarly, Grameen Bank in 
Bangladesh has led community development by making small loans to the poorest 
households enabling them to develop businesses and stimulate growth. The methodology 
and thinking behind microfinance is being applied in the UK. Fair Finance, which started in 
2012 in Tower Hamlets, has helped 30,000 financially excluded residents and lent over 
£17million in 15,000 loans, and £1million in loans to small businesses. Fair Finance’s first 
branch was on a council estate in Stepney, and it now operates five branches in south and 
east London. It has also helped the most financially excluded people open accounts with 
mainstream banks and was one of the first community finance organisations in the UK to 
start updating client payment histories to help improve their access to credit. 8

North West Mutual is incorporated under the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies 
Act 2014 and registered by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) as a co-operative society. 
Constitutionally, the governance of the co-operative would be controlled by its members who 
would run it on the basis of one-member-one-vote so it would be a mutually owned bank. 
The directors of the board would be elected. As a co-operative, the bank would trade purely 
for the mutual benefit of its members and any surpluses will be shared with members as 
dividends, proportional to investment, as well as loan interest rate rebates and savings rate 
bonuses. 9 Shareholders in the bank would also have to be members and would be entitled 
to vote on the basis of their membership – shareholding is non-voting. Customers of the 
bank, whether businesses or current account holders, would be members. In effect, the 
governance arrangements mean that customers would own the bank. 

The business model of NWM is to be a regional bank for the North West. It will be protected 
from being taken over, floated or operating outside of the North West and membership will 
be restricted to those individuals who are resident in the area or businesses which operate 
in the area. The operating model is that local savings will be used exclusively in the North 
West to make local loans, creating and retaining wealth within the regional economy. NWM 
will be constitutionally precluded from any speculative trading on its account or operating 
outside of the North West. Similar to Hampshire Community Bank the model is influenced 
by the German Sparkassen and puts importance on trust relationships between the bank 
and its customers and long-term relationships between them. NWM is also committed to 
local knowledge of the needs of customers and businesses within the region and to face-to-
face personal relationships with them, which may not be practiced by mainstream banks. 
Membership and a shareholding in the bank would commit the local authority to this type of 
long-term relationship.

6 Mark Sandford, ‘Local Government: Alternative Models of Service Delivery’ (House of Commons Library Briefing 
Paper, May 2016) p20
7 William Jack and Tavneet Suri, ‘Mobile Money: The Economics of M-PESA’, (National Bureau of Economic Research, 
2011).
8 https://www.fairfinance.org.uk/about-us/history/
9 Timothy Edmonds and Jeanne Delebarre ‘Social Enterprise’ House of Commons Briefing Paper, (July, 2016), 

Page 161



APPENDIX B
Financial Inclusion Demographics

Wirral’s residents are facing high levels of debt and financial exclusion as a result of the 
impact of recent welfare reforms coupled with low median household incomes. In response, 
the council has developed a Financial Inclusion Strategy as part of the draft Community 
Wealth Building Strategy to coordinate activities across departments and work with partners. 

One of the main characteristics of financial exclusion is having no bank account and no 
access to the financial services which are provided through it.10 It should also be noted that 
not having a bank account will affect a person’s ability to get a job, arrange accommodation, 
pay bills and prove their identity. In particular, those claiming Universal Credit will need to 
have a bank account. ONS does not have borough-level data; however, ONS data shows 
that 3% of households in the north west have no bank account of any kind, this rises to 4% 
when the Post Office Card Account (POCA), which has limited functionality and is not 
considered by the Treasury to lead to full financial inclusion, is excluded.  8% of Households 
in the North West do not have a current account.

Table 1: Percentage of Households Without Bank Accounts/Current Accounts

En
gl

an
d

N
or

th
 W

es
t

16
-2

4*

85
+*

B
A

M
E*

Si
ng

le
 

Pe
ns

io
ne

r*

Si
ng

le
 

B
en

ef
its

*

W
or

kl
es

s/

In
ac

tiv
e*

No Account 
(Including 
POCA)

3% 3% 5% 5% 4% 4% 10% 11%

No Account 
(Excluding 
POCA)

3% 4% 6% 6% 4% 5% 10% 13%

No Current 
Account 6% 8% 12% 8% 7% 8% 14% 21%

Source: Adapted from Family Resources Survey 2017/18, ONS; *DWP data for households in United Kingdom

10 Transact: The National Forum For Financial Exclusion/Resolution Foundation Briefing, 2015

Page 162



There are at present an estimated 149,000 households in Wirral.  Based on the percentage 
for the North West without an account there are likely to be around 5,960 households in 
Wirral without a bank account (excluding POCA). Assuming the (mean) average household 
size is 2.8 people there could be around 16,700 people at least living in households without 
a bank account at present and therefore suffering financial exclusion. 11 

However, a segmentation of the national ONS data for households by age, ethnicity, 
worklessness and economic inactivity and those in receipt of benefits, who are the main 
groups at risk of financial exclusion, suggests the figures for Wirral of households without a 
bank account or current account may be higher than the North West percentage. Wirral has 
a far lower BAME population than the North West or national average – 5% compared with 
12.9% for The North West. The percentage of worklessness households in Wirral is 16.1%, 
lower than the North West average of 10.3%, but the number of economically inactive people 
is 21.9%, which is lower than the North West average of 23.1%. 12 

In addition, Wirral has a residual problem of low pay. Median average household earnings 
for full-time workers in Wirral are £529.6 per week compared with a North West average of 
£532.1 and national average of £571.1. The percentage of adults who claim work related  
benefits in Wirral is 3.7% compared with the North West average of 3.5%. 13

A consequence of not having a bank account and financial exclusion is that those 
households could pay a ‘poverty premium’ because they have to pay more for accessing 
basic financial products and services as well as higher costs for paying for energy and 
insurance. The most recent research estimates that the average cost which poor families 
bear in acquiring cash and credit, and in purchasing goods and services, can amount to a 
‘poverty premium’ of around £490 a year with the most affected experiencing a poverty 
premium of £750 a year. To poor households these are significant sums. People on low 
incomes must often rely on ‘sub-prime’ credit or high-cost mail order at higher rates of 
interest because they cannot access mainstream financial services. 14

There are concerns regarding the effects of welfare reform. Under the new system of 
Universal Credit people are expected to claim online and have payments paid into bank 
accounts. Full rollout for Wirral was implemented in January 2018. The NWM model could 
help to mitigate wider effects of welfare reform and in particular Universal Credit such as 
payments direct to households rather than landlords which may push some households into 
arrears. The NWM current account product would offer ‘jam-jar accounting’ so that money 
is ring-fenced and separated as it comes in. The introduction of Universal Credit is thought 
to be making it more difficult for people to budget so the ‘jam-jar’ approach of dividing money 
into separate pots for different purposes means that once a recipient has a monthly payment 
they can ring-fence an amount for the rent and a certain amount for bills. NWM also plans 
to have financial literacy and initiatives to help people with budgeting. There will be a monthly 

11 Estimate based on taxable household data from Wirral Council Business Intelligence Team, July 19
12 ‘Labour Market  Profile Wirral’ NOMIS official labour market statistics 2018, Office for National Statistics
13 NOMIS official labour market statistics 2018, Office for National Statistics (includes Universal Credit claimants)
14 Family Resources Survey 2015/16 (Office for National Statistics, 16 March 2017); Sara Davies, Andrea Finney and 
Yvette Hartfree, ‘The Poverty Premium: When Low-Income Households Pay More for Essential Goods and Services’ 
(University of Bristol, 2016)

Page 163



flat-rate fee of £5.00 but NWM will have no hidden fees, charges for a bank letter, or 
unauthorised overdraft penalties. 15 

Wirral Council also has a long-standing policy commitment to supporting the development 
of credit unions.  NWM would enable the credit unions which operate in the borough (o 
access greater sources of finance and increase their capacity locally.

Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises (SMEs)

SMEs can struggle to access finance from the mainstream banking sector and since the 
financial crisis banks have reduced the amount of risk they are willing to take on in their 
lending decisions to SMEs. Credit conditions have tended to be more constrained for smaller 
SMEs. Empirical studies show that large banks have a propensity to lend to large 
businesses and small to medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) will be overlooked by them. As 
a regional bank anchored in the North West economy, NWM argues it would be better placed 
and more receptive to lending to the borough’s SMEs and enabling this sector to grow. 

According to recent data from the ONS, Wirral’s local economy is dominated by the SME 
sector. Of the 8,550 enterprises in the borough, only 20, (0.23%) have 250 or more 
employees. The biggest segment are micro-enterprises of up to 9 employees at 88.7%, 
7,580 employees followed by small enterprises, 815 employees (9.5%). 16 These are the 
organisations who often struggle to raise loans from big banks and could be better served 
by a smaller bank. According to the latest national data on SMEs from UK Finance, loans to 
the sector are falling. Around 20% of loan applications from SMEs were rejected by the 
major banks in Quarter 2 of 2017 and there was a 14% fall in applications compared to 
Quarter 2 in 2016. 17

Table 2: Enterprises in Wirral and the North West by Number/Percentage

Enterprises Wirral  
number

Wirral  
Percentage

North West 
number

North West 
Percentage

Micro 0-9 7,580 88.7 238,155 88.9

Small 10-49 815 9.5 24,290 9.1

Medium 50-49 135 1.6 4,315 1.6

Large 250+ 20 0.2 1,005 0.4

Total 8,550 - 267,765 -

Source: NOMIS official labour market statistics 2017, Office for National Statistics

In year 2016-17 the Cabinet agreed to participate ‘in principle’ in a pilot business rates pool 
in 2017-18 year and to enter into negotiations with other boroughs. The devolution of 
business rates means that SMEs will become particularly important and their growth needs 
to be encouraged. However, the lack of finance available to SMEs is thought to be imposing 

15 ‘The Mayor’s Role in Promoting Financial Inclusion’, London Assembly Economy Committee, 10 October 2017
16 NOMIS official labour market Wirral Profile statistics 2018, Office for National Statistics
17 www.ukfinance.org.uk/sme-finance-data-q2-2017/

Page 164



restraints on the growth of some SMEs in the borough. A regional bank for the North West 
such as NWM could help overcome these bottlenecks faced by the sector. 

Since the 2007-2008 financial crisis, securing access to finance remains a major barrier to 
start up and growth for some businesses, notably SMEs. Gaps include micro loans, early 
stage venture capital, and debt and equity for established SMEs. In particular, micro and 
small businesses report higher decline rates on new/renewed loan facilities.  For micro 
businesses the decline rate remains notably high at 35% for those with 1-9 employees.18 
88.7% of Wirral’s business base are microbusinesses with 0-9 employees.19 If we applied 
this decline rate to the 7,580 Wirral Micro businesses them this would equate to 2,653 
businesses who would be declined finance. 

The length of time a business has been operating can also impact on its ability to secure 
finance. Bibby Financial Services20 surveyed 1,000 SMEs and found that nearly half of those 
who had been rejected for finance were turned down because they had not been trading 
long enough.21 Research conducted on behalf of CYBG, a banking group, suggests that 
35% of SMEs continue to find accessing finance from banks a challenge. In addition, 9% of 
SMEs said that accessing finance is either very difficult or almost impossible. SMEs 
identified an increase in the availability of finance as the most important factor in their region 
which could help them grow and prosper, with 41% of SMEs saying it is the most important 
development in their region.22

According to a leading financial consultancy firm, Hadrian’s Wall Capital (HWC). Over half 
of the country has seen bank lending to SMEs fall over the past year, as small businesses 
continue to face difficulties securing finance. 14

NWM has said that a key part of its business model would help SMEs and micro-businesses 
in particular. Anecdotally, the majority of SMEs still access physical branches. For example, 
many cannot or do not want to keep cash on their premises. Wirral, like other areas of the 
uk, has experienced the closure of bank branches in recent years, which has reduced the 
size of the network. The NWM model would include a branch with a local director who would 
build up knowledge and relationships with local SMEs as well as having a good 
understanding of the local regional economy. A director would be able to make decisions 
about loans to SMEs based on a greater familiarity with local businesses than the big four 
banks, and on the basis of trust and relationships developed over time with local SMEs. The 
business model should mean that SMEs do not have to make the sub-optimal choices about 
accessing credit and loans which have been described in the surveys. The structure of 
SMEs in Wirral, as shown in 3.13, is heavily weighted towards coastal and microbusinesses 
– exactly the organisations which are most affected by sub-optimal financial decisions

18 http://responsiblefinance.org.uk/2017/10/responsible-finance-is-critical-to-supporting-small-businesses-and-
underpinning-londons-economic-success/ - (BDRC SME Finance Monitor, Q2 2017)
19 Inter Departmental Business Register (ONS), 2017
20 Leading independent business funder
21 https://www.fsb.org.uk/media-centre/press-releases/access-to-finance-still-a-problem-access-to-finance

22 http://smallbusiness.co.uk/smes-challenges-access-finance-banks-2537961/:

Page 165

http://responsiblefinance.org.uk/2017/10/responsible-finance-is-critical-to-supporting-small-businesses-and-underpinning-londons-economic-success/
http://responsiblefinance.org.uk/2017/10/responsible-finance-is-critical-to-supporting-small-businesses-and-underpinning-londons-economic-success/
http://smallbusiness.co.uk/smes-challenges-access-finance-banks-2537961/


This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET
30 SEPTEMBER 2019

WIRRAL WATERS INVESTMENT FUND – APPLICATION FOR 
FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE

Councillor Tony Jones, Cabinet Member, Regeneration & Growth, said:

“We have a vision for a borough that has economic growth at its heart; a vision that will 
ensure residents are able to access good, high paying jobs in a stable and thriving economy.

We are aware that the area in and around the Birkenhead Dock system suffers from a 
number of interrelated market failures following decades of industrial decline and lack of 
investment. It is our responsibility therefore to provide mechanisms of support in order to 
drive forward increased investment and regeneration. 

This report sets out the councils current and future role in transformation of Birkenhead, 
helping to bring more businesses and growth to the area.

Support of this scheme is crucial to contributing more widely to the success of the Wirral 
Waters development area, Woodside Waterfront and Birkenhead Town Centre regeneration 
initiatives.”

REPORT SUMMARY

Peel Investments (Intermediate) Limited (Peel) has applied for a grant from the Wirral 
Waters Investment Fund (WWIF) of £400,000 to help secure £2,100,000 of funding which 
has been agreed from the National Productivity Investment Fund (NPIF). This is in addition 
to £300,000 of project finance that Wirral Borough Council has already agreed to fund 
through its capital programme, £100,000 from European Structural and Investment Fund 
(ESIF) and £300,000 private sector contribution from Peel. The funding will be used to 
develop green infrastructure and public realm improvements in the Tower Road area of 
Birkenhead, an existing public highway on land already owned and adopted (maintained by 
obligation) by Wirral Council. 

The ‘Civilised Street’ works will transform A554 Tower Road through wider pavements, 
shared surface areas and reduced carriageway widths, and will create some 1km of shared 
footway / cycleway. It will link to existing and proposed pedestrian / cycle routes and bus 
stops, facilitating access to wider areas, making Tower Road a high-quality destination for 
workers, students, residents and visitors accessing the area by these modes.

Page 167

Agenda Item 10



The ‘Green Infrastructure’ element of the scheme will see 130 new trees planted, comprising 
90 large trees in pits located on grassed areas and 40 large trees in pits located on hard 
areas. 

This scheme will integrate with recent sustainable transport improvements in the Wirral 
Waters area including recently completed shared footway/cycleways on Northbank East and 
Rendell Street. Funding has also been secured via ESIF for the extension of the Northbank 
East scheme along Northbank West to the Duke Street junction where it will meet with a 
further STEP funded cycle route. All works in the area including the Tower Road Public 
Realm scheme are future proofed to accommodate the implementation of a mass transit 
solution.

These works will enhance the physical environment and accessibility associated with 
several key development and investment locations including the Wirral Waters Campus of 
Wirral Metropolitan College, Egerton Square amenity village, Tower Road Office and 
Maritime Knowledge Hub. Further, the scheme provides direct access linking committed 
footway and cycleways to new housing within the Northbank / Tower Road development 
cluster totalling approximately 1,100 units planned to 2024, with key projects including Wirral 
Walters One/Legacy, Belong Village and Urban Splash. Tower Road is key gateway route 
connecting Wirral Waters with Birkenhead town centre to the south. As such, the application 
is recognised to be crucial to contributing more widely to the success of the Wirral Waters 
development area, Woodside Waterfront and Birkenhead Town Centre regeneration 
initiatives. 

The Wirral Plan: A 2020 Vision sets out the vision for the borough and has economic growth 
at its heart to ensure residents are able to access good, high paying jobs in a stable and 
thriving economy. The Plan identifies 20 key pledges that the Council, and its partner 
agencies, must deliver and the application for financial assistance contained in this report 
directly supports the following pledges:

 Increase inward investment
 Workforce skills match business needs
 Greater job opportunities
 Thriving small businesses

This matter affects all Wards within the Borough.

The decision is regarded as a key decision.

EXEMPT INFORMATION

This report contains exempt information in the Appendices as defined in Schedule 12A of 
the Local Government Act 1972. It is in the public interest to exclude the press and public 
under Paragraph 3 ‘Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding the information). 

Appendix 1 includes the report submitted to the Investment and Change Board and is 
commercially sensitive.

Appendix 2 includes the Wirral Waters Investment Fund Business Plan and is commercially 
sensitive.

Page 168



Appendix 4 includes the Risk Register for this project and is commercially sensitive.

RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that Cabinet: 

1. Approves a grant of £400,000 to Peel Investments (Intermediate) Limited through the 
Wirral Waters Investment Fund to support the improvements to public realm in Tower 
Road, Birkenhead. 

2. Authorises the Director of Governance and Assurance in consultation with the 
Director for Economic and Housing Growth to draw up and sign a legal agreement 
between the Council and Peel Investments (Intermediate) Limited that is within State 
Aid regulations and subject to the conditions contained in Appendix 1 to this report.

Page 169



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

1.1 To enable the delivery of high-quality public realm and green infrastructure 
improvements at A554 Tower Road, to support the priorities of the Wirral Waters 
Investment Fund (WWIF). 

1.2 To enhance the physical environment and accessibility associated with a number of 
key education, employment and housing development and investment locations at 
Wirral Waters in line with the objectives of the Wirral Plan and Growth Plan and 
Liverpool City Region sector priorities.

1.3 To positively contribute to the linking of the Wirral Waters development area to priority 
regeneration initiatives at Woodside Waterfront, Hind Street and Birkenhead Town 
Centre.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 The Council has considered a number of other options which were discounted as 
follows:

a) Provide a loan rather than grant: An independent appraisal of the application has 
concluded that the project is not currently viable and therefore requires grant 
funding through WWIF to facilitate development. 

b) Adopt a ‘do nothing’ approach: Not providing WWIF funding: 

The considerable benefits of this project would not be realised without the introduction 
of WWIF funding, which exists to support development viability, environmental 
improvements and infrastructure investment.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Wirral Waters Investment Fund Background
3.1 Cabinet approved the development of an investment framework for the reinvestment 

of business rate uplift within the Wirral Waters part of the Mersey Waters Enterprise 
Zone at its 12 March 2015 meeting (Minute 156 refers). A further report was taken to 
Cabinet on 5 November 2015 where Members formally approved the creation and 
operation of the Wirral Waters Investment Fund and the incorporation of the 
investment potential for Phase 1 (£16m by 2020) into the Council’s Capital 
Programme  (Minute 62 refers). The Cabinet report also identified potential for the 
Fund to enable longer-term investment of up to £47m by 2037.

3.2 The Investment Fund has been created on the basis of reinvesting uplifted business 
rates and/or prudential borrowing against future business rates into the Enterprise 
Zone up to 2037, to support new projects through grants and loans and generate 
further business rates income. This will support the growth aspirations of the Wirral 
Plan and Wirral Growth Plan. 

3.3 The area in and around the Birkenhead Dock system suffers from a number of inter-
related market failures following decades of industrial decline and lack of investment. 

Page 170



New development in the area is often not viable without some form of public sector 
support. The low values - and associated impact on viability - are caused by the 
historically poor external perceptions of the area, the lack of occupier confidence 
across all sectors and associated uncertainties about investment returns.

3.4 The Wirral Waters Investment Fund therefore provides a mechanism to support the 
following:

 Development viability support – funding support for commercial, industrial and 
residential development schemes, to close the gap between costs and values, 
allowing commercial development schemes to proceed.

 Land remediation and servicing – on-site and off-site works to address poor ground 
conditions through land remediation and the installation of key services.

 Environmental improvements – on-site and off-site works aimed at enhancing the 
quality of the environment across the Wirral Waters area including the improvement 
of road corridors and gateway locations.

 Infrastructure investment – on-site and off-site works targeting specific 
infrastructure weaknesses to enhance access and traffic flows.

 High quality communities – a programme of on-site and off-site investment aimed 
at enhancing amenity to create a sustainable environment for businesses and 
residents moving into the area. 

Wirral Waters Investment Fund Business Plan (August 2018)

3.5 The latest Wirral Waters Investment Fund Business Plan (August 2018) included as 
Appendix 2 to this report provides an up-to-date investment appraisal of Phase 1 
projects. It provides an update to previous business plans, based upon the refined 
assessment of the emerging pipeline of development projects.  

3.6 The Business Plan sets out that intervention in the early years of the programme – if 
invested in the right projects and in the right cluster locations - will have a 
transformational impact in terms of attracting significant investment and enhancing 
the image of the area in and around Birkenhead.

Wirral Waters Investment Fund Process

3.7 Avison Young has been commissioned to provide expert advice and support for the 
assessment and appraisal of business cases submitted to the WWIF, ensuring robust 
due diligence is undertaken. This includes undertaking a site-by-site independent 
business case review; analysing the property market to support the public investment 
decision; and reviewing the financial returns to the Council.

The Project

3.8 Peel Investments (Intermediate) Limited has applied for a total WWIF allocation of 
£400,000, which comprises £100,000 of environmental improvement and £300,000 
of infrastructure investment to support the delivery of the A554 Tower Road South 
Public Realm and Infrastructure Improvements project which has a total cost of 
£3,200,000.

3.9 The Tower Road South (TRS) Public Realm scheme consists of major public realm 
improvements to the A554 Tower Road, which is located in the Four Bridges 

Page 171



neighbourhood of Wirral Waters. It comprises a series of interventions, through the 
TRS Civilised Streets public realm works and Green Infrastructure works, to create a 
greener, more ‘civilised’ streetscape, which supports the shift towards a low carbon 
economy to enable the sustainability led regeneration of Wirral Waters.  

3.10 The project covers a 0.5km length of the Tower Road corridor from a point 25m north 
of its roundabout junction with Canning Street and Rendel Street in the south to the 
Wirral Docks ‘A’ Bridge in the north. The ‘Civilised Street’ works are proposed to 
transform Tower Road through wider pavements, shared surface areas and reduced 
carriageway widths, and will create some 1km of shared footway / cycleway. It will 
link to existing and proposed pedestrian / cycle routes and bus stops, facilitating 
access to wider areas, making Tower Road a high-quality destination for workers, 
students, residents and visitors accessing the area by these modes. 

3.11 The ‘Green Infrastructure’ element of the scheme will see 130 new trees planted, 
comprising 90 large trees in pits located on grassed areas and 40 large trees in pits 
located on hard areas. The location of the trees proposed as part of the ESIF works 
within Tower Road South are between the roundabout with Canning Street to the 
south and ‘C’ Bridge to the north. 

3.12 It is important to note that while Peel is the applicant, all the works proposed are 
within the Wirral Council adopted highway boundary. The project will be procured and 
managed by Wirral Council.

3.13 This scheme will integrate with recent sustainable transport improvements in the 
Wirral Waters area including recently completed shared footway/cycleways on 
Northbank East and Rendell Street. Funding has also been secured via ESIF for the 
extension of the Northbank East scheme along Northbank West to the Duke Street 
junction where it will meet with a further STEP funded cycle route. All works in the 
area including the Tower Road Public Realm scheme are future proofed to 
accommodate the implementation of a mass transit solution. 

3.14 A site plan showing the extent of the boundary is included in Appendix 3.

3.15 At its meeting of 25 July 2019, the Investment and Change Board approved to 
progress to Cabinet the approval of £400,000 grant funding to Peel Investments 
(Intermediate) Limited for this project Tower Road Public Realm and Infrastructure 
Improvements through the Wirral Waters Investment Fund, subject to the conditions 
set out in Appendix 1 to this report. 

Project Benefits

3.16 The Tower Road Public Realm and Infrastructure Improvement scheme will deliver 
quality pedestrian and cycle facilities on Tower Road and link into the wider existing 
and committed pedestrian and cycle routes network. This will increase the mode 
share of these uses, reduce private car use, reduce congestion, reduce carbon 
emissions and improve local air quality and hence reduce average per journey carbon 
emissions. 

3.17 This forms part of an overall Sustainable Transport Strategy for Wirral Waters to 
create exemplar pedestrian and cycle connections and public realm. Base mode 
share data in the Transport Assessment for the East Float Outline Application 

Page 172



indicated that cycling constituted 1.5% of journeys - around 230 daily cycle trips - but 
with improved connections and Travel Plans a 5% target is reasonable around 900 
daily cycle trips. This would lead to a significant reduction in car trips and hence 
carbon emissions. The scheme will also reduce existing congestion to benefit carbon 
emission reduction. 

3.18 The scheme will provide a high-quality public realm environment and improve the 
area’s image to create market confidence for investment, therefore creating the right 
conditions for providing jobs and educational facilities. The proposed shared surface 
areas at existing junctions and future access points will provide better connectivity for 
key businesses and education facilities, including the Wirral Met College Campuses 
at Tower Road and Canning Street.  

3.19 These works will enhance the physical environment and accessibility associated with 
a number of key development and investment locations including: 

 Wirral Metropolitan College
 Egerton Square Pop Up Village
 Tower Road Office 
 Maritime Knowledge Hub

3.20 The scheme provides direct access linking committed footway and cycleways to new 
housing within the Northbank / Tower Road development cluster totalling 
approximately 1,100 units planned to 2024, with key projects including Wirral Waters 
One/Legacy, Urban Splash and Belong Village. The link will also connect new 
housing sites with employment areas and provide access to wider Wirral Waters 
housing.

3.21 Tower Road is key gateway route connecting Wirral Waters with Birkenhead town 
centre to the south. As such, the application is recognised to be crucial to contributing 
more widely to the success of the Wirral Waters development area, Woodside 
Waterfront and Birkenhead Town Centre regeneration initiatives. 

3.22 External appraisal of the scheme by Avison Young recognises the importance of early 
delivery of infrastructure to catalyse wider commercial investment; in particular, the 
appraisal notes how important it can be to create the right environment and conditions 
to support business investment in an area.

Key Outputs

3.23 The ‘Civilised Street’ works will transform A554 Tower Road through wider 
pavements, shared surface areas and reduced carriageway widths, and will create 
some 1km of shared footway / cycleway. It will link to existing and proposed 
pedestrian / cycle routes and bus stops, facilitating access to wider areas, making 
Tower Road a high-quality destination for workers, students, residents and visitors 
accessing the area by these modes.

3.24 The ‘Green Infrastructure’ element of the scheme will see 130 new trees planted, 
comprising 90 large trees in pits located on grassed areas and 40 large trees in pits 
located on hard areas.

 

Page 173



4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 Avison Young has appraised the solvency of Peel Investments (Intermediate) Limited 
as the applicant and conclude that, although the company has been given a credit 
score of D-19 by Creditsafe and is considered to be a high risk, it is important to look 
at the parent company Peel Holdings Land and Property (UK) Ltd which has a strong 
credit rating. Peel Holdings Land and Property (UK) Ltd also has a good track record 
in delivering projects. A condition of the grant funding would be that a guarantor 
agreement will be put in place with Peel Holdings Land and Property (UK) Ltd to 
provide additional security to the Council that Peel Investments (Intermediate) 
Limited has the financial capacity to develop the project. 

4.2 Project costs and funding arrangements are set out in Appendix 1 to this report. In 
addition to the grant request of £400,000 from the Wirral Waters Investment Fund, 
there will be £2,100,000 funding from Department for Transport, £100,000 from ESIF, 
£300,000 from the Council’s Capital Programme and £300,000 of private sector 
contribution from Peel. 

 
4.3 The financial implications set out above have been verified by the Council’s finance 

service.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
 

5.1 The offer of financial assistance is always subject to State Aid consideration. State 
Aid rules exist in order to prevent any form of aid to a commercial undertaking 
distorting, or threatening to distort, competition within the European Community.

5.2 Legal support have advised on the State Aid implications of the proposed £400,000 
WWIF grant in the context of wider state support for this project. The advice received 
is that funding does not constitute State aid for the following reasons:

A) the Project activity can be classified as general public infrastructure for the benefit 
of the general public (without charge and on a non-discriminatory basis) since the 
Project involves developing pedestrian and cycle paths alongside an existing 
public highway on land already owned and adopted (maintained by obligation) by 
Wirral Council; and

B) Peel's contribution of £300k to the Project's delivery is towards the design costs 
of the public realm of the Project. This public realm is not specific to the adjoining 
Peel land and hence does not raise the risk of specific advantage to Peel (and 
hence State aid to it) and in any event a Peel contribution is positive towards 
reducing State aid risk rather than the opposite.

5.3 As a consequence the receipt of £2.9m by the Council from various Central 
Government sources (including MHCLG, DfT etc) is merely an intra-State transfer as 
the Council is not engaging in any "economic activity" (NB. providing public realm is 
normally recognised a general activity of the State).

5.4 It follows that since the proposed public funding may not involve State aid to begin 
with, the administration of compliance with a State aid Block Exemption Regulation 
or notification and receipt of pre-approval from the European Commission or another 
regulatory body is not necessary.

Page 174



6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1 The monitoring and management of the grant will be resourced through the existing 
work programmes of officers within the Council’s Place and Investment Team. 

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 Avison Young has carried out a risk assessment of the project and has identified 
appropriate mitigation measures. A full risk register is included in Appendix 4 to this 
report.

7.2 Avison Young has identified risks relating to increased costs being incurred, which 
could hinder the viability of the scheme and increase the Council’s liabilities for 
additional costs. To mitigate this risk, Avison Young recommend that a fixed price 
construction contract should be sought in order to reduce uncertainty. Further, Avison 
Young recommend that clarity should be sought on who is liable in the case of 
overruns. The Council will mitigate this risk in several ways:

a) Through the procurement process, over which it has control.
b) Through a governance structure that includes regular reporting to the Tower Road 

Board, which controls the risk of overspend through dashboard reporting on 
project progress and spend profiles. 

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION
 

8.1 The Tower Road public realm and infrastructure schemes have been subject to 
stakeholder consultations that invited feedback from all businesses located on Tower 
Road as well as those located in adjacent and adjoining roads that include Tower 
Wharf, Egerton Wharf and Morpeth Wharf.

8.2 This report is consistent with the principles of Wirral Council’s Growth Plan and 
Strategic Regeneration Framework, which identifies Wirral Waters Enterprise Zone 
as an identified and agreed area of significant growth potential. 

8.3 The Growth Plan and Strategic Regeneration Framework have been informed by 
consultation which has taken place with a number of private sector partners and local 
businesses through Wirral Chamber of Commerce sector forums.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 The potential impact has been reviewed with regard to equality and links to the 
existing EIA conducted for Wirral’s Growth Plan. 
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-
assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-0

REPORT AUTHOR: Ben Lavell 
Economic Development Lead
Telephone: 0151 691 8027
Email: benlavell@wirral.gov.uk

Page 175

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-0
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-0
mailto:benlavell@wirral.gov.uk


APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Report to Investment and Change Board – Application for Financial Assistance 
25 July 2019 EXEMPT
Appendix 2: Wirral Waters Investment Fund Package 1 Business Plan (August 2018) 
EXEMPT
Appendix 3: Site Location Plan EXEMPT
Appendix 4: Risk Register EXEMPT

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Appraisal Report
State Aid Advice

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Cabinet ‘Enterprise Zone – Re-Investment of Business 
Rate Uplift’

Cabinet ‘Wirral Waters Enterprise Zone –
Investment Fund’

12 March 2015 (Minute 156)

5 November 2015 (Minute 

62)

Page 176



CABINET
30 SEPTEMBER, 2019

TOWER ROAD SOUTH - OFFICE DEVELOPMENT: PUT/CALL OPTION 

Councillor Tony Jones, Cabinet Member for Regeneration and Growth said:

“It is increasingly important for us as a Council to ensure we are outward looking and creative 
in bringing in revenue to support the delivery of the vital public services Wirral residents 
expect, as the continuing impacts of austerity increasingly create financial pressures. 
Ensuring Wirral is open for business, ready to welcome investment and promoting positive 
development in the borough is an incredibly important part of this.

Supporting developers in bringing forward much-needed high quality office space while at 
the same time kick-starting development on this part of Wirral Waters delivers these 
objectives.”

REPORT SUMMARY

This report seeks Cabinet approval to the Council entering into a PUT/CALL option with Peel 
Land and Property to enable Peel to nullify the risk of them constructing Tower Road South 
(TRS) a speculative 3,116sq.m Grade ‘A’ office building on Tower Road South. From a 
Council perspective this major thoroughfare through Wirral Waters has been identified as 
providing significant growth opportunities. 

Specifically Peel’s construction of TRS delivers:

 A BREEAM Excellent rated Grade ‘A’ office building in the Four Bridges 
neighbourhood of Wirral Waters;

 Potential to create 280 gross direct and indirect jobs;

 1 acre of brownfield land developed
 

 150 college students assisted in their skills development and;

 Support for the development of the Mersey Waters Enterprise Zone by attracting new 
occupiers to Wirral Waters.

The PUT/CALL arrangement works by both parties entering into an option agreement that 
allows for Peel to require the Council to purchase from them after an agreed period of time 
(in this case three years from practical completion of TRS) the building at the pre-determined 
purchase price (the PUT option) or for the Council to require Peel to sell them the property 
in the same timescale at the pre-determined price (the CALL option). The completed value 
of the building has been determined by a detailed scheme appraisal carried out by the 
Combined Authority as part of Peel’s application for SIF grant support for TRS. The 

Page 177

Agenda Item 11



triggering of the PUT/CALL option is not obligatory on either side and will have a definitive 
end date for accountancy purposes because if during the 3 years post practical completion 
period TRS is valued at a sum equal or greater than the PUT option price then the Council’s 
obligation to Peel immediately falls away. Notwithstanding this scenario and depending on 
valuation Peel can only trigger the PUT option at 3 years from practical completion of the 
building. The Council has however negotiated the right for it to exercise its CALL option 
anytime during the 3 years and without the obligation falling away. This means that if market 
conditions strengthen over this period and the value of the completed development 
increases, the Council has the right to purchase the asset from Peel for the lower pre-
determined price. 

The strategic case for the acquisition is set out below in the report. However the commercial 
details of the proposal are contained in the attached business case which has been 
approved by the Investment and Change Board and which is exempt from publication due 
to commercial sensitivity considerations under Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 
1972.   

RECOMMENDATION/S

1. That the Council should seek to enter into a PUT/CALL option  with Peel Land and 
Property for the reasons outlined in the attached Business Case and on terms consistent 
with the advice contained in the report of  Cushman and Wakefield so as  to ensure 
compliance with the rules on State Aid  

2. That delegated authority be given to the Director of Housing and Economic Growth in 
consultation with the Director: Governance and Assurance to negotiate and agree the 
terms of the Put/Call option with Peel Land and Property.

Page 178



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 To allow Peel to commit to the construction of TRS as the PUT/CALL option gives 
the certainty that they can recoup their original investment in the building at 3 years 
from practical completion even if its book value may have fallen at that date due to 
weakening market conditions. From a Council perspective the arrangement allows 
for the regeneration of Tower Road South to commence and critically begin to grow 
revenue streams by widening the rates base. It also allows the Council the option of 
purchasing the building within 3 years from its practical completion for a consideration 
less than its potential value at the time if the property market in Wirral Waters 
becomes established and values have increased.     

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1      There are a number of option open to the Council to secure the construction of TRS.  
These are considered in the Full Business Case (FBC) that is attached as an 
appendix to this report.                 

           
3.0      BACKGROUND INFORMATION    

3.1 Peel approached the Council in 2018 to enquire as to whether the Authority would be 
prepared to help to share the risk of them constructing Tower Road South, a 
speculative Grade ‘A’ office development on Tower Road that, given its speculative 
nature, would be commercially unviable even with the support of SIF grant. 

3.2 Recognising the need to kick start the regeneration of Wirral Waters and grow our 
revenue stream by widening our rates base the Council agreed to explore a variety 
of options that could be made available to Peel to nullify the risk of building 
speculatively in a location where traditionally developments were unviable as end 
values were less than the actual costs of development.  

3.3 Critically ensuring that there was a potential demand for the proposed office 
development was a key issue for the Council before any commitment could be given 
to enter into a PUT/CALL option. In response to this, and to support their SIF funding 
application, Peel Land and Property commissioned property experts GVA, now 
renamed Apleona, to refresh a Wirral Office Market Review that they originally 
completed in March 2017. Apleona concluded that due to the strong employment 
growth from 2013 there has been an increase in occupier demand and transactional 
activity for new office space which has coincided with the economic upturn. There are 
also other drivers of occupier demand such as merger acquisition activity, building 
obsolescence and shorter-term leases which have resulted in an increase in occupier 
demand. Where new office schemes have been developed in Birkenhead Town 
Centre speculatively, such as Queensgate, they have been successful in attracting 
occupiers. The report concluded by stating that the majority of office take up in the 
future is likely to focus on Birkenhead Town Centre and Wirral Waters. This expert 
opinion was critical in the decision-making process and provided the Council with the 
market intelligence needed to commit to the PUT/CALL option.         

Page 179



3.4 In terms of the support needed from the Council to support the Peel proposal it was 
agreed that entering into a PUT/CALL option was the most effective way of ensuring 
that the new development was constructed. The attached FBC provides a full option 
appraisal and outlines why entering into a PUT/CALL option was deemed to be the 
most efficient way of supporting the development of the project.  

4.0      FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 The attached FBC details the financial appraisal that has been undertaken on the 
project. 

4.2 If the PUT option is exercised by Peel, the Council will be required to purchase the 
building for the agreed price of £4.98m. This will need to be included in the Council’s 
capital programme. At this stage it is not known whether this option will be exercised 
so inclusion in the capital programme will not be considered until the year preceding 
the potential purchase unless robust data can be provided before then that would 
indicate that the option will be exercised. This is a prudential approach so as to not 
overstate the capital programme in advance. The same impact on the capital 
programme would apply if the Council were to exercise the CALL option and chose 
to purchase the building.

4.3 The potential revenue impact of a PUT option being exercised could be negative as 
it is assumed that Peel would not exercise this option if the market is strong and the 
building is occupied. This could present a pressure to the Council of between £0 and 
£444k per annum. At this stage it is not known whether this option will be exercised 
so inclusion in the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) will not be considered 
until the year preceding the potential PUT option being exercised unless robust data 
can be provided before that would substantiate this. This is a prudential approach so 
as to not overstate the pressure in the MTFS before then.

4.4 The potential revenue impact of a CALL option could be favourable for the Council 
as the Council would exercise this option if the market Is strong and the building is 
occupied. The financial impact of this option would generate a net income for the 
Council of between £1 and £401k in a most likely scenario. At this stage it is not 
known whether this option will be exercised so inclusion in the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS) will not be considered until the year preceding the potential 
PUT option being exercised unless robust data can be provided before that would 
substantiate this. This is a prudential approach so as to not overstate the income in 
the MTFS before then.

4.5 If either PUT or CALL options are exercised the Council would be liable to pay a one-
off payment of Stamp Duty Land Tax (SDLT) in the year of purchase.

 
4.6 The market position and occupancy levels of the building will be monitored on a half-

yearly basis to determine the potential outcome of the PUT/CALL scenarios and the 
MTFS and Capital Programme will be updated as necessary during the three years 
following completion.

5.0 LEGALS IMPLICATIONS

5.1 A legal requirement of the PUT/CALL option is that it has to be Market Economy 
Operator Principle compliant (MEOP) to satisfy State Aid. MEOP is a concept which 

Page 180



determines whether a transaction entered into by a public sector organisation gives 
a selective advantage to a private sector organisation and therefore falls within 
European State Aid rules. In broad terms an economic transaction carried out by a 
public sector body does not constitute State Aid if it is in line with normal conditions 
and a market operator, of similar standing, could have been prompted to enter into 
the transaction on the same terms. The Council, to ensure compliance, 
commissioned independent property experts Cushman and Wakefield to assess the 
project and they have confirmed that the appraised PUT/CALL value for TRS is 
MEOP State Aid compliant. This conclusion has been further endorsed by the state 
aid expert at legal firm DWF LLP.

5.2 The legal support to complete the appropriate documentation will be provided in-
house. Further details of the legal implication of the project are covered in the FBC.

6.0     RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1   The proposed transaction may place the Council in the position of commercial            
Landlord and appropriate management of the tenant will be needed. 

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS

7.1 The main risk to the Council of entering into a PUT/CALL option with Peel Land and 
Property is based on a downturn in market conditions and/or low demand for the 
office space once it has been constructed. Under the terms of the PUT/CALL option 
this would commit the Council to purchase the building from Peel at a value that could 
be less than its then market price (conversely if the market does strengthen, as 
expected, it will give the Council the opportunity to purchase the building for a sum 
less than its then market value). The risk can be managed by a range of measures 
that the Council can undertake with Peel including entering into a joint marketing 
strategy for the office building that would allow the Council to work alongside Peel to 
ensure that the building is fully let. In addition this project is one of a number that will 
be commenced along Tower Road and Dock Road over the next 2-5 years which will 
help to establish and then grow the property market. Members are aware that the 
Legacy project has now been approved with a start on site expected by November 
Peel has also submitted detailed planning consents for The Belong Village and a 347 
unit residential scheme designed by Urban Splash. It is expected that these projects, 
taken together, will create a critical mass of development that will drive market 
confidence leading to strengthening property values as the area becomes 
established.    

7.2 The attached FBC provides a further analysis of the risks associated with PUT/CALL 
option alongside the mitigation measures that will be put in place to ensure that they 
are appropriately managed.  

7.3 To mitigate the risk of an unplanned revenue pressure, market conditions and the 
building occupancy will be reviewed on a six monthly basis. If at any time it is deemed 
that there may be a potential revenue pressure at the end of the three years, the 
MTFS will be updated to reflect this

7.4 If the PUT option is exercised the Council will exercise its option to opt to tax, which 
means that rental payments to tenants will include VAT. If this has not been the policy 
in the three years preceding the PUT option is exercised, this will increase the rents 

Page 181



to tenants by 20% and could result in tenants vacating their rental agreements at the 
appropriate time and the risk of the pressure on the MTFS being realised.

8.0 CONSULTATION

8.1 This is a sensitive commercial transaction and so no consultation has been 
undertaken. 

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 There are no equality implications arising out of this report.

10.0 PLANNING IMPLICATIONS

10.1 Tower Road South secured detailed planning consent June 2019.   

REPORT AUTHOR: Ray Squire
Economic Development Manager

                                 0151 691 8096
                                 raysquire@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES – APPENDIX 1 – TOWER ROAD SOUTH: FULL BUSINESS CASE.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

No background papers have been used in the preparation of this report.

Council Meeting Date

Page 182



CABINET
30 SEPTEMBER 2019

TRANSPORT PROFESSIONAL SERVICES – CONTRACT AWARD AND 
APPOINTMENT OF SPECIALIST ADVISORS TO PROVIDE NETWORK 

MANAGEMENT SUPPORT

Councillor Julie McManus, Cabinet Member for Community Services, said:

“Providing support services in highways development control, traffic management 
and road safety is a key role of the council and additional support is required to 
ensure we are able to meet our obligations. 

This proposal will, in the short term, enable the Council to source additional 
knowledgeable staff under a secondment arrangement and for commissioning high 
quality stand-alone project work, while also giving us the flexibility to change the 
level of resources to address peaks and troughs in our workload.

But there is more to be done. Specialist roles such as these are hard to fill. On Wirral 
we are fortunate to have a great number of high achieving schools and colleges and, 
in keeping with the Community Wealth Building policy of putting our residents and 
businesses first; by working with our colleagues in education we are keen to develop 
our young people in the borough who may be considering taking a different route to 
a degree or HND level of education and, an apprenticeship with Wirral Council would 
enable them to do just that whilst earning a good salary, helping their community to 
prosper and the opportunity of a career path in a sort after discipline within the public 
sector.”

REPORT SUMMARY

In accordance with the Council’s updated Executive Decision Making process, this 
report seeks approval to appoint external resource to provide ad-hoc support in the 
Network Management service to support the delivery of regeneration/growth 
objectives and ensure our statutory obligations in relation to network management 
and road safety are met.

This report is not a Key Decision.

RECOMMENDATION/S

It is recommended that Cabinet:

Page 183

Agenda Item 12



Approve the appointment of advisors via the Merseytravel Consultancy Services 
Multi Party Framework Agreement 2019, subject to completion of Contract 
Procedure Rules, to provide ad-hoc support services in highways development 
control, traffic management and road safety up to a value of £450,000 as set out in 
section 4.0.

Page 184



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 Specialist advisor resource is required to provide ad-hoc support services in 
highways development control, traffic management and road safety, 
supporting the Council’s in-house Network Management resources. 

1.2 The Council’s updated Executive Decision Making Process approved by 
Cabinet on 24th June 2019 (Minute 7 refers) requires the appointment of 
consultants over £50,000 to be approved by Cabinet.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 Do Nothing: this option has been rejected as failing to progress and establish 
a Professional services Contract would compromise Wirral Council’s ability to 
meet statutory obligations, deliver Capital programmes and support the 
aspirations of the Wirral Growth Company. 

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 The in-house Network Management (NM) service team is generally fully 
engaged in delivering statutory functions to ensure the Council is complying 
with the Traffic Management Act and Network Management Duty, delivering 
outcomes identified within Wirral’s Road Safety Plan and managing / planning 
delivery of the Transport Plan for Growth Capital programme.

3.2 The Council has significant regeneration plans which are being driven by the 
newly formed Wirral Growth Company. The Highways Development Control 
team will be fundamental in providing technical advice on proposed 
developments affecting the highways network and assessing and negotiating 
improvements on any new proposals to mitigate impacts on the network and 
developing policies. 

3.3 The wider NM team have a backlog of Traffic Regulation Orders, traffic 
management engineering schemes and casualty analysis work to progress. 
To maintain continuous service delivery a multi-disciplinary external specialist 
advisor is required to support the Council’s in-house resource.

3.4 The recruitment of staff within NM has been challenging for officers. Various 
vacancies for highways development control, road safety and traffic 
management officers have existed within NM for several months and have 
been advertised on numerous occasions at a competitive remuneration 
package. In spite of this, appointments have not been possible.

3.5 Appointing specialist advisors through the established Merseytravel 
Consultancy Services Multi Party Framework Agreement enables the Council 
to source competent staff under a secondment arrangement and for 
commissioning high quality stand-alone project work. It gives us the flexibility 
to change the level of resources to address peaks and troughs in our 
workload. 

Page 185



3.6 Using established specialist advisors rather than traditional employment 
agency agreements reduces the risk of agency staff moving on at short notice, 
potentially leaving us under resourced at critical times. 

4.0 PROPOSAL

4.1 Procurement of specialist advisor resource is proposed via the Merseytravel 
Consultancy Services Multi-Party Framework Lot 7. The hourly rates offered 
through this framework are considered to represent good value for money in 
the present market. The framework has already been successfully used by 
Wirral Council for engineering services over the past 14 months and it is likely 
to offer better value than alternative procurement routes. At this stage it is 
envisaged that the services may be required up to a maximum total fee value 
of £450,000 between November 2019 and November 2021, extendable by a 
further 12 months subject to performance, but there will be no guarantee of 
the type, timing, quantity or value of work that will be issued through the 
contract.

4.2 A mini-competition between interested specialist advisors within the relevant 
framework lot will be administered by the Council's Procurement team through 
the Due North electronic tendering portal, The Chest. The competition will be 
on a 50/35/10/5 price/quality/social value/GDPR basis, and will be based on 
an assumed schedule of hours for each staff grade in the framework, 
generating an indicative price offer, with an optional discount provision, 
together with a quality statement and social value submission, which will be 
assessed in accordance with instructions that will be provided at the time of 
tender invitation and agreed with Procurement colleagues in advance.

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 This commission would be funded from the vacant post salaries within the 
annual revenue budget for Network Management which is currently £217,000.

6.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 The procurement exercise for the contract award has been carried out in
accordance with the Council’s Constitution (Contract Procedure Rules) and
European Procurement Regulations.

7.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

7.1 ICT: As part of this commission, access to the Council’s ICT systems will be 
required for staff working on secondment.
Staffing: additional ad hoc transport professional services support as outlined 
in section 4.0 will be required to supplement existing staffing resource to 
ensure the successful delivery of various work streams.
Assets: No implications.

8.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

8.1 Project delivery risks will be managed via the additional transport professional 
services support outlined in section 4.0.

Page 186



9.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

9.1 Engagement has been undertaken with the Procurement team. There is no 
statutory consultation required as part of this commission. 

10.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

10.1 There are no equality implications.

REPORT AUTHOR: Carl Amos
Senior Network Manager
telephone:  (0151) 606 2370
email:   carlamos@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

None.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

None.

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
None

Page 187

mailto:carlamos@wirral.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET
30 SEPTEMBER 2019

CIVIL ENGINEERING PROFESSIONAL SERVICES – CONTRACT 
AWARD AND APPOINTMENT OF SPECIALIST ADVISORS TO PROVIDE 

CIVIL ENGINEERING SUPPORT

Councillor Janette Williamson, Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources, 
said:

“It is crucial we are able to press ahead with delivering a robust and reliable transport 
network. The Council's highway design team is currently delivering design services 
for the Transport Plan for Growth (TfG) Capital programme. Now we have been 
successful in securing significant capital grant funding through the City Region 
Combined Authority for major transport infrastructure in 2019/20 and beyond it is 
appropriate to commission local specialist civil engineering services of high quality to 
deliver stand-alone project work.
 
This contractual arrangement gives the Council complete control and flexibility to 
change the level of allocated resources to meet demand.”

REPORT SUMMARY

In accordance with the Council’s updated Executive Decision Making process, this 
report seeks approval to appoint external resource to provide technical support in the 
Commercial Management Service to support the delivery of the Council’s Highways 
and Transport Capital Programme and overall regeneration/growth objectives.

This report is not a Key Decision.

RECOMMENDATION/S

It is recommended that Cabinet:

Approve the appointment of a specialist civil engineering services supplier via the 
Merseytravel Consultancy Services Multi Party Framework Agreement 2019, subject 
to completion of Contract Procedure Rules, to provide ad-hoc support services in 
highways-related civil engineering services up to a value of £400,000 as set out in 
section 4.0.

Page 189

Agenda Item 13



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 Specialist technical support is required to provide ad-hoc services in 
highways-related civil engineering, supporting the Council’s in-house 
Commercial Management design team resources in delivering the highways 
capital programme and key major infrastructure projects. Approval has 
already been granted by virtue the Executive Member Decision dated 12 
August 2019 to use this contract for up to £200,000 of specialist commercial 
management support through this contract on the recently awarded LED 
Street Lighting Phase 2 Works Contract.

1.2 The Council’s updated Executive Decision Making process approved by 
Cabinet on 24th June 2019 (Minute 7 refers) requires the appointment of 
consultants over £50,000 to be approved by Cabinet.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 Do Nothing: this option has been rejected as failing to progress and establish 
a professional services civil engineering services support contract would 
compromise Wirral Council’s ability to meet its statutory obligations, to deliver 
Capital programmes, to support the Council Plan, the City Region network 
development plans and the aspirations of the Wirral Growth Company. 

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 The in-house Commercial Management highway design team is generally fully 
engaged in delivering design services for the Transport Plan for Growth (TfG) 
Capital programme.

3.2 In addition to the TfG programme, the Council has been successful in 
securing significant capital grant funding through the City Region Combined 
Authority for major transport infrastructure in 2019/20 and beyond and is 
actively bidding for further financial resources in order to improve the Wirral 
transport network in line with the Council’s 2020 Plan. The Council also has 
significant regeneration plans which are being driven by the newly formed 
Wirral Growth Company, some of which will require highway design input. 

3.3 The recruitment of staff within civil engineering disciplines has been 
challenging. Although a revised structure has been implemented in 
Commercial Management and new posts advertised, there is still a 
requirement for external ad-hoc support to supplement internal resources in 
delivering the important capital programmes described above.

3.4 Appointing specialist advisors through the established Merseytravel 
Consultancy Services Multi-Party Framework Agreement enables the Council 
to commission local specialist civil engineering services of high quality to 
deliver stand-alone project work. This contractual arrangement gives the 
Council complete control and flexibility to change the level of allocated 
resources to address peaks and troughs in our workload. Page 190



3.5 Using established specialist service suppliers, engineering consultancy 
practices, rather than traditional employment agency staffing, reduces the risk 
of agency staff moving on at short notice, potentially leaving the Council 
under-resourced at critical times. 

4.0 PROPOSAL

4.1 Procurement of a specialist Civil Engineering services provider is proposed 
via the Merseytravel Consultancy Services Multi-Party Framework Lot 4. The 
hourly rates offered through this framework are considered to represent very 
good value for money in the present market. The framework has already been 
successfully used by the Council’s Commercial Management Service for civil 
engineering services over the past 14 months, and it is likely to offer better 
value than any alternative procurement routes. At this stage it is envisaged 
that the services may be required up to a maximum total fee value of 
£400,000 between October 2019 and October 2020, extendable by a further 
12 months, subject to performance and at the Council’s sole discretion, but 
there will be no guarantee of the type, timing, quantity or value of work that 
will be issued through the contract.

4.2 A mini-competition between interested specialist advisors within the relevant 
framework lot has already been conducted, administered by the Council's 
Commercial Management Service through the Merseytravel Framework and 
the Due North electronic tendering portal, The Chest. The mini-competition 
has been evaluated on a 50/35/15 price/quality/social value basis, and was 
based on a hypothetical schedule of hours for each staff grade in the 
framework, generating an indicative total price offer, with optional discount 
provision, together with quality statements and social value submission, all of 
which have been assessed in accordance with the instructions provided at the 
time of tender invitation, which were agreed with Procurement in advance. 
The evaluation scores will be checked and moderated by the Council’s 
Procurement and Finance support prior to contract award.

4.3 The services will be delivered from the successful supplier’s own office 
premises. There are no proposals for the secondment of any staff into the 
Council under this particular contract. However, the supplier’s staff will be 
required to work closely with Council staff and to regularly attend meetings at 
Council offices.

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 All works ordered through this commission will be funded from the applicable 
capital project budgets and only where the necessary provision exists. There 
are no revenue implications arising from this report. Under the contract, there 
is no guarantee to the successful supplier of the quantity or value of work that 
will be issued.

Page 191



6.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 The procurement exercise for the contract award has been carried out in 
accordance with the Council’s Constitution (Contract Procedure Rules) and 
European Procurement Regulations where applicable.

7.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

7.1 ICT: As part of this commission, access to the Council’s mapping data will be 
required by the successful supplier. This will be arranged through the 
necessary licencing approvals processes.

7.2 Staffing: additional ad hoc transport professional services support as outlined 
in section 4.0 will be required to supplement existing staffing resource to 
ensure the successful delivery of various work streams.

7.3 Assets: No implications.

8.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

8.1 Individual commercial contract and project delivery risks will be managed by 
the appointed specialist supplier outlined in section 4.0.

9.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

9.1 Engagement has been undertaken with the Procurement team. There is no 
statutory consultation required as part of this commission. 

10.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

10.1 There are no equality implications.

REPORT AUTHOR: Simon Fox
Commissioning Services Manager
telephone: (0151) 606 2334
email:   simonfox@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

None.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

None.

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
None

Page 192

mailto:simonfox@wirral.gov.uk


CABINET

30 SEPTEMBER 2019

COMPANY NAMED IN APPENDIX 1 – APPLICATION FOR FINANCIAL 
ASSISTANCE

Councillor Tony Jones, Cabinet Member, Regeneration and Growth, said:

“We want to create a Wirral that has economic growth at its heart; a Wirral that provides 
community wealth and better employment opportunities for its residents. We can only do 
this by supporting local businesses with the means and infrastructure that they may need, 
support that would not be available without public sector intervention. This report sets out 
how Wirral Council’s Capital Programme, and it’s allocation of funding for business growth 
will support and enable a Wirral business to grow, expand and reinvest, both financially and 
socially, within the borough.”

REPORT SUMMARY

This report seeks approval to provide a grant to enable the company named in Appendix 1 
to diversify, expand and create jobs, in line with the objectives of the Council’s Business 
Investment Fund and Wirral Growth Plan.

Appendix 1 of this report contains commercially sensitive project and company information. 
Accordingly, Appendix 1 is deemed to be exempt from disclosure under paragraph 3, Part 
1 of schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended). This report should be 
read in conjunction with Appendix 1.

This matter affects the Bromborough ward.

It is not a key decision.

RECOMMENDATION/S

1. It is recommended that a grant in the sum of £181,000 be paid from the date of the 
signing of the legal agreement, subject to the conditions outlined in the report, towards 
the business growth project being undertaken by the company named within Appendix 
1.

2. The Director of Governance and Assurance be authorised to draw up and sign a legal 
agreement between the Council and the business subject to the conditions outlined in 
this report. 

Page 193

Agenda Item 14



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 To enable the company named in Appendix 1 to diversify, expand and create jobs, in 
line with the objectives of the Council’s Business Investment Fund and Wirral Growth 
Plan.

1.2 The Council’s Capital Programme includes an allocation for funding for business 
growth grants. The aim of the scheme is to provide support to businesses for viable 
projects that will support employment growth and business expansion within the 
Borough, which would not proceed without public sector intervention and which are 
not able to access any other external funding.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 Grant funding will enable maximum benefits realisation for this project. The applicant 
has explained that without the grant, they would scale back the project to reduce the 
call on their working capital. The applicant has stated that it is likely that they would 
not enter into the lease of two additional commercial units in order to free up working 
capital to repay HP costs. They would consider building new rooms in their current 
premises, without recommended upgrades which could jeopardise their industry 
accreditation.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 The company named in Appendix 1, was established 53 years ago and was 
incorporated 34 years ago as an artwork generation house servicing the 
pharmaceutical industry.

3.2 Over the last 25 years the company has diversified into the production of cartons and 
leaflets, the provision of contract packing services and product manufacturing for the 
pharmaceuticals and life sciences industries. The focus of the company remains life 
sciences. The company named in Appendix 1 has experienced significant growth 
over the past 10 years, now having two sites, one at Bromborough and one in North 
Wales. 

3.3 The company named in Appendix 1 has applied to Wirral Council’s Business 
Investment Fund for a growth grant to support company expansion and 
diversification. The assistance of funds is required to enable the expansion into 
additional premises, the undertaking of commercial fit out and installation of new 
production lines in support of the company’s diversification into new markets.

APPLICATION
3.4 The company named in Appendix 1 has outlined an ambitious business plan for the 

Bromborough operation, which states its main objective over the next three years to 
be ‘growth in turnover and diversification of the customer base [to] provide a greater 
contribution to fixed overheads and so deliver significant profit improvements’.

3.5 The company currently employs 121 FTE staff at their Bromborough site.  If successful 
in securing Business Investment Fund, the company forecasts that they will employ 
an additional 10 FTE posts by 31/03/2020 and a further 10 posts by 31/03/2021. In 

Page 194



delivering this project, the future of the company and the current FTE will be 
increasingly secure.  

STRATEGIC FIT
3.6 The project strongly supports Wirral and the wider city region growth agenda by 

supporting the development of the Health and Life Sciences sector, which is identified 
as a priority sector by Liverpool City Region LEP, Combined Authority, Wirral 
Chamber of Commerce and Wirral Council.

3.7 The Wirral Plan – A 2020 Vision sets out the vision for the borough and has economic 
growth at its heart to ensure residents can access good, high paying jobs in a stable 
and thriving economy. The plan identifies 20 key pledges that the Council, and its 
partner agencies, must deliver and this project directly supports two of these, while 
indirectly supporting many others:

 Increase inward investment
 Greater job opportunities

ASSESSMENT
3.8 Applications for Business Investment Fund are considered by the Council’s Wirral 

Waters Programme Board, comprising senior officers from the council’s regeneration, 
legal, strategic transport, place and investment and finance departments. 
Applications are assessed against criteria including reviewing the plans and 
proposals for compliance against the objectives as well as the deliverability of the 
project and future sustainability. This process includes an assessment of outputs in 
respect of employment opportunities, investment leveraged, and the degree of 
financial support requested. 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 The applicant is solvent, and it is expected that the project will significantly enhance 
the company’s capacity and employee numbers. The project plans are viable and 
provided that the usual safeguards are built into any agreement, there are no financial 
reasons why the £181,000 grant requested should not be offered to the Company.  
The application should be recommended on that basis. 

4.2 The forecasts of business activity appear consistent with the project assumptions.  
The application does not omit any material costs or income from its forecasts, which 
are consistent with previous experience.  

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
 

5.1 The offer of financial assistance is always subject to state aid compliance. State Aid 
rules exist in order to prevent any form of aid to a commercial undertaking distorting, 
or threatening to distort, competition within the European Community.

5.2 The offer of financial assistance will be made to the company subject to a legal 
contract being put in place between Wirral Council and CMS as the applicant.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1 None as a result of this report.

Page 195



7.0 RELEVANT RISKS
 

7.1 The project appraisal assesses risks in relating to the financial stability of the 
company and also the company’s ability to fund other elements of the project 
proposal.

7.2 The applicant is solvent with a sound business proposal to significantly enhance the 
company’s capacity and range of services. The project plans are viable, and the 
company accounts give no indication of financial difficulties. Provided that the usual 
safeguards are built into the grant funding agreement, there are no financial reasons 
why the £181,000 grant requested should not be offered to the company.

7.3 Under State Aid Compliance Regulations, (Annex 1 GBER), any public funded 
support up to a value of “Euro 200,000 per undertaking during three fiscal years is 
not considered as aid”. A de-minimis declaration is, however, required from the 
company detailing the value of aid received to date, covering a period of three fiscal 
years.

7.4 The company has submitted a de-minimis declaration which states that they have 
received no de-minimis aid within the past three financial years. Therefore, £181,000 
is within the €200,000 threshold.

7.5 The grant funding agreement will include conditions for claw-back of any grant paid 
to the company if the project is not completed, or jobs not created.  

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION
 

8.1 This project supports two of the 20 pledges in the Wirral Plan: A 2020 Vision which 
was developed following full consultation with partner organisations and residents. 
The Wirral Growth Plan has also been informed by consultation which has taken 
place with a number of public and private sector partners and with local businesses

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS
 

9.1 The potential impact has been reviewed with regard to equality and links to the 
existing EIA conducted for Wirral’s Growth Plan. 
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-
assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-0

REPORT AUTHOR: Hannah Nixon
Economic Development Support
Telephone: (0151 691 8135)
Email: hannahnixon@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

Appendix 1, titled Supporting Information, contains commercially sensitive project and 
company information. Accordingly, Appendix 1 is deemed to be exempt from disclosure 
under paragraph 3, Part 1 of schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended). 

Page 196

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-0
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-0
mailto:hannahnixon@wirral.gov.uk


BACKGROUND PAPERS

Appraisal papers have been used in the preparation of this report which are held by the 
Place and Investment Team. These documents are commercially confidential.

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)

Council Meeting Date

Page 197



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 199

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 205

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 247

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 249

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 265

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Executive Key Decisions Taken Under Delegated Powers
	Executive Member Decision Form - Highway Structural Maintenance Programme 201920
	Executive Member Decision Form - Garden Waste Composting Service

	4 Wirral Council Plan 2025
	Appendix 1 Wirral Council Plan 2025

	5 Public Health Annual Report 2019 – Creative Communities
	Enc. 1 for PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019 – CREATIVE COMMUNITIES

	6 Scrutiny Review into Statutory Care Plans
	Scrutiny Review into Statutory Care Plans
	Enc. 1 for Scrutiny Review into Statutory Care Plans

	7 Approval of Revised Local Development Scheme for Wirral – July 2019
	Enc. 1 for APPROVAL OF REVISED LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME FOR WIRRAL – JULY 2019

	8 Tranmere Rovers Partnering Agreement
	Tranmere Rovers Partnering Agreement v1

	9 North West Mutual Community Bank
	10 Wirral Waters Investment Fund - Application for Financial Assistance
	11 Tower Road South - Office Development: Put/Call Option
	12 Transport Professional Services - Contract Award and Appointment of Specialist Advisors to Provide Network Management Support
	13 Civil Engineering Professional Services - Contract Award and Appointment of Specialist Advisors to Provide Civil Engineering Support - Mark Smith (Call Over - 29/8
	14 Request for Financial Assistance
	16 Wirral Waters Investment Fund - Exempt Appendices
	EXEMPT Appendix 2 - Wirral Waters Investment Fund Package 1 Business Plan (August 2018)
	Site Plan VD18794-SK23F Overall Layout

	17 Tower Road South Office Development: Put/Call Option - Exempt Appendix
	18 Request for Financial Assistance - Exempt Appendix

